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GROUP STRUCTURE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
A5 el

REVENUE & PROFIT (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY FOR THE YEAR
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
BN e

On behalf of the board of directors (“Board”) of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Company”), | am
pleased to present to our shareholders the results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group” or
“Hanison") for the year ended 31 March 2023.

RESULTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
recorded revenue of HK$1,232.8 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 14% compared with the
previous financial year (2022: HK$1,438.3 million). The
consolidated loss attributable to owners of the Company
was HK$38.4 million, as opposed to a net profit of
HK$154.3 million for 2022. The net loss in the current
year is mainly attributable to decrease in revaluation of
investment properties and impairment loss on properties
under development for sale held by the Group and joint
ventures. Such losses are recognised through loss on
change in fair value of investment properties, write-down
of properties under development for sale and share of
losses of joint ventures in the current year.

The basic loss per share and diluted loss per share for
the year were HK3.5 cents and HK3.5 cents respectively,
as opposed to a basic earnings per share and diluted
earnings per share of HK14.0 cents and HK13.9 cents
recorded in the previous financial year.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s net asset value
amounted to HK$4,072.7 million (2022: HK$4,216.4
million). Net asset value per share as at 31 March 2023
was HK$3.71 (2022: HK$3.81).

DIVIDEND

The Board has declared a second interim dividend (in
lieu of a final dividend) of HK5.0 cents per share for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK5.0 cents per share)
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 11 July 2023. This, together
with the first interim dividend of HK2.5 cents per share
(2022: HK2.5 cents per share) distributed during the year,
results in a total dividend of HK7.5 cents per share for the
year (2022: HK7.5 cents per share). The second interim
dividend will be paid on 24 July 2023.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Although the COVID-19 pandemic has finally subsided,
the global economy continues to face uncertainty against
a backdrop of financial sector turmoil, high inflation, the
Russia-Ukraine conflict and the ongoing impact of three
years of pandemic. The global economy grew by 3.4%
in 2022, according to the International Monetary Fund
(“IMF"). While global growth is widely expected to be
slow in 2023 due to the previously mentioned factors,
domestic demand in Asia has so far remained strong
despite monetary tightening. The IMF forecasts that the
region’s contribution to global growth will exceed 70%
in 2023 as the region’s economic expansion accelerates
to 4.6% from 3.8% last year. China’s re-opening is set
to provide new momentum, while elsewhere, a number
of emerging economies in the region are expected
to achieve solid growth. However, challenges such as
public debt and the recent intensification in global
financial tremors remain, as well as the persistent issue of
inflation.

Mainland China’s performance was uneven in 2022, with
the constantly changing pandemic landscape reflected
in the region’s economic activity and subsequent slowed
growth. Despite policy support, real GDP growth
slowed to around 2.7% in 2022. With the risk of further
COVID-19 outbreaks still looming large, this economic
volatility could continue against the backdrop of
potential new restrictions to slow the spread of the virus
and the continued stress in the country’s property sector.
There are also risks in the form of climate change, rising
geopolitical tensions and a global financial crunch, all of
which could affect China’s economy to some extent.

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT ¥ Ji Hj 1% &
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ¥ Ji H# /% &

In Hong Kong, the construction industry has received
strong support from the Government over the past few
years with significant investment in infrastructure and
increased housing supply. The Government’s annual
capital works expenditure currently exceeds HK$100
billion, and its 10-year housing supply target remains
unchanged at 430,000 units. Public sector project
approvals have also been much faster in recent years,
which has contributed to the continued pipeline demand
for construction work. However, the construction industry
is facing ongoing problems with labour shortages and an
ageing workforce. As stated in the 2023 Budget Speech,
the Government will address this issue and strengthen
the advantages of the construction industry by
promoting the widespread use of advanced technologies
in the industry to improve efficiency and productivity.
In the past year, the Group has increased its focus on
public sector projects and will continue to do so. It is
believed that with the Group’s reputation and experience
in the industry, it will be able to seize the substantial
opportunities that lie ahead.

The outlook for Hong Kong's property market has
been uncertain in the last financial year, with market
sentiment remaining poor due to factors such as interest
rate hikes, the global economic slowdown, and increased
housing supply. Data released by the Rating and
Valuation Department in January 2023 showed that the
index tracking residential housing prices fell by 15.6%
in 2022 compared with the previous year. However, it is
widely expected that the city’s property market will pick
up in 2023 due to the release of pent-up demand and
the return of Mainland Chinese buyers following the
re-opening of the border. In addition, the Government
is gradually implementing policies to encourage buyers
and improve sentiment; the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority has relaxed mortgage stress test requirements
for property buyers, and the Hong Kong Government
will allow eligible entrants to apply for a refund of the
additional stamp duties paid on residential property
purchased in Hong Kong after becoming permanent
residents. Should any suitable opportunities arise, the
Group will likely stick to joint venture partnership
development to minimise risk. A cautious and prudent
approach to property development and investment will
continue to be maintained.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF CORPORATE ACTIVITIES

The Group’s construction business continued to perform
stably during the year. Although certain projects were
delayed due to specific design and technical issues,
the Group was awarded various construction contracts
(particularly public works contracts and contracts from
joint ventures for property development) which will
contribute to sustainable revenues in the coming years.
This includes a contract awarded for the construction
of transitional housing units in the Kai Tak area. The
Kai Tak site is expected to provide more than 10,000
units to the public, making it one of the most important
transitional housing projects in the city. The Group is
pleased to be involved in such a meaningful social project
that provides the public with options to leave poor
living conditions while waiting for public housing. Other
projects from the Government and semi-government
sectors include various public housing projects from
the Hong Kong Housing Authority and redevelopment
contracts from the Urban Renewal Authority, in support
of the Government’s initiatives to revitalise industrial
buildings in Hong Kong. Regarding the profitability of
this business, margins remained tight during the year
as a result of high operating costs due to continued
labour shortages and high material costs. Going forward,
the Group will continue to focus on highly technically
demanding projects as well as bidding for more public
works contracts to maintain better profit margins. The
Group is also continuously implementing cost control and
efficiency improvement measures to enhance productivity
and profitability.

On the property development and investment front,
all six of the Group’s joint venture projects progressed
well during the year. Our three residential development
projects are located at So Kwun Wat, Tuen Mun, with
Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited; No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai
Road, Kowloon Tong; and Tong Yan San Tsuen in Yuen
Long. Our three industrial redevelopment projects, all
of which will be redeveloped into brand new industrial
properties, are Johnson Place, located at Nos. 14-16 Lee

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT ¥ Ji Hj 1% &
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ¥ Ji H# /% &

Chung Street, Chai Wan; West Castle, located at No. 22
Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung; and No. 18 Lee Chung
Street, Chai Wan. During the year, the Group continued
to pursue various divestments at considerations that the
management believes are consistent with the objective
of maximising shareholder value. The management will
continue to closely monitor market conditions and make
investment and divestment decisions that it believes are
in the interest of its shareholders.

PROSPECTS

According to the IMF, global growth on economic activity
will decelerate in 2023 due to rising interest rates and the
impact of the war in Ukraine. High inflation and banking
tensions in the U.S. and Europe have only exacerbated
the uncertain economic situation. As a result, the baseline
forecast suggests that global growth will decline from
3.4% in 2022 to 2.8% in 2023. The slowdown is expected
to be particularly evident in advanced economies, falling
from 2.7% in 2022 to 1.3% in 2023. Longer term, growth
is estimated to stay at around the 3% mark over the next
five years, resulting in the lowest medium-term growth
forecast in more than three decades and placing it well
below the 3.8% average seen in the last 20 years. This is
primarily due to factors such as the expected tightening
of policy to reduce inflation, the war in Ukraine and the
deteriorating financial situation. As for the situation
in China, the country’s real GDP growth is expected to
rebound to 4.3% in 2023 following sluggish growth
in 2022. As the World Bank has pointed out, China
has sufficient fiscal space that can be used to support
a stronger recovery in the coming years, especially if
these efforts are focused on social spending and green
investments to promote more sustainable growth in the
medium term.

ANERREBERKCERNERETREE
BEEHE -EEEREEBIIRENRN LM
HERSTERRADHKREREEHER
Fo

RE

RFEREEESABNER HRMER
ERBEINEE _S_F2KEHEE
G RBEHAE EERBUNNGBERKIR
TEZEREZREMAIRBARANKER L -
ALt BEEAERE2KEREBEZZ
FHBA% THE_ET - =FM2.8% - TAHIZE
ERBERNNERLERBRE B-S -

FRI%NBE_S_=FEM1.3% - REMS
AT RRAEFIE RBRIFEINRER > TH
I RFEAI B30 FRRME  BERBE20
F3.8%MNTFHKF - HFEHRRTBHRK G
LHRURBEER - ERBEFERE/MAR
BIEEREMAH -MPENBERME  RZFT
T IFERRXB - BH_ST=F4HE
PRE A E EREERBEEIFHAEAL3% it
RIBITAAIEH > PRI AE MR A B
MEFRFRREFEERAYDNER  LHBMZ
ELENEPRUEIHERGBRE > URE
PHAE A ARG R -

10 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023



Hong Kong’s economy is expected to strengthen in 2023
following the re-opening of the border, supported by
continued economic normalisation and peaking interest
rates, both of which will help offset external uncertainty
to some extent. Regarding the construction industry, in
the latest Policy Address, the Government proposed a
series of policies to drive economic growth, including
accelerating public housing construction (including a
significant increase in transitional housing), expanding
transport infrastructure and developing the Northern
Metropolis, all of which will provide fresh momentum
to the industry. As for the property sector, after several
years of turmoil, the market expects 2023 to usher in a
rebound in real estate rental and investment demand,
with the hope that the re-opening of the border will help
improve investment sentiment. In addition, the second
half of the year should see an increase in investment
volume after weak activity in the first half caused by high
financing costs.

In view of the Government's support and the gradual
recovery of the Hong Kong market, the Group is
optimistic about its development in the coming years.
While focusing on securing more public sector projects
for our construction-related businesses, we will maintain
a cautious approach to real estate development and
investment. Management will also invest more efforts in
attracting and retaining talent, as the shortage of skilled
workers and professionals in the industry is currently a
major challenge for our business. Our people are our
most valuable asset, enabling us to deliver satisfactory
returns and maximum value to our stakeholders.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our management team and colleagues who,
thanks to their consistent hard work and dedication, have
been instrumental in the Group’s stable performance.
I would also like to extend my appreciation to our
shareholders and business partners for their continued
support of Hanison. We will continue to leverage our
experience and advantages to navigate the uncertainty
and seize emerging opportunities.

Cha Mou Daid, Johnson
Chairman
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F-RABEEEARMANERRESRR
THEE M BB LIRS
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CONSTRUCTION DIVISION

The revenue for the Construction Division was HK$906.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$1,198.1 million).

During the year, the Construction Division continued
to work on the projects on hand. The total amount
of contracts on hand as at 31 March 2023 for the
Construction Division amounted to HK$2,147.7 million.

Major Project Completed

(1) Construction of the proposed residential
development at Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 516, New
Territories

Major Projects Undertaken

(1) Construction of the proposed residential and

commercial development at Nos. 33-47 Catchick
Street, Kennedy Town, Hong Kong

OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ # vl il

BEE

BE_E_=—H=BA=+—BHLEBE BH

EZRAY LR A 2 75 1£906,400,0007C (ZE -4 ©

#11,198,100,0007T) °

FR BESEEETFHER - RITE =
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BN EETRE

(1) EEFREPIHMEEES165E 2 BiEE
TERIEH

AEBENETETRE

(1) BERERREMNSFEEH3IFREATRZ
BREEABEZERIEAR

Proposed residential and commercial development at
Nos. 33-47 Catchick Street, Kennedy Town

BEMIEEFEA33N AR ERETERBEERER
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Construction of public housing development at Java (2) EEEZEBIEABEE X AHEERRE
Road, North Point, Hong Kong EHH

Construction of public housing development at Hin  (3) EEFREMBERBEIAHEERRE
Fat Lane, Tuen Mun, New Territories IEH

Construction of the proposed residential (4) EEABENEREGABEBESTARZES
development at No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, FEERER
Kowloon Tong, Kowloon

Public housing development at
Java Road, North Point

TABEEZ AHEEERER

Proposed residential development at
No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon Tong

NEEREEAIEESTAR 2 ERAEERIER
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(5)

(6)

@)

8)

Construction of the proposed industrial
redevelopment at No. 22 Yip Shing Street, Kwai
Chung, New Territories

Construction of the proposed industrial
redevelopment at No. 18 Lee Chung Street, Chai
Wan, Hong Kong

Design and build contract for transitional housing
at Area 1B2, Muk On Street, Kai Tak for Tung Wah
Group of Hospitals

Construction of the proposed residential
development at Lot No. 2143 in D.D. 121, Tong Yan
San Tsuen, Yuen Long, New Territories

..'gur':',_-.-'.. Iy — -__
Proposed industrial redevelopment at
No. 22 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung
ERERE22RZERTXERER

©)

(6)

@

®

OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ # vl il

R ALRERERZERIEE
BIER

HEREBRENREISRZIERIEE
BIEE

REZGRERAZHF1B2EREMLRE
EBZ &t REREGH

EEMATHEANNLENMDE121
MR 21432 R EEEREE

B

Proposed industrial redevelopment at
No. 18 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan

RENREISR BT XERERE

Transitional housing at Area 1B2,
Muk On Street, Kai Tak

RiEAZEE1BR2EREEEREER
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Awards

(1

)

®3)

(4)

(5)

18

In March 2023, Hanison Construction Company
Limited (“HCCL"”) got the “HKCA Hong Kong
Construction Environmental Awards - 2022
Environmental Merit Award” organised by the Hong
Kong Construction Association.

In December 2022, HCCL received the “Outstanding
Metal Scaffolder in Occupational Safety and Health
— Merit Award, The 23rd Construction Safety
Award”, co-organised by The Occupational Safety
and Health Council and the Labour Department.

In October 2022, HCCL received the "HKCA
Proactive Safety Contractor Award For the Year
2021" organised by the Hong Kong Construction
Association.

In June 2022, HCCL got the “HKCA Hong Kong
Construction Environmental Awards - 2021
Environmental Merit Award” organised by the Hong
Kong Construction Association.

In June 2022, the Public Rental Housing
Development at Choi Yuen Road Sites 3 & 4, Sheung
Shui (Po Shek Wu Estate), in which HCCL acted as
the contractor for the construction of the project,
has achieved “Final Gold rating under BEAM Plus
New Buildings Version 1.2" issued by the Hong Kong
Green Building Council.

13I8

Q)]

(2)

(3

4

(5)

RIEZ=F=ZR EBEEFRAT

(THRSRE ) RETBREMEIEE
NIEAREREEBERRARARE -
2022IRRIBELE o

RIEZ_F+_F BERREEER
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L2 AE®LL2021 -

A B _FENA EBRELEESE
BEETEENTEARER ST AR
HIBFE AR -2021IBRERER

RIZBZZFXA EKEBERKIRK
ASTHBAHEREZERIAR (HARH)
(HEBEEAFABRREENAER)
REFBGOREAZRTRENEER
TR (1.20R) RS ©
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Outlook

Hong Kong's construction industry continued to grow
and present new opportunities during the year, with the
Hong Kong Government firmly committed to increasing
the supply of public housing and improving the city’s
infrastructure. Capitalising on this tide of market
opportunities in the public sector, the Group leveraged
its core competencies, and its Construction Division was
subsequently awarded a number of contracts, including
a transitional housing construction project in the Kai Tak
area. There were, however, challenges in the form of an
acute shortage of skilled labour and a tight supply of
construction materials due to COVID-19-related shipping
disruption, which ultimately led to project delays. In
addition, increases in wages and costs had a negative
impact on the profitability of some construction projects.

Despite the challenging market environment, there
are still plenty of opportunities in Hong Kong'’s
construction industry. Over the next decade, the Hong
Kong Government plans to increase the supply of public
housing to 300,000 units as it maintains the city’s housing
supply target of 430,000 units and a 70:30 ratio of public
to private units. In addition, the vigorous promotion
of the “Light Public Housing” project, as well as other
development plans such as “Lantau Tomorrow” and
“Northern Metropolis”, will provide fresh impetus for the
construction industry. Additional opportunities will come
from three strategic railways and three major roads and
that the Government is implementing to upgrade the
city’s transportation networks. In the private sector, the
launch of a new pilot scheme aims to encourage private
developers to build subsidised sale units and to apply for
rezoning of their own land for the purpose of developing
subsidised sale units. More than 19,000 private residential
units are expected to be completed each year for the five
years beginning in 2023.

OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ # vl il
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The Hong Kong construction industry is facing several
challenges, including labour shortage and high material
costs, resulting in rising wages and construction costs
that are among the highest in the world. The Group will
continue to closely monitor the dynamic and complex
operating environment and will maintain a cautious
approach during these uncertain times. It is keenly aware
of the need for its Construction Division to fully comply
with the stringent requirements of the Government and
regulatory bodies, while taking an innovative approach
to tendering procedures and cost control.

With increased tender opportunities from both the public
and private sectors, the Construction Division will become
more responsive to the needs of its clients and strengthen
its industry leadership. In the near term, the division wiill
continue to employ innovative building technologies
and digitalisation to further streamline operations
and improve project efficiency. It will also expand its
construction workforce in a variety of ways, including
attracting more talent to the industry, enhancing training
and human resource development, and allocating more
resources to employee development.

ERREXHBEZENRE  BEFHER
RIEBASE ERTE LA KRBERE
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Renovation works at
Carolina Gardens, The Peak

WRRLE M ITE

Interior &
Renovation
Division
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INTERIOR AND RENOVATION DIVISION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Interior and
Renovation Division recorded a revenue of HK$229.9
million, as compared with HK$158.2 million last year.

The total amount of contracts on hand as at 31 March
2023 for the Interior and Renovation Division amounted
to HK$494.3 million.

Major Projects Completed

(1) Renovation works at Carolina Gardens, Nos. 20-34
Coombe Road, The Peak, Hong Kong

(2) Builder's works term contract (2020-2023) for Hong
Kong Baptist University

(3) 2-year term tenancy works contract (2020-2022) for
shopping centres, car parks, markets & cooked-food
stalls for Hong Kong Island, Kowloon East, New
Territories East and Tseung Kwan O (Region 2) for
the Link

(4) Improvement works for Haking Wong Building for
The University of Hong Kong

(5) Main contract for toilet improvement works at
shopping centres of Chuk Yuen South, Fu Shin,
Stanley, Tai Hing, Tai Wo, Yu Chui and Temple Mall
for the Link

Major Projects Undertaken

(1) 3-year general building maintenance term contract
(2019-2022) for the City University of Hong Kong

(2) Facade repair works for campus buildings (2019-
2022) for the City University of Hong Kong

REm R AEIE Y

BE_ZE_="F=-A=+—HLEE £
R BB 815 W A 75 #16229,900,0007T > T
EF B %A 1158,200,0007T °
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(3) HKHA district term contract (2021-2024) for
the maintenance, improvement and vacant flat
refurbishment for Hong Kong Island and Islands (2)

(4) Building works term contract (2022-2025) for
shopping centres, car parks, markets & cooked-food
stalls in Tin Shui Wai, Tuen Mun, New Territories
North and Ma On Shan (Region 1) for the Link

(5) 2-year term tenancy works contract (2022-2024) for
shopping centres, car parks, markets & cooked-food
stalls for Hong Kong Island, Kowloon East, New
Territories East and Tseung Kwan O (Region 2) for
the Link

(6) Repair and maintenance term contract (2022-2025)
for Hong Kong Baptist University

Major Projects Awarded

(1) AA&I project 2022-2023 renovation works to
lavatories in Sir Run Run Shaw Building, Cha Chi-
Ming Science Tower and Fong Shu Chuen Library,
renovation works to lavatories at Level 5 of Oen Hall
Building at Hong Kong Baptist University

(2) Interior fitting out works nominated sub-contract
for redevelopment of North Point Methodist Church
at 11 Cheung Hong Street, North Point, Hong Kong

Award

In July 2022, Hanison Interior & Renovation Limited
was awarded the “Construction Industry Safety Award
Scheme 2021/2022 - Renovation and Maintenance Works
— Merit Award” organised by the Labour Department, for
the renovation project at Carolina Gardens, The Peak.

3)

4
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Outlook

Homeowners and property investors often carry out
major renovation works prior to selling or leasing their
assets in a bid to achieve the maximum return, as this
usually elevates the property’s market value. Likewise,
operators of commercial spaces and shopping malls
perform remodelling and upgrading for the purpose of
asset appreciation. While these considerations certainly
benefit the Group’s Interior and Renovation Division, this
division was impacted by the city’s economic downturn
during the year, with a reduction in project enquiries and
approvals as owners put large-scale renovation plans on
hold.

Competition remains fierce in the sector, adding to
the challenges facing this division. Given the highly
fragmented nature of the market, price, project length,
quality of service and reputation are key considerations
for owners looking for service providers in this sector.

Looking ahead, the overall outlook for the Interior and
Renovation Division is expected to be positive as the
construction industry continues to recover. A return
to normalcy in the wake of COVID-19 is likely to lead
to more optimism for businesses. Residential property
owners will be more inclined to undertake renovations,
upgrades and remodels as they seek to increase the
value of their properties while increasing real estate
activity. Commercial property owners will upgrade
their facilities to meet customer demands. Against this
promising backdrop, the Interior and Renovation Division
will strive to establish itself as a renowned interior and
renovation company, promoting a culture of continuous
improvement and seeking to exceed the expectations of
its clients. It will strive to achieve unique and innovative
designs that balance aesthetic appeal and functionality
while remaining cost competitive. In response to the
growing global concern for environmental protection
and green building, the Group is actively researching and
implementing environmentally friendly technologies and
green building materials into its processes.

RE

EIRMEREEBEGTHERLESE
EZRETAREBN IR WRESEKME
B REASBMERSERESVMENTISE
BB BEZRKRBEDRONEEETR
UEERERENETHERFA R - BEZX
FERBEEANNAEBAVEMREEE
BIEHFARFEFRREREERERTZE  BR
RETHEREBNHE > BHEEARILE
BFriEL -

ERBFRAHI PULMFIMEE S HhE -
ERMETEBSED R B HERE
RBEERBELETRILITESHRTR
HENEAEZ SRR

RERK BERGSFFEERR BHREHK
MR ERARIER - 20198 BH Z
BMEBEAEESEEEMER - EEY
EXTREERNETEN ARKREE R
E 7318 & = KA 1 10 55 ith 22 7% B A9 (R B5 1 /0
MEBE BEPEEZTRARERELUR
RERBER -ZELFTRFENTRT KK
MEERRIR BN AEHREEQT)
EFREREXL NRBERTFHE - HRE

BERBRRAM® FHEXERSI TR
BRY RARREFREGRE D - BEREZIRY
RIERERGBRENADMAE AEEIE
TR AT B SUIR (R 45 1l Be ok 2 32 SR A1 464 31 FE R 2
HI®Rde

24 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023



Building
Materials
Division

Bl Js 31 0 O A7 L5 1) 2022/20234E i 25



OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ # vl i

BUILDING MATERIALS DIVISION

The Group’s Building Materials Division specialises in the
supply and installation of different types of suspended
ceiling system, metal cladding system, fire rated enclosure
system and timber flooring.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 the revenue of
the Building Materials Division was HK$59.5 million
compared with that of HK$83.7 million last year.

The total amount of contracts on hand as at 31 March
2023 for the Building Materials Division amounted to
HK$267.9 million.

Major Projects Completed
(1) MTR SCL Contract No.1123 - Exhibition Station and
Western Approach Tunnel — Design, supply and

installation of suspended ceiling system

(2) Tai Wai Station property development — External
ceiling system at transfer plate

I\
/K
MY

Tai Wai Station property development —

BEMEE
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External ceiling system at transfer plate

AEW EEMEEREE - B NEZEIRTERR

26 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023



3)

OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ # vl il

Proposed residential development of Wong Chuk  (3) EMRULMBAVERRBZEZETER
Hang Station Site A property development — Supply BEE-—HEKRZEFEEBZRXI
and installation of suspended ceiling system at R

podium level

Proposed residential development of Wong Chuk Hang Station Site A property development —
Supply and installation of suspended ceiling system at podium level

B BAYEER BRETCERER - HERZETEREZEXRTERMR
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Major Projects Undertaken EENTETRE

(1) HKIA Contract 3508 Terminal 2 expansion works — (1) EHEIEHEIES43508_EFE KIS
Design, supply and installation of main roof baffle BIR-R - HERZREIXEESE
ceiling system KIERHK

(2) HKIA Contract 3508 Terminal 2 expansion works —  (2) FHHEBIREIS S43508 = EKIEHE
Design, supply and installation of lower-level baffle BIR-R HERZEBEERXE X
and external ceiling system EHINKRIER R

(3) Construction of a swimming pool complex and open  (3) KXIKEF107& i ik th 35 8 K K 88 A3 3th
space in Area 107, Tin Shui Wai — Design, supply and ZEETRE R HERZERBXIE
installation of suspended ceiling system R

(4) Proposed residential and commercial development 4) BREMIBEEEIFELA47HZESRGE
at Nos. 33-47 Catchick Street, Kennedy Town - EREEERIES —HERZERRKT
Supply and installation of suspended ceiling system EX

HKIA Contract 3508 Terminal 2 expansion works —
Design, supply and installation of main roof baffle ceiling system
EAEREISE#3508 B ENISERIE -

RE HERZETREEBRIERSR

- = - - it

HKIA Contract 3508 Terminal 2 expansion works — Design, supply
and installation of lower-level baffle and external ceiling system
BB S 43508 R IBEANGBETIR -

B -HERZEBERBREINRTERSR
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Major Projects Awarded

(1) Proposed residential development at TKOTL 70RP,
Phase 11, Lohas Park, Tseung Kwan O, N.T. — Supply
and installation of baffle ceiling and gypsum board
ceiling system

(2) Construction of public housing development at Java
Road, North Point — Design, supply and installation
of suspended ceiling system at podium level

(3) Central Kowloon Route - Building, electrical and
mechanical works — Design, supply and installation
of suspended ceiling system

(4) Construction of public housing development at
Hin Fat Lane, Tuen Mun, N.T. — Design, supply and
installation of suspended ceiling system at G/F

Outlook

Thanks to its solid foundation and presence in the
market, the Building Materials Division won several
projects during the year, including the supply and
installation of baffle ceilings and gypsum board ceiling
systems in Lohas Park. Regarding the main roof baffle
ceiling system project at Hong Kong Airport Terminal 2,
there were delays in the overall progress of the project
and hence it is not ready for installation of the ceiling
system.

Since the development of the materials market is largely
synchronised with the construction market, it is expected
to see considerable growth in parallel with the launch
of major construction projects driven by infrastructure
spending and housing development. In addition, there
are proposals to convert ageing industrial buildings in
Hong Kong into modern commercial developments.
This will provide additional opportunities through new
construction projects and higher demand for building
materials.
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In order to seize these new opportunities and improve
its competitiveness in a constantly evolving business
environment, the Group will continue to implement
effective cost control measures. In addition to using
innovative but affordable construction materials, the
Group will increase its efforts to recruit and retain
experienced workers and qualified subcontractors to
undertake projects in a timely manner. Regarding the
recently resumed Hong Kong Airport roof ceiling project,
the Group will establish an improved workflow and
schedule for the project and regularly monitor progress
against the plan. This will help ensure that costs are
effectively managed throughout the project and that the
project will be completed on schedule and on budget
while meeting quality standards. With its extensive
expertise and proven track record in the supply and
installation of suspended ceilings and flooring, the Group
is confident that its Building Materials Division will be
able to capitalise on the opportunities presented by Hong
Kong's urban development plans.

RHBEZENRE  LEFGHEENERR
BHRREEHRFEN cEEREEERE XL
A ERIIE I - PRIEBRIMEERSGENE
EMESN EEBR AN ERBRIEEE
REENTAKRSERND B UKEK
BEB -MAHEINEERSRXREXRTER
BN A&EEEAZEEREERTENT
EREREER TR BEHEREE -H
RWAEPEREREREFTERNEEMA > I
EREERFKBRIIZBE TR BRKTE
HERE - BENBRRIERMIRMEKRRZE
FENEEN#; RiFEELE ~EBA
FEOHBEMBIRENBESBRTEE
st BIFR 2R A o

30 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023



IoE 3% il

Property
Development
Division

1

e

AL £ e PR 4T W28 W) 2022/20235E 8 31




OPERATIONS REVIEW 3% vl i

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

The Property Development Division recorded no revenue
during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil).

LUXEAST, the Group's 49% interest in the parcel of
land situated at FEARELNEIE BEH &I
7afil - # E= B A (West of Wenyuan Road and South
of Houfutinggang, Haining, Zhejiang Province, the
People’s Republic of China) for the development and
construction of office, retail, car parking spaces and other
development pertaining to the land. The respective &
EFrE#:% (Building Ownership Certificates) have been
issued in March 2015. A total of 224 R EE B &E (Sale
and Purchase Agreement for Commodity Flat) have been
signed up to the end of the reporting period in which
220 units had been delivered to customers.

For the proposed residential development project with
Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited at So Kwun Wat,
Tuen Mun, a land exchange application to convert
the land to residential use has been completed and
the land premium involved has been fully settled. The
development of the site is in progress.

A piece of land at No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon
Tong, Kowloon in which the Group has 50% interest
with the objective of developing the property into a
premium residential project, lease modification and
general building plans for redevelopment have been
approved and we are in the course of negotiating the
land premium with Lands Department.

For the piece of land at Tong Yan San Tsuen in Yuen Long
in which the Group has 50% interest with the objective
of developing the property into a residential project,
a land exchange application for residential use was
completed in April 2021. The development of the site is
in progress.
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As for the joint venture project, Johnson Place, located
at Nos. 14-16 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong in
which the Group has 50% interest, will be redeveloped
into a brand new industrial property, the planning
application for bonus plot ratio has been approved.
Demolition of the existing building will be commenced
soon.

As for the joint venture project, West Castle, located
at No. 22 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung in which the
Group has 50% interest, will be redeveloped into a
brand new industrial property with bonus plot ratio. The
demolition work was completed in December 2021. The
development of the site is in progress.

For the joint venture project at No. 18 Lee Chung Street,
Chai Wan, Hong Kong, in which the Group has 50%
interest, will be redeveloped into a brand new industrial
property. Building plans for the development with bonus
plot ratio have been approved and demolition work was
completed in April 2022.

Outlook

Hong Kong's property market was sluggish during the
year due to significant interest rate hikes, a weak local
economy and an unstable stock market. Figures from
the Rating and Valuation Department showed that
residential property prices fell by more than 15% in 2022,
ending 13 consecutive years of price increases, and the
number of transactions dropped significantly. Despite
this challenging backdrop, all of the Group’s property
development projects progressed well during the year.

The Government has adopted a multi-faceted approach
to ensuring a stable and healthy real estate market. This
includes identifying additional land and redeveloping
brownfield sites to build up a land bank; streamlining
statutory and administrative procedures related to
planning and development to reduce land production
and building construction times; and accelerating
urban renewal by lowering the ownership threshold for
committing to compulsory sales of older private housing.
The Government also announced a change to the 10-
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year stamp duty levied on mass-market homes in early
2023. The move, effective immediately, is designed to
support first-time buyers to get onto the property ladder
and is expected to benefit around 37,000 buyers per year,
boosting sales of small and medium-sized residential
units. The recent resumption of quarantine-free travel
between Hong Kong and the Mainland has also provided
a more favourable market, with the local economy
already on a steady path of recovery. In addition,
the Government'’s latest talent scheme, blueprint for
innovation and technology development, and other
measures introduced in the latest Budget are expected
to stimulate a full economic recovery. Coupled with a
lower unemployment rate, this will help boost market
confidence, which in turn will benefit the real estate
market.

While there are promising prospects on the horizon, the
market is also facing a number of challenges. Recent
interest rate hikes have made borrowing more expensive
for many developers and potential buyers, often resulting
in less demand for properties as buyers are unwilling to
take on higher borrowing costs. Furthermore, due to the
abundant supply of new homes, individual homebuilders
are lowering the prices of their new residential projects
in a bid to boost sales.

The Property Development Division has built up a
sizeable land bank over the years, acquiring a number
of land parcels at reasonable prices. Looking ahead, the
Group will continue to manage its property portfolio in
a prudent manner and actively seek new opportunities
for further growth. In order to maximise synergies and
reduce development risks, the Group will utilise joint
ventures with suitable partners to develop land parcels
into properties. In undertaking land development
projects, the Group will also give priority to maintaining
good cash flow and a reasonable gearing ratio.
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT DIVISION

The Property Investment Division recorded a revenue of
HK$64.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$63.4 million).

In April 2022, the Group has entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of
certain units and a car parking space at Shatin Industrial Centre.
The disposal was completed in October 2022.

In May 2022, the Group has entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of certain units and car parking spaces at Shatin
Industrial Centre. The disposal was completed in May 2022.

In August 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of
certain industrial units and car parking spaces at Chaiwan
Industrial Centre. The transaction was completed in
September 2022.
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Hollywood Hill at No. 222 Hollywood Road
QLA 2R 5E382225% Z Hollywood Hill
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Investment properties of the Group including PeakCastle in
Cheung Sha Wan, The Mercer in Sheung Wan, Hollywood
Hill at No. 222 Hollywood Road, No. 31 Wing Wo Street in
Sheung Wan, certain industrial units and car parking spaces
at Chaiwan Industrial Centre (which were disposed of in
September 2022), certain units at Shatin Industrial Centre
(which were partly disposed of in May 2022 and October
2022), and The Connaught at No. 138 Connaught Road
West in which the Group has 50% interest, all contributed
rental incomes to the Group during the financial year.
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Outlook

Sluggish commercial real estate rents due to sharp interest
rate hikes and strict quarantine measures depressed
the recovery of the investment market during the year.
Indeed, market analysis showed that transaction volume
of the investment market fell to its lowest level in 10 years
in 2022 while turnover declined by 4% year-on-year.

The property investment market may face further
challenges in the near term, as there are concerns that
high interest rates are making it more difficult for
investors to raise financing costs, although rates are
expected to peak by mid-2023.

While the market faces challenges, there are also
favourable prospects. The re-opening of the border
with the Mainland is boosting investor confidence in
snapping up properties as the economic recovery is likely
to boost demand for Hong Kong homes. In addition,
cosmetics and drugstore retailers are vying for expansion
opportunities in tourist areas as Mainland tourists and
other visitors return. The hotel industry also rebounded
immediately after the re-opening of the border, with
occupancy rates and average daily rents improving
significantly in early 2023. In the long run, Hong Kong, as
an international financial centre, should still have many
business opportunities in terms of capital investment.
As a premier location for the financial services industry
and home to many financial institutions, Hong Kong will
remain a dynamic and important hub providing links to
Mainland and international trade as well as a base for
professional services.

The Property Investment Division remains alert to local
and global economic and political developments, and
adjusts its strategy and operations accordingly. Going
forward, the Group will continue to manage its property
portfolio prudently to realise it. It will aim to ensure
healthy cash flow and lower gearing ratio in order to be
prepared for any market developments that may occur.
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PROPERTY AGENCY AND MANAGEMENT
DIVISION

The revenue of the Property Agency and Management
Division for the year ended 31 March 2023 was HK$14.5
million (2022: HK$8.5 million).

In Hong Kong, our Property Agency and Management
Division acted as the marketing and project manager for
Johnson Place and No. 18 Lee Chung Street in Chai Wan,
West Castle at No. 22 Yip Shing Street, No. 57A Nga Tsin
Wai Road, PeakCastle in Cheung Sha Wan, The Grampian
at No. 11 Grampian Road, The Connaught at No. 138
Connaught Road West and The Austine Place at No. 38
Kwun Chung Street. This division also provided property
management services to The Austine Place at No. 38
Kwun Chung Street, The Bedford in Tai Kok Tsui, Eight
College and One LaSalle in Kowloon Tong, PeakCastle in
Cheung Sha Wan, Mount Vienna at Lok Lam Road, The
Connaught at No. 138 Connaught Road West, Hollywood
Hill at No. 222 Hollywood Road, The Mercer at No. 29
Jervois Street and West Park in Cheung Sha Wan.

Other services of this division include rental collection
and leasing agency services to 8 Hart Avenue and The
Cameron in Tsim Sha Tsui.

Property management services for Hollywood Hill
#Hollywood HilliZ ¥ £ EERTE

MENREREES
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Marketing and project manager and
property management services for PeakCastle

#PeakCastleiE (E T IR E R B KB R HY) X EERT
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Outlook

The Property Agency and Management Division provides
bespoke integrated solutions to meet the needs of
its clients. The management services business covers
a broad range of properties, including commercial,
residential and industrial buildings, most of which have
been developed or acquired by the Group or through
its joint ventures. In order to optimise the rental income
and value of these properties, the Group endeavours to
maintain a smooth management process and proactive
communication throughout.

Given its wealth of experience and industry knowledge,
the division is confident that it will be able to continue
providing quality property management services to
landlords and tenants despite the difficult external
environment.

;o

¢

2% 8
Marketing and project manager and property management services for The Connaught

#The ConnaughtiE T IGHERIEE KERIREY X EIERF
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The renowned Chinese herbal practitioner Dr Kwan Chi Yee is well known
for his expertise in Chinese traditional medicine. His "28 Chinese Herbal
Soup for Postnatal Women" is specially designed for postnatal women who
drink Chinese herbal soup cooking with chicken or meat for 28 days
according to the daily instructions. There are three kinds of "28 Chinese
herbal soup for postnatal women" - Golden Version, Ordinary Version and
Vegetarian Version. For the golden version, two main ingredients including
Ginseng and Deer tail are added for strengthening body functions of the
women who have undergone caesarean birth or have strong demand for
health improvement. For the vegetarian version, it is purely made of plant,
no animal ingredients, Ginseng is added to ensure and enhance the
effectiveness.Ordinary Version is economical.
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HEALTH PRODUCTS DIVISION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the division recorded
revenue of HK$11.3 million, compared to HK$22.6 million
last year.

BRERDPEIENESTERMEBRSER
BTN\ TDr. LingzhiBZ Ak RIEHET
ZEZBFERUKRHealthMatefEX1 1 5
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The Health Products Division is primarily engaged in
the retail and wholesale of Bu Yick Fong - 28 Chinese
Herbal Soup and ganoderma spore products under the
“Dr. Lingzhi” brand, and Chinese and Western nutritional
supplements under the “HealthMate” brand. In addition
to the e-commerce business, a brick-and-mortar store
has been established in Tsim Sha Tsui to improve brand
visibility and build customer relationships.
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Outlook BE

Good health is essential to maintaining well-being and BEREENEEEEGREETEEZEEE
quality of life. Given the ageing population and rising FHoEM AOBLCRUTXZEKALL N  HEFE
disposable income, the demand for better healthcare has BEERREMNEXAIFIRAEME 20198 iRHE
never been greater. This has only been exacerbated by the EEFE—FTMELE R HE—FOWEET
COVID-19 pandemic, which further highlighted the role BEEAMEZTINIER  SXEBFELE S
that health plays in people’s lives and has led to a greater BFRNEREREM

demand for products that support healthy lifestyles.
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To capture the huge potential of health-related products, the ~ AIRERBEHABAELRNEKRE I BEESR
Health Products Division will continue to focus on expanding  SFEBE ITNITEEFLHEERE LS
its online sales channels and engaging in different forms of ~ EAREF AN RIEEHEEETS)  UIREHE
social media promotions to capture consumers based on their ~ BEBEETAZEHES o IbI > sZ2RFIE 4
purchasing behaviour. In addition, the division will continue  EFR{ICEMLFERREHENHBSE
to deepen its wholesale collaboration with well-known health i IERENEEE  neRtRA
food chains to reach health-conscious consumers and to meet  MMEFEHREELAZERMNER &E
the growing demand for preventive healthcare products locally ~ TR ERE B Fm RIEERIH HERMNIY
and in the Mainland. The Group will also use customer reviews 3§ W ERBEREEIIE1F-

and testimonials to highlight the efficacy of its products and

build trust with potential customers.
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SUMMARY OF RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, Hanison Construction
Holdings Limited (“Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively “Group”) recorded revenue of HK$1,232.8
million,
14% compared with the previous financial year (2022:
HK$1,438.3 million). The consolidated loss attributable to
owners of the Company was HK$38.4 million, as opposed
to a net profit of HK$154.3 million for 2022. The net loss
in the current year is mainly attributable to decrease in
revaluation of investment properties and impairment
loss on properties under development for sale held by
the Group and joint ventures. Such losses are recognised
through loss on change in fair value of investment
properties, write-down of properties under development
for sale and share of losses of joint ventures in the
current year.

representing a decrease of approximately

The basic loss per share and diluted loss per share for
the year were HK3.5 cents and HK3.5 cents respectively,
as opposed to a basic earnings per share and diluted
earnings per share of HK14.0 cents and HK13.9 cents
recorded in the previous financial year.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s net asset value
amounted to HK$4,072.7 million (2022: HK$4,216.4
million). Net asset value per share as at 31 March 2023
was HK$3.71 (2022: HK$3.81).
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Group Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's liquidity and financing requirements are
regularly reviewed.

For day-to-day liquidity management and to maintain
flexibility in funding, the Group has access to facilities
from banks with an aggregate amount of HK$3,345.4
million (HK$2,075.4 million was secured by first charges
over certain leasehold land and buildings and investment
properties of the Group), of which HK$1,525.4 million
bank loans have been drawn down and approximately
HK$98.7 million has been utilised mainly for the issuance
of performance bonds as at 31 March 2023. The bank
loans under these banking facilities bear interests at
prevailing market interest rates.

The Group follows a prudent policy in managing its cash
balance, and endeavours to maintain its sound cash flow
generating capability, its ability to take on investments
and acquisition projects, in order to enhance shareholder
wealth. The total cash and bank balances of the Group
amounted to HK$399.5 million as at 31 March 2023
(2022: HK$609.3 million (included the bank balances
shown under assets classified as held for sale)), and
accounted for 23.6% of the current assets (2022: 28.9%).
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During the year, the Group has a net cash outflow of
HK$142.6 million in its operating activities (mainly due
to increase in properties under development for sale,
decrease in trade and other payables and payment of
tax and interest), a net cash inflow of HK$300.2 million
in its investing activities (mainly due to proceeds from
disposal of assets classified as held for sale and liabilities
associated with assets classified as held for sale and
investment properties and repayment of loans to joint
ventures, netting off loans to joint ventures), and a net
cash outflow of HK$367.4 million in its financing activities
(mainly due to dividends paid to shareholders, repayment
of bank loans and payment on repurchase of ordinary
shares, netting off new bank loans raised). Net bank
borrowings (total bank loans less total bank balances and
cash) amounted to HK$1,125.9 million as at 31 March
2023 (2022: net bank borrowings of HK$1,182.1 million).
Accordingly, the gearing ratio of the Group, calculated
on the basis of the Group’s net bank borrowings to
shareholders’ funds, was 27.6% (2022: 28.0%). As at
year-end date, the Group was with a net current assets
of HK$774.6 million (2022: HK$792.6 million) and the
current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities)
was 1.85 times (2022: 1.6 times).

With its cash holdings and available facilities from banks,
the Group’s liquidity position will remain healthy in
the coming year, with sufficient financial resources to
meet its obligations, operation and future development
requirements.
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Treasury Policy

The aim of the Group’s treasury policy is to minimise its
exposure to fluctuations in the exchange rate and not to
engage in any highly leveraged or speculative derivative
products. Treasury transactions unrelated to underlying
financial exposure are not undertaken. Foreign currency
exposures of the Group arise mainly from the purchase
of goods. The Group will determine if any hedging is
required, on an individual basis, depending upon the size
and nature of the exposure, and the prevailing market
circumstances.

In order to enhance the deployment of internal funds
with maximum benefit, to achieve better risk control, and
to minimise cost of funds, the Group’s treasury activities
are centralised and scrutinised by the top management.

The surplus cash which is generally placed with reputable
financial institutions is mostly denominated in Hong
Kong dollar. Most of the income, expenses, assets
and liabilities of the Group are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. The Group therefore does not have any
significant exposure to gains or losses arising from the
movement of foreign currency exchange rate against the
Hong Kong dollar.

Shareholders’ Funds

At the year-end date, shareholders’ funds of the Group
were HK$4,072.7 million including reserves of HK$3,963.1
million, a decrease of HK$142.8 million from HK$4,105.9
million at 31 March 2022. On that basis, the consolidated
net asset value of the Group as at 31 March 2023 was
HK$3.71 per share, compared to the consolidated net
asset value of HK$3.81 per share as at 31 March 2022. The
decrease in shareholders’ funds was mainly attributable
to losses for the year, payments of cash dividends and
repurchase of shares.
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Capital Structure

The Group intends to keep an appropriate mix of equity
and debt to ensure an efficient capital structure over
time. As at 31 March 2023, the Group borrowed Hong
Kong dollar loans amounting to HK$1,525.4 million from
the banks (2022: HK$1,791.4 million). The borrowings
have been used as general working capital for financing
the properties for development and investment purposes
over the years. The maturity profile of the loans spread
over a period of two years with HK$394.4 million
repayable within the first year and HK$1,131.0 million
repayable within the second year. Interest is based on
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus a competitive
margin.

Major Disposals

On 13 April 2022, the Group has entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party
to dispose of certain units and a car parking space in
an industrial property named “Shatin Industrial Centre”
located in Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$79.0
million. The disposal was completed on 14 October 2022.

On 3 May 2022, the Group has entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of certain units in an industrial property named
“Shatin Industrial Centre” located in Hong Kong at a
consideration of HK$205.0 million. The disposal was
completed on 13 May 2022.

On 25 August 2022, the Group has entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third party
to dispose of certain units and a car parking space of an
industrial property named “Chaiwan Industrial Centre”
located in Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$55.0
million. The disposal was completed on 26 September
2022.
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Collateral

As at 31 March 2023, certain leasehold land and buildings
and investment properties of the Group, at the carrying
value of approximately HK$2,673.9 million (2022:
HK$2,704.8 million), were pledged to the banks to secure
the Hong Kong dollar loans of HK$1,425.4 million (2022:
HK$1,691.4 million).

Performance Bonds

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had outstanding
performance bonds in respect of construction contracts
amounting to HK$98,652,000 (2022: HK$136,833,000).

Commitments

The Group’s share of the commitments made jointly with
other joint venturers relating to the joint ventures, but
not recognised at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group is implementing a manpower policy that
aims to maximise the output of existing staff resources
in order to achieve productivity gains. We believe that
through improving our staff's job-related competencies,
our overall operational efficiency can be improved
without the need for substantial increase in headcount.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group (excluding its joint
ventures) had 447 employees. Staff costs of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023 amounted to HK$204.8
million (excluding directors’ emoluments). The Group
offers competitive remuneration packages, including
discretionary bonus and share option scheme, to its
employees, commensurable to market level and their
qualifications. The Group also provides retirement
schemes, medical benefits and both in-house and
external training courses for employees.

Employees and directors are remunerated according
to individual and the Group’s performance, industry
trends, prevailing market conditions, the nature of the
job and value creation. The Group recruits and promotes
individuals based on their development potential, merits
and competencies, and ensures that their remuneration
packages are at a reasonable market level. The directors,
eligible full time employees and consultants of the Group
are entitled to participate in the share option scheme
of the Company. The principal terms of the share option
scheme are summarised in the report of the directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Good corporate governance practices are crucial to
enhancing shareholder value. With this in mind, the
board of directors of the Company (“Board”) is keen
on maintaining an effective corporate governance
framework for the Company and its subsidiaries
(*Group”). This is reflected in terms of a quality board
of directors and the emphasis on transparency and
accountability.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company
has complied with all applicable code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”), except for Code
Provision F.2.2 of the CG Code which stipulates that the
chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting. The Chairman of the Board, Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson, was unable to attend the Company’s 2022
annual general meeting due to other engagement. The
Managing Director took the chair of the meeting and
responded to questions from the shareholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Corporate Culture

The Group is committed to achieving high standards in
sustainability and accountability through good teamwork
and effective governance, such culture aligns with the
Group’s vision, mission and values.

Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the businesses of the Group, and
assumes responsibility for strategy formulation, corporate
governance and performance monitoring. It develops and
reviews the Group’s strategies and policies, formulates
business plans and evaluates performance of the
operating divisions against agreed budgets and targets
through regular discussion on key and appropriate issues
in a timely manner. It also exercises a number of reserved
powers, including (i) approval of annual and interim
results and significant changes in accounting policy or
capital structure, risk management and internal control
systems, material transactions (in particular those which
may involve conflict of interests), major capital projects;
(ii) setting the Group’s remuneration policy, dividend
policy; (iii) appointment of directors; and (iv) supervision
of management and other significant financial and
operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company are delegated to the
Managing Director and the senior management, who
fulfill their duties within their scope of authority and
responsibility. Divisional heads are responsible for
different aspects of the businesses. Major functions
delegated to management include preparation of annual
and interim results; execution of business strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board; implementation of
adequate risk management and internal control systems;
and compliance with the relevant statutory requirements.

EFXTg
EEXIE

FEBRBRNINEBRFNERSERAEM
AERATFEEREER T EERSRE
ZEXCEAERNER EaREE -

EFEREEE

EXERBEREEREELAAE UKREEBSE
SENES, TESHIERE EXEARE
BRI BRMERAEBBIRBEEER ; 7
FEHURSND  ERBRREHAREKR
REBEEEENSEEBFIETERZEN
RERBER -ZEFETETHEESTRER
7 BEOMEEFRPHAZEE TR
BEXRBHNERET -AREERASPEEE
R EARS (LHEFAEY KA HEHRH
X7 REBERER ; (i) E 45 B # BN
B REBR (INEREEE; R(iVEEER
BRrREMEEZMBNEEEE

ARENAREE - THREESTEERRE
EFRKERSREEABRGE MMAES
BZENKREFHENRITRE -SFAEE
EEREREEF EEEEERANEET
FEESHREERTHER, ATESIR
M EBRBRIES  HEITTENRBRERE
RAEEERGR ; URBTHRBIER

54 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT R4S 1aHE R

All directors are kept informed of major changes that
may affect the Group’s businesses on a timely basis. Each
director can have recourse to independent professional
advice in performing his duties at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover
for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions against its directors and senior management
arising out of corporate activities.

Board Composition

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary
balance of skills and experience desirable for effective
leadership of the Company and independence in decision
making. The biographies of the directors (and their
relationships, if any) are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section
under the “Report of the Directors” of this annual
report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors, representing more than one-third
of the Board. One of the independent non-executive
directors, namely Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter, possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting or
related financial management expertise.
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During the year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Board comprises the following directors:

Non-executive Chairman
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager)

Mr. Chow Ka Fung

Non-executive Director
Dr. Lam Chat Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter
Dr. Sun Tai Lun
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony
(appointed on 18 April 2023)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in
all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time.

Coming from diverse business and professional
backgrounds, the non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors bring a wealth of
expertise and experience to the Board, which contributes
to the success of the Group. Through active participation
in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflict of interests and serving
on Board committees, all of them make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

The term of appointment of non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors) is
currently fixed for three years, subject to the retirement
by rotation provisions as set out in the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association and the Listing
Rules.
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All independent non-executive directors are free from
any business or other relationships with the Company.
The Company has received written annual confirmation
of independence from each independent non-executive
director in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company has assessed their independence and
concluded that all independent non-executive directors
are independent within the meaning of the Listing Rules.

Dr. Lam Chat Yu is a director of C.M. Capital Advisors
(HK) Limited which is an entity controlled by Mr. Cha
Mou Daid, Johnson. Save for this and the information
disclosed in the “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” section under the “Report of
the Directors” of this annual report, there is no other
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among the directors and between the
Chairman and the Managing Director.

The Company has in place effective mechanisms to ensure
that independent views and input are available to the
Board. The Nomination Committee, a majority of which
is comprised of independent non-executive directors,
assesses the suitability and independence of potential
candidates to be appointed as independent non-
executive directors and reviews the independence of each
independent non-executive director annually pursuant
to the independence factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The independent non-executive directors
meet with the Chairman at least once annually without
the presence of other directors and they can have
separate and independent access to the management
through formal and informal means. Any director who
has a material interest in any contract or arrangement
or proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum
on any directors’ resolution approving the same.
Independent professional advice is also available to all
directors whenever necessary. These mechanisms are kept
under regular review on an annual basis, ensuring their
effectiveness. In June 2023, the Board conducted a review
and considered that such mechanisms were properly
implemented during the year and were effective.
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Board Diversity

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse Board in supporting the attainment of
its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
A board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”) setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board
has been adopted by the Board and the Nomination
Committee will review annually whether board diversity
can be achieved. When reviewing board diversity, the
Nomination Committee will consider board diversity from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service, which form the measurable objectives of the
Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee wiill
monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy
and make recommendation on any proposed revisions to
the Board.

As to gender diversity, the Board currently has nine
male directors, the Company targets to appoint at least
one female director no later than 31 December 2024
to achieve a female representation on the Board in
compliance with the requirements under the Listing
Rules. The Nomination Committee will deploy various
channels for identifying suitable director candidates
to the Board, including referral from the Company’s
directors, shareholders, management and advisors or
internal promotion, to achieve gender diversity.

As at 31 March 2023, 26.2% and 73.8% of the Group’s
workforce (including senior management) were female
and male respectively. The Group has been hiring
employees in the market based on suitable qualifications
and relevant experience for each position being sourced.
As an equal opportunity employer, the Group hires and
promotes both female and male genders as a consistent
policy in the talent pipeline. Further details of the
Group's gender diversity in workforce are set out in the
Company’s environmental, social and governance report
2022/2023.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Company established a Nomination Committee on
20 March 2012 to deal with matters in relation to the
appointment and re-election of directors.

Pursuant to the policy for nomination of directors
adopted by the Board on 14 March 2019, where
vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee
will identify suitable individuals by making reference
to criteria including but not limited to character and
integrity, accomplishment, educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, experience
and time commitments of the proposed candidates, the
Company’s needs, the diversity of the Board and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. New
directors are sought mainly through referrals or internal
promotion. The appointment of new directors or re-
election of directors is the decision of the Board upon
the recommendation of the proposed candidates by the
Nomination Committee.

The Company’s circular sent together with this annual
report contains detailed information of the directors
standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.
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Chairman and Managing Director

The positions of the Chairman and Managing Director are
held by Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson and Mr. Wong Sue
Toa, Stewart respectively. The Board has adopted a set
of written terms setting out the roles and duties of the
Chairman and the Managing Director.

The Chairman provides leadership for the effective
functioning of the Board in the overall strategic planning
and development of the Group. With the support of
the Managing Director and senior management, the
Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the
directors receive adequate, complete and reliable
information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing
on issues arising at Board meetings.

The Managing Director focuses on implementing
objectives, policies and strategies approved by the
Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day
management and operations. The Managing Director
is also responsible for formulating the organisational
structure, control systems and internal procedures and
processes for the Board’s approval.

Directors’ Induction and Development

Every newly appointed director is provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure that
he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The
directors would be provided from time to time with
updates on latest development and changes to the
Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements.

FEHASHREE

FTEREFREEDNHERERERTH
ERERET-EXTERMN—MDEERMER
B REFFEEERECENAGHNME-

TFEEEFEEEE HREFTHAMEN
EF MESEFNBRERBERERER-
TEFREERSHREEASNZHT X
BhasRfRESHEFKIIEN TERT
FNERN UAKBENTEETE IR L
mBYEIE

EXEMEEERNTKEFTIHENER
HRKERBE - REEFAFANAEEERE
B ERTESREMAEEE BERERA
BEFMIE LIREESGHtE-

EFABENRER

BLMEENEFIESMERNKEN
UHEFREHEQABNEFREBEIEEEDN
2R U KRTEMERGEERBER AR
MARRATHRE EFAHERM LD
RAREMABREZRERRNERZRNER
RERHRIMEN
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, all directors (save
for the director appointed after 31 March 2023) have
participated in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. A
summary of training received by the directors is as

follows:

RB&E_E_=-—F=ZA=+—HLEFER>
2RESE (W_ZT_=ZF=B=+—H%%
ZEMNEFRIN SESRFEFTERR U
ERKRENRSENVAMB R - EFERIE
AR ¢

Training Areas

= e
Accounting/
Corporate Financial/
Governance/ Management

Updates on Laws, or Other
Rules & Regulations Professional Skills

EER R g5t MBS
#3281 K 37 B B9 By
RIEH HtE A
Non-executive Chairman JERITERE
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson BMERE v v
Executive Directors WiTES
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart FHERE v v
(Managing Director) (BEFBAEACIE)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager) — ® =4 (4H4512) v v
Mr. Chow Ka Fung BEERE v v
Non-executive Director JEHITES
Dr. Lam Chat Yu HEFIEL v v
Independent Non-executive BIJERITES
Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe PRIBIESEE v v
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter 2 FEE L v v
Dr. Sun Tai Lun BARmEEL v v
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony BRESEL N/A N/A
(appointed on 18 April 2023) (RZEZ=F RiERA RiERA
mA+N\BEZE
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code")
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the
guideline for securities transactions by directors and
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company.

Specific enquiry has been made to all directors (save for
the director appointed after 31 March 2023) and the
directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March
2023.

BOARD AND COMMITTEES

Board Process

The Board held four regular meetings and adopted
resolutions in writing for the year ended 31 March 2023

and the principal businesses transacted include:

e Assessing the business performance and planning
the future business directions;

o Approving the Company’s interim and final results
and reports;

o Approving the business activities and property
transactions of the Group;

o Determining the payment of dividend;

o Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems;

e Approving the Company's corporate governance
report;

255 5 NRETA

AT EHEM EHRRIM B+ P& £ 31T
AEFETRESXSORETR (RET
AL EAERMEERES AIEERETARN
BHR) ETRFXHHES] -

KRzREE (R-T_=ZF=ZA=+—H
BREZENEZRN FELARERR EF
B RERBE_E_=F=B=+—H
I FERHBEETRETRZEE

BE_ZT_-—F=ZRB=+—HLEE-EF
EHETTHRERGERRMEETRZE
2 IEREFEREE:

FREFRERRURREFTERT
M ;

s HERARTITHKREFERENRS

s HEAEEEBIBRMERS

s HEERBZIKE

s BATEEARE
B

BERABEERRN

o HMEXRTEEERRSE
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o Approving the Company’s environmental, social and
governance report;

o Approving the establishment of the Company’s
whistleblowing policy;

o Authorising the executive directors to exercise the
power of the Board to repurchase the shares of the
Company;

o Approving the amendments to the Remuneration
Committee’s terms of reference; and

o Approving the appointment of independent non-
executive director of the Company.

Meeting schedules are normally made available to the
directors in advance. Notices of regular Board meetings
are given to all the directors at least 14 days before the
meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are sent to all the directors at
least 3 days (as far as practicable) before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Group and to enable them to make
informed decisions. The Board and each director also
have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary. The directors receive
regular supply of information about the business
activities, financial highlights and operations review
so that they are well informed prior to participation in
Board meetings.

The Company’s articles of association contain provisions
requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such directors or any of their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) have a material
interest.

o HMARATZERE -HEREERS

o HENEARRBRREER

s RENTEFRTHEEFTENIEBERQ
g1iin ;

o HEHMEESTHELENET &

s WEZEARTBIUIFATES-

BREZNHERBEERABNSLE
F-AREFEERERZZBNINGET
AAEMAREMEESFH L ERNHME
FERZEEEH A - RELSERBM -

EXCEEEXHERMBEE TEBKISE
NER MRS EFTERNEZETERRITA
(EAJTHER) ED3REEXREST U
PEFNETERRTNERRMBUBR
ERFEMNEEERFRERER FEHR
E-EEEGNBLEFETATENRZR 198
BITEESREEAENBIRE RRE
EEHREEREB TS MBLCERES
OENEMN LERFERSHEHEZTTEH
Al BERZEARNER -

REBAQABNEBERM) HEAFEFN
ERREZEEHMEAN (EER LHRA) £
RBFRANZZERLFEERM D AR
EEMARERR BF S ARG RIA
EANEA -
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company has been
established since December 2001. The Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive directors
and Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter is the chairman of the Audit
Committee and possesses appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a partner or former partner of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, the Company’s existing external
auditor. Members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter (Chairman of the committee)*
Mr. Chan Pak Joe*
Dr. Sun Tai Lun?*

# independent non-executive director

The major duties of the Audit Committee include the
following:

o Reviewing the Company’s financial statements and
reports and considering any significant or unusual
items raised by the qualified accountant or external
auditor before submission to the Board;

o Making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditor, approving their remuneration
and terms of engagement and reviewing and
monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity;

o Reviewing and reporting to the Board on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s financial
reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems and associated procedures, with the
assistance of the Risk Management Committee;

BREEG

KABMEBERZEEN _ET—F+AK
VoBMEEEH=-RBIUIFNTESHEMR
THEFEELHEIEZEZEGEFE KA
B EDRAEII0QFRERNBEEXER
HESHERNEFEREER -BREEE
BB IFR AT REINELZHED (52 o
=R S G5HERTT) NEBAXAEESBA -
BERZEGHMENT !

FEIeL EEELE)"
BRAB 1 e

BAMIEL
tBIIERITES

BERZZEENETERHINT !

BRFTABDZMBHRRRBRE > LER
EEFGR EEGERGSENEING
BZEMEH ZEREARFESESE ;

s MEE -EMEERERINEZHBME
BERESR TR L ES  #EMFI a5
KREERIFR > U R M EERINBAE
EMEVRILMEME B

s HEREREEZSENWHH T BaAXE
E R FEE ARG E - AR EE KA
ERG O UREREFRERRKRE
Mo MEEEGER ;
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Reviewing the Group’'s operating, financial and
accounting policies and practices; and

Reporting to the Board on the matters in the CG
Code.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2023 and the major works performed
are as follows:

Reviewing and recommending for the Board’s
approval the Company’s financial results and reports
for the year ended 31 March 2022 and for the six
months ended 30 September 2022;

Recommending to the Board the re-appointment of
external auditor for the year ended 31 March 2023;
and

Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended
31 March 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was
established on 20 March 2012. Members of the
Nomination Committee are as follows:

Mr. Chan Pak Joe (Chairman of the committee)*
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart

Mr. Tai Sai Ho

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter*

Dr. Sun Tai Lun#

#

independent non-executive director

s BWNAEENEE MHERGSTERN
1&hl ; &

e MEEEARTUAFTEREFTTER-

RB&E_T_ZF=-A=+—HLEFE &
REEEHBTTMREH BITHIER
BHF:

s BIKEREFGHAELIRTHEZZT
_THE=RA=1t—HIEEREE_ZFT
TIHENAB=1THIANEBNMBES
REBE

s MRMEFTRJBEMZEBE_T_=F
ZR=+—HIEFEZINBZEE ; &

BN AEERRERRANIPEZRRZ
BRIE-

BEREZEEEEREARRABE_S ==
B=+—HBLEEEZZ2FXE-
RLZEEG

AREIRGEEEN_E—_F=A-+H
PRI IRBEESERIRENT !
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B FHEE L
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tOBIFRITES
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The major duties of the Nomination Committee include
the following:

° Reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy;

o Identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorship;

o Assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors of the Company;

o Making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors of the
Company and succession planning for directors of
the Company in particular the Chairman and the
Managing Director; and

o Reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives set for
implementing the policy.

REYZEGNTE[HRUT

EVSFRIAEFTTORBE  ABKAE
B (BfERE -M# CRREMZ T
B) " TMEMBREEABTHNEER
B MEBFHMNEFNEFTTREE

¥ .
B

MEeRBEEERTREIESHAL
THBERBDBBATHESS SR
MEFFRLES

AR AEREBIIFATERTZHIUML

MARBEFTEZERENEE URSE
NEEE (LHRETRFKREFEEIE) @
EStEMESFERIERE &

WMNEFENE D T E B R R ABRFR
HENBERONITEE
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during
the year ended 31 March 2023 and the major works
performed are as follows:

° Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board;

o Assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company;

o Reviewing and making recommendations to
the Board on the re-appointment of directors
subject to retirement from office by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company;

o Reviewing the Board Diversity Policy; and

o Assessing and making recommendation to the
Board on the appointment of independent non-
executive director of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company set up the Remuneration Committee in
December 2004 which replaced the Bonus Committee
established in December 2001. Members of the
Remuneration Committee are as follows:

Dr. Sun Tai Lun (Chairman of the committee)*
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart

Mr. Tai Sai Ho

Mr. Chan Pak Joe*

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter*

* independent non-executive director

RBE_T_ZF=-A=+—HLEFE &
REEERTT—RER BITHNEEIR
mE

s WMAEFRIHIRE ABKAER ;
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The major duties of the Remuneration Committee
include the following:

o Formulating remuneration policy and practices and
determining the remuneration packages of the
executive directors and the senior management; and

o Ensuring no director or any of his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) participating in
deciding his own remuneration.

In determining the remuneration, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed background information such as key
economic indicators, market/sector trend, headcount and
staff costs.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during
the year ended 31 March 2023 and the major works
performed are as follows:

e Approving the maximum bonus pool and the actual
bonus amount to be distributed to the executive
directors, senior management and other employees
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023;

e  Approving the ex-gratia payment to a subsidiary
director upon retirement;

o Reviewing and determining the salary adjustment
for the executive directors, senior management
and other employees of the Group for the year
commenced on 1 April 2023; and

o Considering and making recommendation to the
Board on the remuneration package for a newly
appointed independent non-executive director.

HMEZEEENETEHEWT !

s REFMBRKRER UKREENTE
ENMBREBEASFMNEGS ; &

s HBAIRSEFIHEABBA (EER
LKA 2EEERESHM -

FMEZEE SR ERER NEXELERER
mi5 TEBB - BETHEKRETIMA U
FEEF

REBE_ZE_=ZF=HB=+—HILEE #
MEEEHBTTRAEER BTHEEL
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s HERSHNTEARERBEE_ZT_=F
ZA=t+—HLEFE #RREEER
WITES SHREEABNHMESR
BIRTEALRER ;

e HEWBARNEFERERNBEESE,
s BHKEEFAEENTEF SRER
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Other Board Committees

In addition to delegating specific responsibilities to the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, the Board also established the
following Board committees:

Name of Committee

ZEgRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1{B 2455168158

HthEFEZ8T

Composition of Committee

ZEEZHEM

&
HNEZEEREMEN  TFRILTUTES
%89

EERTHFERZET - RLZEEER

Role and Function of Committee

ZEgZABREAE

General Business Committee
(established in April 2002)
—REHEEEG
(R ZEEZFMFEIT)

Property Acquisition/
Disposal Committee
(established in April 2002)

WhE,HEMEEZEE
(R ZEE_FMF L)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the General
Business Committee held one meeting and adopted
resolutions in writing for approving (i) the bank loan

All the executive directors of the To handle the Company’s

Company

ERABERATES

general business within a
designated threshold

EHEEHERNEERRTZ—HK
=%

All the executive directors of the To handle the Company’s

Company

ERABERATES

facility to joint venture; and (ii) the transfer of shares

in respect of a restructuring within a substantial
shareholder’s group of companies.

acquisition/disposal of
property within a designated
threshold

EHETHBEREEARREAMES
WehE, &

RB&E_T_ZF=-A=+—HLEFE> —
MEBZEGER—RGH LEBEER
EALE () M BERRRERITER ; Kk(i)H

ERFNADEEANEHEBRANRNE

Ho

AL 5 ) e 7 JE A I 23 ) 2022/20234E $) 69



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1B 245 16 i 5 &

Attendance Record of Directors and Committee
Members

The attendance record of each director at annual general
meeting, Board and committee meetings held for the
year ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

=y

EF

REEGHEHEE

BE_E_=F=-A=+—HLEE &8E
FHERBTHRRBEXRG - EFITRES
CERMOEHRAIWT

Nomination Remuneration
Annual General Audit Committee ~ Committee Committee
Meeting Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
(Note i) (Note if) (Note iii) (Note iv) (Note v)
BRBEXE BXEER BRZEEEE RLZBEEE FNZSegE
Name of Director EE4 (Hfati) (Hisii) (His#iii) (Hiztiv) (Hstv)
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson* BIRERE 0/ 4/4 N/ATR B N/ARIER® N/ATRE R
(Chairman) (£E)
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart FEEE 1" 44 N/AR TR 11 212
(Managing Director) (EFELTE)

Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager) it S%4 (1E45HE) 1" 44 N/ATR L 11 212

Mr. Chow Ka Fung BEEkE n 44 N/ATR B N/ARIER® N/ATRE R

Dr. Lam Chat Yu* WEFEL 0/ 4/4 N/ATR B N/ARIER® N/ATRE R

Mr. Chan Pak Joe BRI L 17 4/4 212 11 212

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter* AFREL n 44 22 1N 22

Dr. Sun Tai Lun* BAREL 17 4/4 212 11 212

Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony* BREEHL NARER N/AR N/ARE R N/AR e N/ATR e

(Note vi) (Hiztvi)

Notes: Mk -

(i)  The annual general meeting was held on 23 August 2022. () ZREBEAGN-_ZE-_-_FN\B=+=H
The auditor of the Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu BIT o RNQAEZHENIEE) o BAEPRS B 5TEM
attended such meeting. THETEZKRE -

(ii)  For the year, four regular Board meetings were held. (i) AEE BARBEHBITTOREREST T

o

(iii) Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter is the chairman of the Audit (i) BFREITAEZEZETERFE-
Committee.

(iv) Mr. Chan Pak Joe is the chairman of the Nomination (iv) FRBEEEEIREEZEESTFE-

Committee.
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(v) Dr. Sun Tai Lun is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

(vi) Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 18 April 2023.

* non-executive director
# independent non-executive director
A the director is not a member of the relevant committee

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board oversees the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and reviews their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. During the year,
the Board, as supported by the Audit Committee and
the Risk Management Committee, has conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems covering all
material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls (including environmental and social
performance, risks and reporting). The Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss; to manage rather
than completely eliminate the risk of system failure;
and to assist in the achievement of the Group's agreed
objectives and goals. The risk management and internal
control systems of the Group are considered effective and
adequate.

(v) BRARELIAFNZESERE-

(vi) REEBLIEZERTRABDBILIERITE
B EE_ZFHA+/N\BEEX-

* JFRITESR
f OBIMIFRITES
L RERAIFEMEZEEME

[ B TR R PO P R A

EXEEREEETrEEZAREERAE
ERERBTHARME -RER EEZE
EgkABEEZEENZF T EFEH
FEEREFAEAGREFRZEARERN
RAMEERAZAER L ETEESER &
EMB -EENAREE ERRERTER
B RABEKRES) - AEEZEAREERASE
EERAMEERNFAFEERERRABIIER
RMSIE (BIHEY) 2RE B (B xR
HIF) RRRZ AR ; UniHBAEERER
BEZRERER - FEEZEREERA
BEZERARRBBERRTR -
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During the year and subsequent to the year end, the
Board engaged external consultants and professionals
to assist the Company in performing risk assessment
and to conduct an agreed review over the Group’s
internal control systems for evaluating the effectiveness
of the systems. No significant risk issues were identified
and appropriate measures have been taken to address
the identified areas for improvement. The Company
adopted a risk management policy and formed the
Risk Management Committee chaired by the Managing
Director and with members comprising the General
Manager and various divisions’ senior staff members.
Systems and procedures are put in place to identify,
evaluate, manage and monitor the risks of different
businesses and activities. Regular monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems is mainly
performed by each of the key divisions/business units
who are required to conduct risk self-assessment and to
submit risk assessment results and action plans to the
Risk Management Committee. The Audit Committee and
the Risk Management Committee monitor and assess
the risk management systems and the risk management
issues, support and advice from external consultants
and professionals to perform independent reviews on
the risk management systems are sought as and when
required. Review on the risk management and internal
control systems has to be performed at least annually to
assess the effectiveness of the systems in monitoring and
managing risks (including environmental and social risks).

The Company has also maintained a tailored governance
structure with clear lines of responsibility and
appropriate delegation of responsibility and authority
to the senior management, who are accountable for
the conduct and performance of the respective business
divisions under their supervision.

RERARREERR EFGEREINDEERM
REEANTHBA QB ETE RG> 2
RERBZ ABRREEER R ETRE R UTE
AEZARM -BELXREANERME M
MEHFAEZ MG TR T BEHEE
2o AA T B RN RRR B EREER > ML IR R
EELZEE HEFREHEETEFE HEE
EREERSIPANSRBE -BERIARR
RA2FF s AR sl s B REERER
URkEEz R BEEERAEEZERR
EHERTEHKMEIFEHEET
Z RSP, E B AETREE KT
Wi R R EE R RITEFERR TRRE
BELZEgER BENZEERAREEEZS
BEERNLRABREERAKKAKREES
B UIRNBFERSRINDERREEALZ
XERBR UHRABREERARETHIE
He-mAREERABEERKAZLEE
ETER UMAZEFRARNEEREERR
(BREERERMETRAR) TEZBEMIE-

ARBTEHF—ESENELRE HE
HEARBRHNAE HETFTESREEAEDN
BERERERTAEENHRE  REHZEE
BEEENERHMZEENRTEBE -
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The directors review monthly management reports on
the financial results, statistics and project progress of
each business division. Monthly management meetings
are held to review business performance against budgets,
forecasts and risk management strategies. Any major
variances are highlighted for investigation and control
purposes.

A centralised cash management system is maintained to
oversee the Group's investment and borrowing activities.
There are established guidelines and procedures for the
approval and control of expenditures. The aim is to keep
the expenditure level in line with the annual budget
and within the cost budget of an approved project.
Expenditures are subject to overall budget control with
various approval levels set by reference to the level of
responsibility of each manager and officer. Depending
on the nature and value, procurement of certain goods
and services are required to go through the tendering
process. No individual in the Group, irrespective of their
rank and position, are allowed to dominate the entire
expenditure process from commitment to payment.

The Group also regulates the handling and the
dissemination of inside information to the public in an
equal and timely manner in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations. Senior management executives
of the financial control functions of the Group are
delegated with responsibilities to control and monitor
the proper procedures to be observed on the disclosure
of inside information.

EETEERGANEEERS  BERE
BEFINM B ER Mt KRB EE - BAT
RTEEESR URRE -RAKRKRER
REAEEREFRERE LIERMEEEM
=82 UFHEREE

FEBERF—EFRREEERF UEE
FEBNKRERMERES - —RIHLERE
HAXHNESI REFEERY  BHNEER
XHNKFREEERERSEEHENEE
ZTREMNAR - AR EREARERR
#oMEASREERTERERIEERER
B EERR - RBEMEREE BEET
EmRRBEERENERE -FEERR

—EA (FHRESHRBER) REFBEERE
HABEMRNEERBER -
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards have been adopted, appropriate
accounting policies have been applied, and reasonable
and prudent judgments and estimates have been made.
The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company are
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” section of
this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out
below:

HERAMBERRZAE

EXFCRERNGOMBRR -ERRES
BRI EXCERMNETEUHTRSEE
A EASEZEFTER T EHSEMEIR
BYH R e b 51 o SRR BEN R A A B &R S/
BHRERZBSEERINNEFR BILEHK
Bk &I —EiR -

A% 24 B v B

BE_ZT_=F=HA=+—HLHEE &2
B fISMNBIRBEN 2 S B HIA T

HK$000

BEFT

Audit Services BIZIRF 3,600

Non-audit Services: JEBTILARTS -

Reviewing the financial results and report EREE_T__FhA=+H

for the six months ended 30 September 2022 EARERZMBEEERRS 680

Taxation and other services RIE K H A AR TS 457

TOTAL 4azm 4,737
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy on 14 March
2019 setting out the principles and guidelines relating
to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the Company’s shareholders. In
recommending or declaring dividends, the Board shall
take into account the following factors of the Group:

(i) financial results;

(i) cash flow situation;

(iii) availability of distributable profits;

(iv) business conditions and strategies;

(v) future operations and earnings;

(vi) cash requirements;

(vii) expected capital requirements and expenditure
plans;

(viii) interests of shareholders as a whole;

(ix) any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of
dividends; and

(x) any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to
time.
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SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

Shareholders Communication

The Company’s shareholders communication policy
aims to provide the shareholders and the investment
community with ready, equal and timely access to the
Group’s information. There are in place multiple channels
of communication and engagement available.

Shareholders and the investment community may make
a request for the Company's information to the extent
such information is publicly available, in writing to the
Company'’s principle office in Hong Kong at 22/F, Kings
Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong (for the attention of the company
secretary). For information about their shareholdings,
shareholders can contact the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Information of the Company is also communicated
to shareholders through the Company’s corporate
communications, including but not limited to annual
and interim reports, announcements and circulars. Such
published documents are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Annual
general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company provide a forum for direct interaction between
shareholders and the Company. Board members, in
particular, the chairmen of board committees or their
delegates, appropriate management executives and
external auditors, as appropriate, will attend annual
and other general meetings to answer shareholders’
questions. The process of the Company’s general
meetings will be monitored and reviewed on a regular
basis, and, if necessary, changes will be made to ensure
that shareholders’ needs are best served.
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Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the
Board in writing through the company secretary, with the
contact details below:

Address: 22/F., Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street,
Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong

Email: sc@hanison.com

Fax: (852) 2415 2080

In June 2023, the Board reviewed the Company’s
shareholders communication policy and considered that,
with the above measures in place, the implementation of
the policy was effective during the year.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings
on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors.

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, the
notice of annual general meeting, the annual report
and the circular containing information on the proposed
resolutions will be sent to shareholders at least 21 days
before the meeting. Voting at annual general meeting
or other general meeting will be conducted by way of a
poll. The results of the poll will be published on the day
of general meeting by posting on the Stock Exchange’s
and the Company'’s websites.

RERABEHRFMFANEAUZTEARNEBR
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Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

General meetings shall be convened:

(i) on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong (22/F,, Kings
Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong), specifying the
objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be
added to the meeting agenda and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the voting rights, on
a one vote per share basis, in the share capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company; or

(ii) on the written requisition of any one member of
the Company which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee) deposited at the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong (22/F, Kings Wing
Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong), specifying the objects of
the meeting and the resolutions to be added to the
meeting agenda, and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, in
the share capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

Ak

2

RRFEIKERERRAGRD

RTIBERTEBRRKRRAS !

0}

(i)

TABERM—BREULRREERBRN
EENIENEER (FAMAVBEEAM
LRENRIRES —H12218) XEEE
EXR> EEERATIAXRE B HKRAFM
EAEEEZZRENRER THRELE
RUALTHES  ERHEEBRPHALRE
REREZEARFABRNRERTREKR
ERENEATDREFDR+DZ—HY
BREE BER—FRFHH) ;K

ER—%BREBAEERNARBRE

(HEAREAN) BERARREBNETE
MEE (FEAMAVHAFIZHEIRR
ImES—#2218) XREEEER - E@
BERAVARGENRFMEREEH
FREARRR THREHERHALER
B HRHEEBRNALTREREREH
BRAAEREARRRARERENSE
ABRERDIR+DZ—HIRER (%
BR—F5H) -

78 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT R4S 1aHE R

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the
meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
holding not less than one-tenth of the voting rights,
on a one vote per share basis, in the share capital of
the Company, may convene the general meeting in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which the
meeting may be convened by the Board provided that
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 23 August 2022, a special resolution was passed by
the shareholders of the Company approving certain
amendments to the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association (“M&A"), with the aim (i) to bring
the M&A in line with the core shareholder protection
standards set out in Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules
which took effect on 1 January 2022; and (ii) to better
align the M&A with the provisions of the Listing Rules
and the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands. Details
of the amendments were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 14 June 2022 and circular dated 20
July 2022. The amended and restated M&A is available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The board of directors (“Board”) presents its report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries, associate and
joint ventures are set out in notes 51, 19 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and review on the business activities
of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
including the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development
in the Group’s business are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement (on pages 6 to 12), Operations Review (on
pages 13 to 45), Financial Review (on pages 46 to 52) and
the notes to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided
in the Financial Highlights (on page 5) and Operations
Review (on page 13) of this annual report.

Details of the Group’s financial risk management are
disclosed in note 49 to the consolidated financial
statements.

No material event affecting the Group has occurred since
the year end date.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on page 124.

The first interim dividend of HK2.5 cents per share (2022:
HK2.5 cents per share) amounting to HK$27,692,000 were
paid to the shareholders during the year.

The Board has declared a second interim dividend (in
lieu of a final dividend) of HK5.0 cents per share for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK5.0 cents per share)
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members on 11 July 2023. The second interim dividend
will be paid on 24 July 2023.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 128.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution
to shareholders as at 31 March 2023 comprised the
aggregate of share premium and accumulated profits of
HK$896,556,000 (2022: HK$814,667,000).

Under the articles of association of the Company,
dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits
of the Company, realised or unrealised, or from any
reserves set aside from profits which the directors of the
Company determine is no longer needed. Dividends may
also be declared and paid out of share premium account
subject to a solvency test as set out in section 34 of the
Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MATTERS

The Company has established since 2013 the corporate
social responsibility committee to formulate the Group’s
environmental and social strategies and policies as well as
to oversee the implementation undertaken by the safety
and environmental department, and corporate social
responsibility and communications department. For more
details of the Group’s performance and management
approach regarding the environmental and social aspects,
please refer to the environmental, social and governance
report 2022/2023 of the Company which is published
together with this annual report.
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Environmental Policy and Performance

The Group has been adopting environmental and
energy-related policies in accordance with ISO 14001
Environmental Management System certified by Hong
Kong Quality Assurance Agency (“HKQAA") since 2002,
and ISO 50001 Energy Management System certified
by Hong Kong Certification Services International
Limited since 2013. These policies have stated plainly the
direction and guidelines for corresponding subsidiaries of
the Company to follow on a gradual basis.

We strive for better environmental performance every
year. In 2022/2023, our performances were widely
recognised. The Group clinched the Sustainable
Corporate (Environmental) Outstanding Award of
the 2022 Standard Chartered Corporate Achievement
Awards, presented by Standard Chartered Bank.
Our Construction Division was awarded HKCA Hong
Kong Construction Environmental Awards - 2022
Environmental Merit Award presented by the Hong Kong
Construction Association (“HKCA"), and a project of the
Construction Division was accredited Final Gold rating
under BEAM Plus New Buildings Version 1.2 certified
by the Hong Kong Green Building Council, while our
head office sustained the Indoor Air Quality Certificate
(Excellent Class) issued by the Environmental Protection
Department.

Social Policy and Performance

The board statement on sustainability was signed by the
Managing Director and issued in 2022 to demonstrate
the Group's determination in committing to sustainability
covering both the social and environmental aspects
in view to achieving the long-term benefits of our
stakeholders and the community. The statement is
regularly reviewed to ensure it aligns with our Company'’s
vision, mission and values, the up-to-date regulatory
requirements and evolving stakeholders’ expectations.
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Safety and health stand affirmation as two top priorities
in the Group’s sustainability journey. The Group has
been implementing safe and hygienic measures in our
offices and construction sites in accordance with 1SO
45001 Occupational Health and Safety Management
System certified by HKQAA since 2021. The Construction
Division was awarded the 1st Runner-up and 2nd Runner-
up in the Team Event of the Safety Quiz 2022 organised
by Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers and
HKCA.

We have been investing in the community by means of
organising and participating in community activities,
serving the underprivileged, elderly, teenagers, children,
and schools. Sponsorship and donations in terms
of financial or in-kind support are made to charity
organisations or non-governmental organisations. With
the support from the Group’s staff and their family
members, our corporate volunteer team continues to
grow and make contributions to society. The Group was
awarded the Social Capital Builder Logo Award of the
Social Capital Builder Awards 2022-24, presented by the
Community Investment and Inclusion Fund of Home
and Youth Affairs Bureau. The Construction Division
was awarded the Caring Company Logo presented by
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service for fourteen
consecutive years.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to complying with all relevant
laws and regulations imposed by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC"”). We conduct on-
going reviews of the newly enacted or revised laws
and regulations, and we provide relevant training and
guidance to our staff as appropriate.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
BUSINESS PARTNERS AND OTHERS

The Group treasures the relationship with all
stakeholders and endeavours to engage them through
different initiatives and channels. In particular, we value
our human capital. As our long-term talent pipeline
strategy, we frequently review and deliver competitive
compensation and benefits, remuneration packages,
training and development, and staff engagement
activities to attract, nurture, and retain talents and
employees.

A long-standing relationship with business partners can
bring benefits for the Group as well as for suppliers and
customers. In addition to maintaining trusted business
relationship, we also engage our business partners in the
pursuit of better performance in business operations,
environmental impact, and community investment.

The Group has been encouraging staff to serve as
volunteers especially in the community where we are
operating. Constructive site-community relationship is
definitely our priority. We maintain close communications
with the stakeholders in the community and work closely
with relevant parties to initiate programmes aiming to
address the community’s concerns.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company'’s former share option scheme (“2011 Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company on 21
September 2011 and was terminated on 25 August 2020.
Share options granted prior to the termination continue
to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms
of the 2011 Share Option Scheme.
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The Company adopted a new share option scheme
("Existing Scheme”) on 25 August 2020, all executive
or non-executive directors and full-time employees of,
and consultants employed on a contract basis by, any
member of the Group are eligible to participate in the
Existing Scheme. No options have been granted under
the Existing Scheme since its adoption.

The purpose of the Existing Scheme is to provide the
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interest in the Company and to encourage them to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and our
shareholders as a whole.

(a) Maximum number of shares available for
issue

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Existing Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue on the date of the approval of the
Existing Scheme, subject to renewal as approved by
the shareholders of the Company. The total number
of shares available for issue under the Existing
Scheme is 109,092,467, which represents 9.99% of
the issued shares of the Company as at the date of
this annual report.

(b) Maximum entitlement of each participant

(1) The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares
in issue unless otherwise approved by the
shareholders of the Company.
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(2) Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”), would result in the
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options already granted and to be granted
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1%
(or such other percentage as may from
time to time be specified by the Stock
Exchange) of the Company’s shares in
issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the shares of the
Company on the date of grant, in excess
of HK$5.0 million (or such other amount
as may from time to time be specified by
the Stock Exchange),

such grant of options shall be subject to
prior approval by the shareholders of the
Company, such grantee, his associates and all
core connected persons of the Company shall
abstain from voting at such general meeting.

(c) Option period

The period within which the grantee may exercise
the option shall be notified by the Board to the
grantee at the time of making an offer, but such
period shall not expire later than ten years from the
date of grant.
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(i) WEFEXFQRBFRORFXLBH
ZWHESRE BEEBRE
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(d)

(e)

4

(9)

88

Time of exercise of option

At the time of making an offer, the Company must
specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which
an option under the Existing Scheme must be held
before it can be exercised in whole or in part.

Amount payable on acceptance of offer

A payment to the Company of HK$1 as
consideration for the grant shall be paid on the
acceptance of the offer by the grantee. The offer
of grant of option must be accepted within 14 days
(or such other period of days as determined by the
Board from time to time) after the date of offer.

Basis of determining exercise price of option

The exercise price of the option shall be no less than
the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company

on the date of grant.

Remaining life of Existing Scheme

The Existing Scheme has a life of ten years
commencing on the adoption date and will expire
on 24 August 2030 unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms of the Existing Scheme.

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)
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Details of the movement of share options under the 2011

FR B -——BRESSIETZEREZ

Share Option Scheme during the year are as follows: SEFBUWT :
Approximate
percentage
of issued
share
Balance Exercised Balance capital
as at during as at (Note i)
Exercise 142022 the year Lapsed 313203 EEET
Name or category price RZEZZF (Note if) during RZBZ=% RA&L
of participants Date of grant pershare  Exercise period (Vote | mA-B RERTE theyear =HA=+—H BALE
SHEEMRREY b=k SRITEE  TEEE ) 258 (ki) RERKH A (Wiztiv)
Directors of the Company
RRFZES
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson 5.9.2017 HK$1.54 5.9.2017 t0 4.9.2022 5,192,000 (5,192,000 - - -
BiE —2—tFnAEA B4t ZZ—tEAARAE
—EZ”FAAMA
18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 5,454,000 - - 5,454,000 0.49%
“Z-hE+BA+NR  BE11er ZE-AE+A+/\BE
“ZZMETA+ER
Tai Sai Ho 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 5,454,000 - - 5,454,000 0.49%
R ZZ-AETA+TAR BE1en ZE-AEHR+N\HE
“Z_mE+A+tR
Chow Ka Fung 5.9.2017 HK$1.54 5.9.2017 t0 4.9.2022 1,485,000 - (1,485,000) - -
BEZ —2—tFnAEA B4t ZZ—tEAARAE
—EZ”FAAMA
18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 1,898,000 - - 1,898,000 0.17%
“Z-hE+BA+NR  BE11er ZE-AE+A+/\BE
“ZZMETA+ER
Chan Pak Joe 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 1,090,000 - - 1,090,000 0.09%
Bfatk Z-nE+HATNE BE¥11en ZE-AETA+/\BE
“2_mE+A+tER
Lau Tze Yiu, Peter 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 905,000 (905,000) - - -
2ITHE “Z-hE+B+N\R  B¥11ex  ZE-AETA+/\RE
“Z-mE+A+tH
Sun Tai Lun 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 1,090,000 - - 1,090,000 0.09%
B “Z-hE+BA+NR  BE11er ZE-AE+A+/\BE
“ZZMETA+ER
22,568,000 (6,097,000) (1,485,0000 14,986,000
Employees of the Group 5.9.2017 HK$1.54 5.9.2017 t0 4.9.2022 1,321,000 - (1,321,000) - -
in aggregate ZE—tENAEA BE154r  —Z—tEAARRZE
FERZEELY ZZCZFAAMA
18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to0 17.10.2024 10,512,000 - (338,000 10,174,000 0.92%
“Z-AE+A+N\E  BE1ex  ZE-AE+A+H/N\BE
ZEMEHATLH
11,833,000 - (1,659,0000 10,174,000
Total 34,401,000 (6,097,000) (3,144,0000 25,160,000
i3t
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Notes:

(i)  The share options vested immediately on the respective
dates of grant.

(ii) The weighted average closing price of the Company’s
shares immediately before the dates of exercise of the
share options was HK$1.16 per share.

(iii) No share options were cancelled during the year.

(iv) The percentage is calculated based on the total number
of issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2023 (i.e.
1,096,286,676 shares).

The number of share options available for grant under
the Existing Scheme mandate as at 1 April 2022 and 31
March 2023 was 109,092,467.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS
OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no
outstanding convertible securities, warrants or similar
rights as at 31 March 2023 and there has been no issue or
exercise of any convertible securities, warrants or similar
rights during the year.

sk :
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF

LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company
repurchased a total of 20,644,000 shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange for a total consideration (before
expenses) of HK$23,866,520. All the shares repurchased
were subsequently cancelled. The directors of the
Company considered that the share repurchases would

enhance the net asset value per share and/or earnings
per share of the Company. Particulars of the share

repurchases are as follows:

FE - LEXEE LHhES

BE_ZE_—F=ZRA=4+—HLIEEE &2
BR3P El B8 & $£20,644,0008 &< A B] AR
1 HBARE CREtBIZ Al A 78123,866,520
ToFMBRENRHMERHYEFHE ARFAE
ERB RNMLDBBRERALRDISEREETF
B/ NEREF - RMNEIEZFBUNT :

Total

consideration

Purchase price per share (before

EREERE expenses)

Number Highest Lowest BRE

of shares =) RIE  CRetBXAD)

repurchased HK$ HK$ HK$

Month A BEERMEE ok ok A
September 2022 _E__&EhRB 2,568,000 1.16 1.15 2,972,540
October 2022 “E""%+AH 772,000 1.16 1.14 894,240
November 2022 “E_"%+-R 966,000 1.12 1.06 1,056,580
December 2022 T "H+TH 2,932,000 1.16 1.12 3,392,800
January 2023 -y = 1,602,000 1.16 1.14 1,857,720
February 2023 —_E”_=%"H 5,896,000 1.16 - 6,839,360
March 2023 _T”_-&=H 5,908,000 1.16 - 6,853,280
Total st 20,644,000 23,866,520

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any

of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31

March 2023.

BREIXFKREEN BE_T_=ZF=A
=+—HLEEE  AATHEEAMBELF
HMEREE - HEXBOERNELAT 2 LHE
%o
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this annual report are:

Non-executive Chairman
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager)

Mr. Chow Ka Fung

Non-executive Director
Dr. Lam Chat Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Pak Joe

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter

Dr. Sun Tai Lun

Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony (appointed on 18 April 2023)

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart, Mr. Chow
Ka Fung and Dr. Lam Chat Yu shall retire from office by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
In accordance with Article 99 of the Company’s articles
of association, Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony who was
appointed by the Board on 18 April 2023, shall hold
office until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his appointment. All the retiring directors,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

EF
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DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

Details of directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31
March 2023 are set out in note 12(i) to the consolidated
financial statements. For the year ended 31 March 2023,
the emoluments of the senior management, whose
biographical details are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section
below, fell within the following bands:

EFRETITHM

BE_ZE_-—F=-RA=+—HILEE -BFMH#H
EEME2HFBHIN G EMBRRME
120 BE_TE_=F=B=+—HILEFE"
BREBABZHN (HEERFBHNTX
BEEREREEABRBE —&) JIIAMUT
47 -

Number of individuals

A¥

2023 2022
ZEI=HF —EF

Emoluments of (Note)

Senior Management by Bands SHREEABZEM4ER (H152)
Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 BB % 1,000,0007T - 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 78#%1,000,0017c-7811,500,0007T 7 3
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 711,500,001 12,000,0007T 2 2
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 78 1#2,000,0017T-7#12,500,0007T 3 5
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 78 #%4,500,0017T-7815,000,0007T 1 -

Note: Including two members of the senior management
retired/resigned before the date of this report.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’' INFORMATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF
LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listings Rules, the
changes in the information of the directors of the
Company are set out below:

(1)  Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson has been appointed as
a director of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM
Trust”), a substantial shareholder of the Company
discloseable under Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), with effect from 5
December 2022.

Mizf: BERARSAPMNRE BENWH

EREEAR

B EHHRBE13.51B(1)IFHE
EREHZEBHBR

B EHRAE1351B(MNERE  AAEE
EENZEFEIIWMT

(1) ERELEECEZEACCM Trust
(Cayman) Limited (TCCM Trust)) BE
=, CCM Trust JHIRIBEH RIS K
(MR HFREAERAF)) EXVEEFIRE
NARBEFERF - B_E__F+=
BRB®EEK-
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(2) The monthly salaries of the executive directors,
namely Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart, Mr. Tai Sai
Ho and Mr. Chow Ka Fung were increased by 5%,
4.96% and 4.96% respectively, all with effect from
1 April 2023 as compared with those of the last year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Directors

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson, aged 71, is the Chairman
and non-executive director of the Company. He joined
the Company since November 2001. Mr. Cha has over 40
years of experience in venture capital and investment
management and is currently the chairman of C.M.
Capital Advisors (HK) Limited. He is a non-executive
director of HKR International Limited (“HKRI”) and
Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited (“Million
Hope”). The securities of HKRI and Million Hope are listed
on the Stock Exchange. He is a director of CCM Trust
and LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited (“LBJ”, formerly known
as LBJ Regents Limited), and a non-executive director of
Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”). Each of CCM Trust, LB)J
and Mingly is a substantial shareholder of the Company
discloseable under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Cha is also
an independent non-executive director of Shanghai
Commercial Bank Limited and a director of a number
of other companies in Hong Kong and overseas. He is
a member in non-profit organisations including Qiu Shi
Science & Technologies Foundation and Moral Education
Concern Group, and a co-opted external member to the
Finance Committee of the Council and a member to the
University Court of The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology.

(2 PITEFTIHELRE BUHELEERA
REERENBHRAEXEMRLL S BIIE M
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Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart, aged 77, joined the Group in
1989 and is the Managing Director of the Company. Mr.
Wong also serves as the chairman of the General Business
Committee and the Property Acquisition/Disposal
Committee, and a member of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr.
Wong is the chairman and non-executive director of
Million Hope, whose securities are listed on the Stock
Exchange. Before he joined the Group, he was a director
for several listed companies and a director of HKRI
(whose securities are listed on the Stock Exchange) until
his resignation in December 2001. He is also a director
of various subsidiaries of the Company. He has extensive
experience in the construction and real estate fields.
Mr. Wong holds a bachelor degree in science from San
Diego State University and a master degree of science in
civil engineering from Carnegie Mellon University in the
United States of America. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Construction Managers (MHKICM).

Mr. Tai Sai Ho (Alias: David), aged 71, is an executive
director and the General Manager of the Company.
Mr. Tai also serves as a member/the acting chairman
of the General Business Committee and the Property
Acquisition/Disposal Committee; and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Tai joined the Group in
1989 and has extensive experience in public and private
sectors of the building and civil engineering industries
in Hong Kong. Mr. Tai is a non-executive director of
Million Hope, whose securities are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Tai holds a master degree in business
administration from Asia International Open University
in Macau, a master degree in construction management
from University of New South Wales in Australia and a
bachelor degree in civil engineering from National Cheng
Kung University in Taiwan. Mr. Tai is a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors (FHKIoD) and the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers (FHKICM).

FHEBREE77HR R—NAN\NEMALRE
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Mr. Chow Ka Fung (Alias: Matthew), aged 54, is an
executive director of the Company since March 2021.
Mr. Chow has been serving the Group from 1998. He
oversees the Property Development Division, Property
Investment Division as well as Property Agency and
Management Division. He also serves as a member
of the General Business Committee and the Property
Acquisition/Disposal Committee, and is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chow specialises
in property development, investment, marketing,
management and project management in Hong Kong
and the PRC. He holds a bachelor of science degree in
land management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Chow is a Registered Professional Surveyor
(General Practice) (Property and Facility Management)
under the Surveyor Registration Board (RPS). He is
also a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (MRICS), a member of China Institute of Real
Estate Appraisers and Agents (MCIREA), a member of
the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (MCIArb) and a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS).

Dr. Lam Chat Yu (Alias: Chat), aged 71, has been a non-
executive director of the Company since March 2021.
Dr. Lam joined the Group in November 2001 as an
executive director of the Company and was re-designated
as a non-executive director since August 2013 until he
resigned in December 2015. Dr. Lam is specialised in the
areas of direct investment, financial advisory, and asset
management. He has extensive investment experience
in the technology sector, including 15 years in Silicon
Valley, California, and over 20 years in Asia. Dr. Lam
holds a Ph.D. degree of Management Science from MIT
Sloan School of Management, M.S degree in Computer
Science from Northwestern University and a B.S degree of
Electrical Engineering.
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Mr. Chan Pak Joe, aged 70, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since November
2001. Mr. Chan also serves as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chan has been an executive director of The
Luk Hoi Tong Company, Limited since 1973. Mr. Chan is
the founder of the “Li Zhi Bursary” of Tsinghua University
in the PRC. He is also the Vice-Chairman of “Love Relay
Grant-in-Aid” of Fudan University in the PRC since
September 2005. His community services include having
served as a director of YMCA and as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee of
the Hong Kong Housing Society.

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter, aged 64, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since September
2004. Dr. Lau also acts as the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Dr.
Lau was the Associate Dean of the School of Business
of the Hong Kong Baptist University. He serves as
Adjunct Professor in the School of Business of the Hong
Kong Baptist University. He holds a bachelor degree
in commerce from Saint Mary’'s University in Canada,
a master degree in business administration from
Dalhousie University in Canada and a doctorate degree
of philosophy in accounting from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong. He is a member of The Chartered
Professional Accountants of Ontario (CPA, CA) in Canada,
a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants
of British Columbia (CPA, CMA) in Canada, a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (FCPA), and an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong (ATIHK). He was also
a president (1992-1993) of the City Lions Club of Hong
Kong.
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Dr. Sun Tai Lun (Alias: Dennis), aged 72, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company
since November 2001. Dr. Sun also serves as the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Dr. Sun is the chairman of China-Hongkong
Photo Products Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange. Dr. Sun has extensive experience
in the photographic products industry. He holds a
Doctor of Pharmacy in the University of Oklahoma,
USA and a Doctorate Degree in Philosophy in Business
Administration from Southern California University for
Professional Studies, USA. He is the Vice Patron of the
Community Chest of Hong Kong since 1999, the Honorary
Fellow of City University of Hong Kong and Chapter
Honoree of City University of Hong Kong Chapter of
Beta Gamma Sigma. Dr. Sun had served as the chairman
(November 2009 - October 2015) of the Advisory
Committee on Travel Agents and the Court member
(January 2010 — December 2015) of City University of
Hong Kong. Dr. Sun was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia
Star in 1999 and appointed as The Justice of the Peace in
2002.
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Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony, aged 71, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company
since April 2023. He is the third president of King
Abdullah University of Science and Technology (“KAUST")
since September 2018. He is on the Board of Trustees/
Directors of: KAUST Investment Management Company,
US; King Abdulaziz City for Science & Technology, Future
Investment Initiative (FIl Institute), KSA; Riyadh BioTech
City, KSA; Skolkovo, Russia; The Hong Kong Academy
of Sciences and Yidan Prize Foundation, Hong Kong.
He is (was) on the Advisory Board/Committee of the
Academic Ranking of World Universities, China; King
Fahd University of Petroleum & Minerals, KSA; Korea
Advanced Institute of Science & Technology, Korea;
NEOM, KSA (2018-2020); Saudi Data and Al (SDAIA)
Supervisory National Strategy Committee of Data and
Al, Saudi Arabia; RIKEN, Japan; SUSTech, China and
University of Vienna (2015-2020). Dr. Chan is the only
non-Saudi member of KSA's new Research Development
and Innovation Supreme Committee, an ambitious plan
to restructure and upgrade KSA's RDI ecosystem. He was
a co-founder, Director (2000-2001) and Board member
(2009-2020) of the US NSF Math Institute IPAM.

Before KAUST, Dr. Chan was the president of The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology (2009-
2018), and Assistant Director of the Mathematical and
Physical Sciences Directorate at the US National Science
Foundation (2006-2009). Dr. Chan taught Computer
Science at Yale University before joining UCLA as
Professor of Mathematics in 1986 and was the Chair of
the Department of Mathematics in 1997 and Dean of
Physical Sciences (1991-1996).

Dr. Chan received his BS and MS degrees in Engineering
from Caltech and his Ph.D. in Computer Science from
Stanford University. He is a member of US National
Academy of Engineering, a Fellow of IEEE, American
Association for the Advancement of Science and Society
for Industrial & Applied Math. Dr. Chan was awarded
the 2020 SIAM Prize for Distinguished Service to the
Profession, and the Honorary Doctorates from University
of Strathclyde (2015) and University of Waterloo (2022).
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Senior Management

Mr. Au Yiu Man, aged 62, joined the Group in 1990. He
is a director of the Interior and Renovation Division of
the Group and has extensive experience in the building
industry in Hong Kong. He holds a higher diploma in civil
engineering (municipal) and endorsement certificate in
design of reinforced concrete & steel structures from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Chan Yiu Kei, Charles, aged 57, joined the Group
in 2010. He is a director of the Construction Division
of the Group. He has over 29 years of experience in
human resources management, employee training
and development, organisation development and
consultation in Hong Kong. He also involves in corporate
social responsibility and ESG reporting in the latest
decade. He holds a Master of Social Science from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of
Science in Human Resource Management and Training
from University of Leicester in United Kingdom and
a Postgraduate Diploma in Management Consulting
and Change from The University of Hong Kong. He is
a graduate of Corporate Coaching Program (CCP) of
Corporate Coach U Canada, a Certified Administrator
of The Myers-Briggs Type Indicator (MBTI), a Certified
Behavioral Consultant (DISC) of the Institute for
Motivational Living, a Certified Management Consultant
(CMCQC) of Institute of Management Consultants, a
professional member (MIHRM) of Hong Kong Institute of
Human Resource Management, and a Fellow & Certified
Sustainable Development Planner of World Institute of
Sustainable Development Planners.

Mr. Cheung Hok Chuen, aged 53, joined the Group in
1999. He is a director of the Construction Division and
Building Materials Division of the Group. Mr. Cheung
has comprehensive experience in the building industry
in Hong Kong. He holds a BSc in surveying from The
University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Cheung Yiu Pan, aged 58, joined the Group in 2006.
He is a director of the Interior and Renovation Division
of the Group. Mr. Cheung has extensive experience in
the building industry in Hong Kong. He holds a bachelor
degree in quantity surveying from Edinburgh Napier
University and a master degree in construction and real
estate from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Choi Siu Fai, aged 36, joined the Group in 2015. He
oversees the Group’s finance and accounting function
and is a director of the Health Products Division of the
Group. He has over 14 years of experience in finance and
accounting. He holds a BBA in Professional Accountancy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and is a
Certified Public Accountant of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA).

Mr. Ho Chi Tong, aged 58, joined the Group in 1998.
He is a director of the Construction Division, Building
Materials Division and Interior and Renovation Division
of the Group. He has extensive experience in quantity
surveying consultancy and construction contracting.
He holds a professional diploma in quantity surveying
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a
Registered Professional Surveyor (QS) under the Surveyor
Registration Board (RPS) and a member of The Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (MRICS) and Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS).

Mr. Kong Wing Kin, aged 49, joined the Group in 1996.
He is a director of the Interior and Renovation Division of
the Group and has extensive experience in the building
industry in Hong Kong. He holds an associate degree in
facilities management from the City University of Hong
Kong, a professional diploma in occupational safety and
health from the Hong Kong Baptist University and a
bachelor degree in building surveying from the University
of Reading/The College of Estate Management in United
Kingdom. He is a member of Hong Kong Institute
of Construction Managers (MHKICM), The Chartered
Institute of Building (MCIOB), and Chartered Association
of Building Engineers (MCABE).
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Mr. Lam Chiu Yat, Paul, aged 59, joined the Group in
2000. He is a director of the Building Materials Division of
the Group. He has over 32 years of experience in project
management. He holds a Bachelor of Building from
University of New South Wales.

Mr. Lin Tai Ning, Raymond, aged 58, joined the Group
in 2008. He is a director of the Property Agency and
Management Division of the Group. Mr. Lin has extensive
experience in project management. He holds a bachelor
degree in arts (architectural studies) and a bachelor
degree in architecture from The University of Hong Kong.
He is a Registered Architect of The Hong Kong Institute
of Architects.

Mr. Lun Tim Ho, aged 64, joined the Group in 1990 and
is a director of the Construction Division and Interior and
Renovation Division of the Group. Mr. Lun has extensive
experience in the construction field in Hong Kong and
the PRC. He holds an associateship and a higher diploma
in the building technology and management from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of
The Chartered Institute of Building (MCIOB), Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers (MHKICM), Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (MRICS), The Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS), and The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers — Building (MHKIE).

Mr. Wong Ping Chung, aged 52, joined the Group in
1996. He oversees the Group’s information technology
function and is a director of the Health Products Division
of the Group. He has over 24 years of experience in
information technology. He holds a Master of Business
Information Technology from Curtin University.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests of the directors of
the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO were as
follows:

EFNAM Bk REEEZ
EmEaRe

RIB_=ZF=ZA=+—H ' ARAEERN
TRBZROKREMRKRMFERLHEIRER
BIRBESRAEHRMNEI2RAFEZE
oA Z BT ¢

() RE2TRBZEFE

(i) Long position in the shares of the Company

Approximate
percentage of
issued share

capital
Number of Total number (Note v)
ordinary of ordinary  {EERTIRAE
Name Capacity shares held shares held Baaat
4 51 TS EREE FrsTEREH (Hiiv)
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson Beneficial owner 14,155,500
EiE BREEA
Beneficiary of discretionary trusts 539,500,961 553,656,461 50.50%
HNEETZZEA (Note )
(Hizti)
Wong Sue Toa, Stewart Beneficial owner 48,704,157
Fits BREEA
Interest of controlled corporation 4,270,975
RSBz R (Note i)
(Hiatii)
Interest of spouse 5,485,487 58,460,619 5.33%
foBrm (Note iif)
(Witiii)
Tai Sai Ho Beneficial owner 17,385,721 17,385,721 1.58%
Bts BREEA
Chow Ka Fung Beneficial owner 2,394,000 2,394,000 0.21%
BEZ BHEBEBA
Lam Chat Yu Beneficial owner 318,000
WEF BREEA
Interest held jointly with another person 2,140,000 2,458,000 0.22%
BHMATHEFEz S (Note iv)
(Hiztiv)
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Approximate

percentage of

issued share

capital

Number of Total number (Note v)
ordinary of ordinary B H{TRA

Name Capacity shares held shares held SR
i B FIFEERHME FIFTEREH (Hiztv)
Chan Pak Joe Beneficial owner 2,830,100 2,830,100 0.25%
BBk BREEBA

Lau Tze Yiu, Peter Beneficial owner 5,110,950 5,110,950 0.46%
2712 BRERAA

Sun Tai Lun Beneficial owner 3,078,000 3,078,000 0.28%
YN BREBA

Notes: F5E

(i)  These shares are held under certain but not identical () ZERMHBETARARNBELFREF

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

discretionary trusts, of which Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson is among the members of the class of
discretionary beneficiaries.

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart’s corporate interests in
the Company arise from the fact that he owns 50%
of the share capital of Executive Plaza Limited, which
holds 4,270,975 shares of the Company.

These shares are held by Ms. Wong Lui Kwok Wai,
the spouse of Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart.

These shares are held by Dr. Lam Chat Yu jointly with
his spouse Ms. Lam Elizabeth Mona.

The percentage is calculated based on the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at 31
March 2023 (i.e. 1,096,286,676 shares).

B ERMBAEERETFARANIBER
ZHBEREAEREPZRE -

(i) FTHELREELRRAZRA#ERZ=Z
ERHEBEHERERFARAAN
50%RAMFEE > ZARFELRAT
4,270,975 B& 15 ©

(i) ZERVAFTHBELREZEBESTH
2¥LHEE-

(iv) ZERMEMEFELRAEBIEN
Bz T HEFA -

vy BALBREAQABDNRIZZ=F
ZR=+—BE#17KRH4E (A
1,096,286,6768% A& 1%) 5T & -
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(ii) Share options

Directors’ interests in share options are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of
the directors and chief executive of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Nor any of the
directors and the chief executive had any interest in, or
had been granted any right to subscribe for the securities
of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) or had exercised any
such right during the year ended 31 March 2023.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits (including debentures) of the Company
or any other body corporate and none of the directors
or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year.

(-1:°2; -4

EENBEBREZEDEN X ERE
stEI—He

BREXFIIRBEEN R-_ZT_=ZF=A
=+—B A RAEERESITHRAERE
RARBDHEERBEER (EEREFHFR
HAGRBISBXVER) Z B {7 « R (D KA1
FHEALBERARRREESRAERNE
2R AFEZECMA > AR E _ EHFRAK
BTz EHETAEFETESFTSN
RETRIBNE R AT R MR 2 R A=
FRB - BE_ZT_=F=A=+—HLEF
ER EEAEFSARSITHRABRER
BIREMAEEE (EERESKMERAS
XVE) 2SR AR AR ER TEM
EARBBE AT REEBERZBSHET
EERBREER -

AR B Be 0 sl Rt sE 2 B HF

bR EXCTRERRHEST B —BAFTIREE SN XA
FERAEAERE AQFHEEAME QT
WERERERARBEZEING UL A AT E
ENRERFHEMEMAB 27 m (B
E#E  TEEFHRFZEB/BIRMHT/\
RZFREAARDBERQB BT ZEAER
R ERBITREEMZSER -

L5 A 0 42 3 I 28 ) 2022/2023%E 105



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS i i & Hi 1k &

INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER SFO

So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 March
2023, in addition to those interests of the directors and
chief executive of the Company as disclosed above, the
interests of the shareholders in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

WRigEsF RERGIRHIA FIRERIAR
Rigm

BARBRAN - R_B_=F=A=+—H>
BREXFIRBEARRDEZTARSITRAEZ
ZEEmI RRNR A AB RN KBRS
hEA BRI ABRBES RAERNE
BelFAFEZECMEZMT ¢

RERXBRMBZEE

Approximate
percentage of
issued share capital

(Note v)
Number of HERTRE
Name Capacity ordinary shares held BB
2y &1 FriFg AR E (Hiztv)
CCM Trust Trustee 487,702,041 44.48%
fE5TA (Note i)
Interest of controlled corporations (Hzi)
RIEEEZ
Mingly Interest of controlled corporation 104,243,301 9.50%
LB ER (Note ii)
(Ht32ii)
Mingly Asia Capital Limited  Beneficial owner 104,243,301 9.50%
("Mingly Asia”) EREEA
LBJ Trustee 67,829,571 6.18%
fE5TA (Note iii)
Interest of controlled corporation (W &iii)
RIEEEZ
Wong Lui Kwok Wai Beneficial owner 58,460,619 5.33%
ITEER Bm#EAA (Note iv)
Interest of controlled corporation (Hiztiv)

RELE S
Interest of spouse
FofEfm
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Notes:

0]

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

These share interests comprise 383,458,740 shares directly
held by CCM Trust and 104,243,301 shares held indirectly
through Mingly’s wholly-owned subsidiary. CCM Trust is
interested in 87.5% equity interest in Mingly. CCM Trust
is holding the 383,458,740 shares as the trustee of certain
but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of
the Cha Family (comprising, inter alios, Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson (the Chairman of the Company)) are among the
discretionary objects.

These share interests are held by Mingly indirectly through
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Mingly Asia.

These share interests comprise 61,022,931 shares directly
held by LBJ and 6,806,640 shares held indirectly through
Bie Ju Enterprises Limited, its wholly-owned subsidiary. LBJ
is holding the 61,022,931 shares as the trustee of certain
but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of
the Cha Family (comprising, inter alios, Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson (the Chairman of the Company)) are among the
discretionary objects.

Ms. Wong Lui Kwok Wai is the spouse of Mr. Wong
Sue Toa, Stewart and is deemed under the SFO to be
interested in 48,704,157 shares beneficially owned by her
spouse. Ms. Wong is personally interested in 5,485,487
shares and owns 50% equity interest in Executive Plaza
Limited which is holding 4,270,975 shares of the Company.

The percentage is calculated based on the total number
of issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2023 (i.e.
1,096,286,676 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the
Company has not been notified by any persons (other
than the directors and chief executive of the Company)
who had any interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

sk :

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, the interests of the directors (not
being the independent non-executive directors) of the
Company in businesses which compete or were likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the principal
businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules were as follows:

EFNRERBPZzES

FEERARABDER BIUFATESR
S RBEAERTEEFERNHEZARS

Mo AT AE

P MIRE EHRAAT R

BzEMEZPHEEZEZNT

Name of
Name of director (Note ) ~ company Nature of interest Competing business (Note /i)
BERME (i) AR EaEME PR (Wati)
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson HKRI Director of HKRI and a member of the class of (@) Property development and
B EREYE discretionary beneficiaries of certain but not investment
identical discretionary trusts of which the NEEBRILE
trustees are deemed substantial shareholders
of HKRI under Part XV of the SFO (b) Property management, leasing
BRBEREERETAANBEEEZNREREA and marketing services
BRIZRRE MREES REERAEXVE &% MEEE - HERTHERERS
ERAZEXANERATBELEIERR
Notes: MdE
(i) Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson is a non-executive director () EBERELEABEAQATIEFPTES  BRIES
of the Company, who is not involved in the daily HAEFRHEESE TRt xATIGEN
management of the Group. Accordingly, the Company is EREHERRBIUMN EMERIMHERT
capable of carrying its businesses independently of, and HATFEELK S
at arm’s length from the abovementioned competing
businesses.
In addition, Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart held share LS s FHERERBETFIANE AT (MZEF
interests and directorships in certain private companies EAT I NEYERLBERRBERANAZIEE
("Private Companies”) which engage in property EEFAERERETESHE BARERTE
investment and serviced apartment or hotel operation. EETRIUNZENEANTINEETHES
As the Board of the Company is independent of the FZHEMEZEINVEATINEBEESTEE
boards of the Private Companies and has a different (AT EEETH=ZLHTEST MBIEH
board composition to the respective boards of the Private TEERUEBILIFHITESRER) » A F
Companies (the Board of the Company comprises three FEBUNZENERTNEFLIRATFEE
executive directors, two non-executive directors and IR H TR
four independent non-executive directors), the Company
operates its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from the businesses of the Private Companies.
(i) Such businesses may be made through subsidiaries, (i) ZEEFITETEWBATIRHMBATILE
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts that are
significant in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its parent
company or any subsidiary of its parent company was
a party and in which a director of the Company or his
connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION AND
INSURANCE

The Company’s articles of association provides that every
director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him as a director or other officer of the Company in
defending any proceedings, in which judgment is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. Such permitted
indemnity provision is in force during the year ended 31
March 2023 and at the date of this annual report.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liabilities insurance coverage for directors and
officers of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme described above, the
Group has not entered into any equity-linked agreements
during the year.

EFNXB RSNz

ERBHEEAMBLAR -EBATRNEE
REZEAM B AR MET L LR EFESR
B BARRESENHBAEEENRERE
BREEEAEARTMNAFEERTEZA
HAEFEREFBFEDAERZEMERR
RS A=

TR E RS R R

FABZEBERMURE  xRBRESR
HEHMSRBEAEEEATEERREE
RERBDEFHHEHMSRBETEAIBFN
EHERZEARRPETRRMEERR
RZ—UBELXFIEFESHE-RBE_Z
_=F=A=+—HLEEEARRKEERH
> AREAEFRERX—EAR -

FAANERAFATNEFRBRBEABEEE
MEEREREEETRIRIEARE.
Rt s tnE

bR Lt BE AR ST B SN ) REE N E R HEET
AR HN TR o
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for undertaking the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for about 68% of the turnover of the Group
and the largest customer is an independent third party,
accounted for about 42% of the turnover of the Group.
Aggregate purchases for the year ended 31 March 2023
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were less
than 30%.

None of the directors, their respective close associates,
or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) has any interest in the five largest
customers and suppliers of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the requirements of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in making
mandatory contributions for its staff. Details of charges
relating to the retirement benefits schemes are set out in
note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.22 OF

LISTING RULES

The financial assistance to affiliated companies of the

Company, and guarantees given for banking facilities

granted to affiliated companies of the Company named

in the first column in the table below, in aggregate
amounted to approximately HK$3,082,000,000 which
represented approximately 50.0% of the total assets of
the Company at 31 March 2023. Details of which are as

follows:

RIE EHRAE13.220F (FH Z 3%

i

RIEZ=F=RA=+—H AExaa i
BARREZMBEEHRMEBETFTLITERE
BWZEARBEZHMBABZIRITHEFHZIE
{R4BEEA A 7 153,082,000,0007 » HMEER
BATZHEELS0.0%  BRIEBEWNT :

Total amount of financial
assistance given to,
committed capital injection

Company'’s to and guarantees given

equity interest for facilities granted to,

in affiliated affiliated company

company R B ARRMRZ

b /N MIFER EKERHE AT

RHMEAE FHZIBERMEFHBAT

Name of affiliated company NS REY 2Rt ZRBEL 2B RETE
HK$'000

BT

Great Splendor Enterprises Limited  Great Splendor Enterprises 50% 250,000
("Great Splendor”) Limited (T Great Splendor J) (Note 1)
and its subsidiaries REMEB AT (Htat1)
Flourishing Stable Limited BEARAR (TRE)) & 50% 1,000,000
(“Flourishing Stable *) HiftBAE (Note 2)
and its subsidiaries (Hiz22)
Hounor Advent Limited ZRARLAE (T8 & 50% 535,000
("Honour Advent”) HIE A E] (Note 3)
and its subsidiaries (H15£3)
Protic Limited (“Protic”) EEARAT (TEE) 50% 500,000
(Note 4)

(Hi524)

Esteemed Virtue Limited WERRAR (MAE) K& 50% 160,000
("Esteemed Virtue") HiftBAE (Note 5)
and its subsidiaries (H1525)
Excess Wonder Limited ZHAERAE (23 & 50% 637,000
("Excess Wonder") HIE A E] (Note 6)
and its subsidiaries (Hi526)
3,082,000

AL 55 ) e 2 P2 A7 B 23 ) 2022/20234 $it
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Notes:

112

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of Great Splendor concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of Flourishing Stable concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of Honour Advent concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of Protic concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of Esteemed Virtue concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of Excess Wonder concerned.

sk :

B RGreat SplendorFTiFE AR BEELE
ZEMESEE ERKIEEESIRENRE
S RELLSBEEAERHE-

EHBRERRSEAMREEEEZERNES
REZENKERERZANGEREZR
LA AEREE-

ERBBASEAMREEEEZERNES
REZENKERERZANGEREZR
LA AEREE-

EHERASEAMREEEEZERNES
REZENKERERZANGEREZR
LA AEREE-

BRSERSEAMREEEEZERNES
REZENKERERZANGEREZR
LA AEREE-

BERZHEMEAMREEEEZERNES
REZENKERERZANGEREZR
LA AEREE-
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The proforma combined statement of financial position

BB ARNR _E_=F=B=+—HZ

of the above affiliated companies at 31 March 2023 is as BEESHBBRRTRUOT
follows:
HK$'000
EBIEFT
Current assets REEE 2,899,145
Current liabilities nEaE (3,703,591)
Non-current assets ERHEE 629,232
Net liabilities BERE (175,214)
DONATIONS =B

During the year, the Group made charitable and other
donations amounting to HK$268,400 (2022: HK$224,958).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its directors, as
at the date of this report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the number
of the Company’s issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s articles of association, or the laws of
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RER ZEBEHESREMBIFERE
268,4007C (Z B 4 : #1£224,9587T) ©

RFARFFRE
REFABDMEGZABENRAFARAES
A RAREEZ AE AATBRELS

RAUBEMHIFTR LR ERBT EEHTRDEE
5% B AFRIFRE -

B {5 1B S ol S i
AT Z B EFR A S B 2 B B 56 i

BRI EBRDBBEZAZO RELATE
BIGIMRARREENRG
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AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart
Managing Director
20 June 2023

=R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 124 to 287, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

VA Y TR

=2

ZHANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS
LIMITED (E 5Bl R B R AR 2RIKRE
(REEEEAMAELZHIRALE)

BER

AIZHE (U THBIEM) BB H
MR 124E5%287EHanison Construction
Holdings Limited (Ef5EIEZERERAT)
UATEBIEAT)) RERBAE A T4H
BATEEE)) NRaMBHRE ILMBERE
BERS=F=BA=1+—HHHEREWE
RAREEEZHEFENGEEERR T
FREREMEZERER FEEREER
MizEREMERUKRGEAVBERERM T
BIEFEETBRME-

BARD ZFERaMBRREREETES
S AGRMEN(EBMBREERNNEE
MAEtKRRTY SEER-FT_=F=8
Z+—HBNGREMBERAABEZALEE
NGREMBRAEKGEREAE LEER
BFEER(RRFEMN) NIRBERZ S HE -
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional
judgment, was of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
The matter was addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

FAREZEIE @

Key audit matter

HEEZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HANESAMARERARELER

Valuation of investment properties

REYFEZI1GE

We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter as they are
quantitatively significant to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the significant
unobservable inputs and significant judgements
associated with determination of the fair value.

BERNREYEHGESUBRRABEREBEEREU
REERAFESREAFTAREHABIBREKRY
B A REME G EHR RAREZEE

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s investment
property portfolio comprised commercial,
industrial and residential properties and was
stated at fair value of HK$3,033,980,000,
accounting for approximately 49% of the Group's
total assets as at 31 March 2023.

MR BRRMFT16PTIEE > BEEKEY
FEGOEBE - IXREIEYEBHERAFERSE
#%3,033,980,0007c i EEBRNR-TZ=F=H4
=+—HBEEELN49% -

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the
investment properties included:

BRPIMREYMEZHERITHEFEE

o Obtaining an understanding from the
Valuers and management of the Group
about the valuation techniques, the
performance of the property markets,
significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgemental areas, key inputs and data used
in the valuations;

THREEMR BSEEEEERFHGERFT
RzEERT - METSRE-RAZETER
BABRHEHER - TEWASHREIE

e Assessing the accuracy of information
provided by the management to the Valuers
by comparing details of rentals on a sample
basis to the respective underlying existing
lease agreements;
BEMKRESFFEREMBEAHE R
1TEEE MUEHEEER RfGEMAT R ZE R
BYZEREME ;
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

AREZEIE®

Key audit matter

RRELSEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAESHMAIEIERREEZEE

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

REWEZIGE (@)

All of the Group’s investment properties are
measured using the fair value model based on
valuation conducted by independent property
valuers (the “Valuers”). As disclosed in note
4 to the consolidated financial statements,
in determining the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties, the Valuers applied a
market value basis which involves, inter-alia,
significant unobservable inputs and significant
judgements, representing appropriate market
rent, capitalisation rate and adjusted market price
that has taken into account of property-specific
adjustments including location and condition.
BEEERREVMENDRBBE LY EMLER (MHE
B)) EHZ R ERATFERAGFE - HMLE ST
BRRMTAFMIRE - NEE EEEREWMEZRF
B GEMEATERE  EhSk (HPEE) &
AR ERMABBENEAHE BNEEHHHEE
ERCRREAEDIZER (BEREEUE RIFH
FEAREY R BB -

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers; and

MG ERMZBE s A RERERYE ; &

o Evaluating the reasonableness of significant
unobservable inputs by comparing the
market rent estimated by the Valuers against
market data or rental of existing lease,
benchmarking capitalisation rate against
market data and comparing adjusted market
price with comparable market transactions
for comparable property in similar location
and condition on a sample basis.
ZBMARIERMEEMGGtZHBHEESETIS
YENREHEEZHEES BEERNMECREANIS
BB AR HISENR EEALCU R R AR Z 7T
EEBMENA LR T IHRZ > UHEEKRRA
HRaABEBENGEK-
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Hthis 2

BERREFEHHMEEAR -HEEE
BEHENEFRANGEE  BEXEEGREMH
R R FFImL UL 3 9% BB ¥R 5 o

BAHFEEMHEREVNERLENREEME
B RATAHZFHMEEBEREALR
BYEERE AT oM ©

BERMEEEMHERRNES > RANE
ERFEBEMES  FUBEFR  EEEME
BREBARSUBHRRAKMESBRETF
FR7BHEBEREFEEREEIELUTFFEE
REEREAAYIET - BB FIBAITHI TR
MRHEFADAEMESFEEAHERRL
HABREREREE -EEHE KMREE
EES=g

EFRAEEMGSMBMRAK
ENEE

BABEFRHATRBEFTRGHMATEM
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

120

EFERABREMGEAMBIRRAK
EHNET @

TREFSUBRRF -EFAHTME &
ERFEKCENEN UEBERBR TRE
HRFECEARNER URERAFEKE
#HEHER - FIFEFTERER EEBEFH
HFLEEE JREEMBRNBER S

BEEENMBEHRESE

BB RS MBI RAIEN
B

HANER EHGEEMBERRBERSH
FHEBRRIGERERMERNEANIERERL
B EEMRE ERBRHABENEBIE
FERERNEZERREASERMASRNZH
BMER S o BRUE AN » PR S A A B IEE M
BB A TUEARERTZABTHEMEM
ATAEEAEEHERRENEE - GERF
EEEKTHNFRE EREFRERR(ERSE
TR EITHER AR —EXRHBRMRILE
7E BR5 48 BE 35 IR o $H 5R PR BT LA o AR EF Sl #H 5R
SIE - MRGETAREMEHERERA
RERERSVMBRREAERBESMHER
RPEFEH BV RE > Bl A RARY SRR Rt A
WRIEEK -

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 537 4% B i £t 15

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

ZHMMEB st iZ S MBHRRAIEN
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ZHMMEB i S MBIRRAIERN
5@

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

HESRARECETHERNBEMR
E 4G5 o IRIRFTE BB 51/R58E
EREBHFAHEFHRNBERAMNEARSR
HEEM RRMAIEERY S£EENF
BISERRNELERRE - MRHFIF
REEERTHEEN  MALEEZH
fi¥k & PR EAE IR A A MBRE
FRERMIKE REAENKETRE
AIRFEERRFBEFRBEER AN
i B IZ AT RS B IEFR RS E
sHRE o AT > RERFHHE L A A
N BEEEFERELE-

FERGHBHRRNBREIRA N4
BNARE SERE URGEEHHR
REGTERREMRZZMEE-

m EEBEANERENEHIFNMBEE
BENTE BEMNEFRE  UHEK
EMBBRRERTR -RZMEE B&
EEFNSRA -BEEMRAT - HRMASE
SAEREAEEHEE

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,

PREMEBIES M ERIEEERE T 5t 3/
Bt fE - HELHREREFHRES > €
KIS st 8 A B A BB 9 (T B KR
including any significant deficiencies in internal control P& o

that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Wong Lam Ching.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

20 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Fr TH AR 28
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
HE_ZT-=-"F=HB=1+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-C
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
MizE BT T BT T
Revenue WA 5 1,232,803 1,438,340
Cost of sales THE RS (1,117,977) (1,299,021)
Gross profit EF 114,826 139,319
Other income HMA 7 31,220 32,758
Other gains and losses Hih = e Es1E 8 123,898 27,552
(Impairment losses) reversal FEHEEEEEX T2
of impairment losses under (RIERS1R) HMERS1E
expected credit loss model, net  #[E;E%E 9 (27,391) 368
Marketing and distribution costs TIBHERDHER (953) (4,135)
Administrative expenses THRX (137,241) (199,208)
(Loss) gain on change in fair value B2 > A FEZFH
of investment properties (B518) W e (20,494) 207,515
Share of loss of an associate DMLEEE A B EE (16) (17)
Share of loss of joint ventures DML EETEEE (72,547) (8,073)
Finance costs R E R 10 (47,253) (33,363)
(Loss) profit before taxation fRiR AT (B518) & Fl 11 (35,951) 162,716
Taxation HRia 13 (2,481) (8,373)
(Loss) profit for the year KEE (B518) mF (38,432) 154,343
(Loss) earnings per share s (§518) &H
Basic (HK cents) B () 15 (3.5) 14.0
Diluted (HK cents) #E (B 15 (3.5) 13.9
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
o 0 T k. e LAt 2 i W 2 32

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

HE-ZT-="F=BA=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EI=F —EICTHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
(Loss) profit for the year NEE (B518) = F) (38,432) 154,343
Other comprehensive Hthz2mE ZH) W -
(expense) income:
Items that may be subsequently B REE#M D EEEm ZEE !
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising MEBINERELEZERERR
on translation of foreign
operations (160) 96
Share of exchange differences of DMEEEREZERELE
a joint venture (7,197) 3,794
(7.357) 3,890
Total comprehensive (expense) XEERE L) NEE4E%E
income for the year (45,789) 158,233
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

#r o BRI
AT 31 MARCH 2023
RZZTZ=F=A=+—H

31.3.2023 31.3.2022
—EC=F —ET
=A=+-8 | ZA=+-8
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5 BT T BT T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment properties KEYE 16 3,033,980 3,140,000
Property, plant and equipment  ¥¥ = KR E 17 302,794 293,376
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 1,283 3,693
Interest in an associate NI 19 557 10,723
Interests in joint ventures BEREZER 20 106,268 186,012
Loans to joint ventures EETEEN 21 1,027,814 974,529
Deferred tax assets RERIEE E 35 849 595
4,473,545 4,608,928
Current assets TMENEE

Properties under development BRERPZHFEME
for sale 23 932,000 907,553
Inventories =zE8 24 3,242 5,998
Contract assets BHNEE 25 238,208 265,020

Debtors, deposits and FEWTRIE 32 & K
prepayments FETFRIE 26 105,532 148,366
Amounts due from joint ventures FEURE & HEHRIE 27 - 10,015

Financial assets at fair value EREmRATEFEZ

through profit or loss MBEE 28 405 346
Taxation recoverable AR [OIFRIE 3,814 6,383
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEE 29 399,488 602,528
1,682,689 1,946,209
Assets classified as held for sale D EAZFELHESE 30 6,600 163,664
1,689,289 2,109,873
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION a5k #

AT 31 MARCH 2023

\—E-=g£=H=+—H
31.3.2023 31.3.2022
=B=+—H8 | =B=+—H
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt sE BT T BT T
Current liabilities mENamE
Trade and other payables FE {5 R TE e HL A & {5 7R IE 31 492,611 581,677
Provisions B 32 9,008 16,605
Lease liabilities HEAaE 33 1,732 3,478
Taxation payable FE{TIR18 16,986 68,747
Bank loans — amounts due RITEF-—MNR—FR
within one year NN 34 394,365 644,365
914,702 1,314,872
Liabilities associated with assets HEPEAFEHEBE
classified as held for sale HHEANEAE 30 - 2,388
914,702 1,317,260
Net current assets MBEEZE 774,587 792,613
Total assets less current liabilities 4AEBERAENEE 5,248,132 5,401,541
Non-current liabilities ERENEE
Bank loans — amounts due RITER—MN—FEREN
after one year HIE 34 1,131,069 1,147,035
Provisions B E 32 34,560 27,543
Deferred tax liabilities IRERIBEEE 35 6,377 6,357
Lease liabilities HEaE 33 3,444 4,168
1,175,450 1,185,103
4,072,682 4,216,438
Capital and reserves BARKR#E
Share capital f& 7 36 109,629 110,559
Reserves M 3,963,053 4,105,879
4,072,682 4,216,438

The consolidated financial statements on pages 124 to
287 were approved and authorised for issue by the board
of directors on 20 June 2023 and are signed on its behalf
by:

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart
FitE
DIRECTOR
EE

BI12dE EHF287TEFMIIZ IR E MBI K 1K
EFEERN_T_=—HFA-t+H&ERER
B LHTIHNEEAREE !

Tai Sai Ho
Bt
DIRECTOR
EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for 3 BIE 2t BE B 9%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
HE_ZT-=-"F=HB=1+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FARRER AR
Share-
based Treasury Property
Share  Contributed Special compensation shares  revaluation  Translation  Goodwill Accumulated
capital surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

RHAZ 13 nE
RE  BARE  KAEE  MEHE  RORE  EfBE  ABEE  BEEE  ERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AbTn  BETn AT E%Tn BEfn  BBTn Atn BliTn BEfr ABTo
(Note37)  (Note37)
(Ha37)  (H&E37)

At 1 April 2021 RZEZ-FMmB-H 110212 419183 21,94 10,837 - 26,554 (1,704) (78) 3,550,160 4,137,105
Profit for the year REEER - - - - - - - - 433 15438
Exchange differences arising on translation of REBI BRI EREE

foreign operations - - - - - - 96 = = 9%
Share of exchange differences of MERELEZERER

ajoint venture - - - - - - 3,79% - - 379
Total comprehensive income for the year FEERANGEAR - - - - - - 3890 - 154343 158,233
Dividends paid (note 14) BRZRE (Hit14) - - - - - - - - (82,915) (82,915)
Issue of shares upon exercise of share options (note 36) 1T HFER M 2R (Hi536) u 4400 - (132) - - - - - 4015
Share options lapsed BREXN - = ° (2,550 - - - - 2,550 -
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZE=R=+-H 110,559 423583 21,941 7,555 - 26,554 2,186 (78) 3624138 4216438
Loss for the year FEERR - - - - - - - - (38,432) (38,432)
Exchange differences arising on translation of REBNEBELZERER

foreign operations - - - - - - (160) - - (160)
Share of exchange differences of MERELEZERER

a joint venture - - - - - - (7.197) - - (7,197)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEERETHAE - - - - - - (1.357) - (3843)  (45,789)
Dividends paid (note 14) BftZRE (i) - - - - - - - - ®97)  B97)
Issue of shares upon exercise of share options (note 36) 1B REME TR (1336 610 9991 - (1,556) - - - - - 9,045
Share options lapsed BRIELH - - - (805) - - - = 805 o
Redlassification to accumulated profits upon HENEEERARER AR

disposal of properties - - - - - (2.865) - - 2,865 -
Repurchase of shares (note 36) IR (H536) - - - - (23,866) - - - = (23,866)
Transaction costs attributable to repurchase and ERRFERNEEZRARE

cancellation of shares - - - - (175) - - - - (175)
Cancellation of shares (note 36) kI (Hz36) (1540)  (16372) - - 17912 - - - - -
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=F=F=1+-H 109,629 417,202 21,94 5,194 (6,129) 23,689 (5,171) (78) 3506405 4072682
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ERa Bl A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

HE-ZT-="F=BA=+—HILFE

2023 2022
- £
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT o
Operating activities EEXER
(Loss) profit before taxation BRIR AT (B538) A (35,951) 162,716
Adjustments for: R
Share of loss of an associate DEHBE QBB 16 17
Share of loss of joint ventures PMEEECEEE 72,547 8,073
Dividend income REWA (5) 4
Interest income FEIRA (21,001) (18,934)
Interest expense FEZH 47,253 33,363
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERSZEZ
plant and equipment e 16,929 20,248
Depreciation of EREEEZ
right-of-use assets E 3,455 4,612
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE -BEK
plant and equipment Bg Al Gt (17,712 (90)
Loss (gain) on change in fair BREME*Z A TEEHZ
value of investment properties 518 (W) 20,494 (207,515)
Write-down of properties under MRERP 2 HFEME
development for sale 10,411 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHBARZ WG - (22,597)
(Gain) loss on change in fair FRBERRATENEZ
value of financial assets at fair MBEEATEESZ
value through profit or loss (K z) B548 (59 92
Reversal of write-down BEOEEMR
of inventories (695) (723)
Impairment losses (reversal of BHREESEBEEXTZ
impairment losses) under HERE (RE
expected credit loss model, net E5181%[]) F58 27,391 (368)
Gain on disposal of assets classified ~ HEDEAFEHLE
as held for sale and liabilities BEREDEARELY
associated with assets classified EEERMZzEBEZ
as held for sale g (116,619) (4,910)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 48 8lEfkia#
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z_—F=-HBA=+—HIEE

2023 2022
ZEZ=F —E°C
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT o e
Operating cash flows before SEBTEHRZ
movements in working capital SEHRER 6,454 (26,020)
Decrease in inventories Z5RL 3,451 7,582
Increase in properties under BRAZFEMELEM
development for sale (28,300) (20,463)
Decrease (increase) in debtors, FERFRIE 1R E K
deposits and prepayments B mRIER LD (Em) 39,366 (2,515)
Decrease (increase) in contract assets &XIBER/D (20) 26,983 (703)
Decrease in provisions B (580) (40,074)
Decrease in trade and other payables & {308 K H th & {3 =018
D (85,091) (47,664)
Decrease in amounts due from W& E R ERERLD
joint ventures 78 210
Cash used in operating activities AREEER RS (37,639) (129,647)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid B ERMER (51,180) (7,910)
Interest paid [EXREES) (53,811) (40,964)
Net cash used in operating activities FREEXHEZELFE (142,630) (178,521)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS %A 84Eiiad
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE
2023 2022
- . —
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B sE BT o
Investing activities BREXH
Interest received BIF S 1,918 404
Dividend received from financial BWEREHERATE
assets at fair value through SAEZHMBEEZRE
profit or loss 5 4
Purchase of investment properties ~ FEBEREVE (6,601) (29,959)
Purchase of property, RENE BERRE
plant and equipment (28,913) (1,282)
Proceeds on disposal of HEREME
investment properties FRiSRIE 74,637 129,200
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME -BER
plant and equipment REFTIETRIE 20,090 348
Proceeds on disposal of assets HENBARKELE
classified as held for sale and BEREDEARFELE
liabilities associated with assets BEMBMZEBEZRE
classified as held for sale IE 285,030 19,206
Direct attributable costs paid for MUESEABELEEE
disposal of assets classified [EARPA=tTi %N
as held for sale (3,774) (1,356)
Loans to joint ventures BELEER (142,048) (156,547)
Repayment of loans to joint ventures SERXEEER 79,739 -
Repayment of advances to BEREEBRATZEM
a joint venture 10,000 32,400
Advance to a joint venture BYEEREZRR - (10,000)
Return of capital from an associate B /A5 3B A 6,061 =
Dividend received from an associate BWHE AT ZRE 4,089 =
Net cash inflows on disposals of HAHEWBATZRE
subsidiaries MAFEE 38 - 1,227,008
Net cash from investing activities REREXEBZREFE 300,233 1,209,426
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS %A Bl&fimE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

2023 2022
—EZ=HE —E°C
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT o e
Financing activities eSS
Dividends paid BENZKE (82,971) (82,915)
New bank loans raised HMERITER 500,000 2,000,400
Repayment of bank loans BERITEM (765,966) (3,044,500)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEARE (3,515) (4,967)
Proceeds from issue of shares upon  {TfEEERREM 21T
exercise of share options FRigTRIE 9,045 4,015
Payment on repurchase of EI a3 Gl AN N
ordinary shares (23,866) -
Transaction costs attributable o1 K s S AR 1D FE (i 2
to repurchase and cancellation RBHA
of share (175) =
Net cash used in financing activities FARRBEXHEZREFE (367,448) (1,127,967)
Net decrease in cash and RERREEERVFE
cash equivalents (209,845) (97,062)
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERAEEE
the beginning of the year 609,330 706,389
Effect of foreign exchange EXEHITE
rate changes 3 3
Cash and cash equivalents at FREERAEEE
the end of the year 399,488 609,330
Analysis of balances of cash and RERRESEGGHRZ DM
cash equivalents:
Bank balances and cash RITEHKRRE 399,488 602,528
Bank balances classified as PEAREHEEEZ
assets held for sale RITHEER - 6,802
399,488 609,330

132

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability under the Companies
Law (2001 Second Revision), Chapter 22 of the Laws
of Cayman Islands. Its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are construction,
interior and renovation works, supply and installation
of building materials, property investment, property
development, provision of property agency and
management services and sale of health products.

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2022 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework

o o3 S A B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_S-_-F=-A=+—HILFE

1. —/REH

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (£
BRI ZIZERBIRAR) (FZQS’AﬁJ)ffEBf—(Eﬁ%ﬁ
EBERE_+_EREE(CEE—FFEZ
E5ThR) T"F‘;ﬁgﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ_L% FEE# %
BRAE HRONREBHERZMARAE
(rﬂﬁ’“"FﬁJ) theRATRZEMMWERERE

SEMBEZ AR FRN AR E R —E
e

REMBREUBEZY) BBTAEAT

ZIEEEH -

ERBAN—RKEEZERAT -HENBARZ
BEBHEE KfiREEIR HERR

REEME MERE - MELR -WEARE

REBRFZRUHRERERZHE-

2. FAKEIERMBHRSERN

RAFERFERZEIETERME
mEEER

RAFE  AEEEXIXARETEAEGHHA
EHEMAENR S _FMA—HREBRZEE
ARSI E M 2 FTHRMETEBMIBHREE
Al R iR & M E IR -

EBMBREER
B=9 (1B3T7)

B SERNSEIA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #2665k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Amendments to HKAS 16  Property, Plant and
Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of

Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

HKFRS 17
(including the
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

134

EBEFTER ME - -BERRE-HTE
B/ (18514 RRAIRIPTISRIE
EBEFER BEHEESHN-BITEH
B=++t5% (DS
CHEY)

EBVBREEN T N\EEZTTHF
CHEY) BERMBIRSELD

FENE

FEERBEEITEBVMBREENNEE
ERAFEERBEFEZHFTRARETER
SERREREMBERRABZRERRL
mMEATE

e

ERMERRERZHTREETE
AR S ER

FEBTRREFZERAUTEBEMBERKRER
ZHEI RAEIE T B RM B EER

EEMBREER
B+t (BiF
BRMBRE
ZRE LR
“ETEFE+AR
—E__&F#_RH
EETZAS)

ERVBREEN RBEEHEHBMEQATNSE
FHRREEGS CEZENBEELESR
ZREZ+/\5R A2
(CHEN)

BABMBERGSEL
B35 (BT

REEEH

EgMARNAEEE

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 #i 22 b ok

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)3
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants®
Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Policies’

Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all other new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

EARAGHENE R BEQEARITIERTRK
(CHEN) EAREERE /A
1B:] (CEZH)3

EBGHENE R MAZENERBERE
CHED)

ERGHERNE - FHBRZIKE
REBMBRS
ZREHRS
B (B5TA)

EBGHERNEN\R FEFZIER
CHED)

EBGERIE RE-RXPMELEZEER
+ 5% (BET2) BEAAZIELERE

! AR =F-A—HHZRFARNFEER
B4R
2 REEENBRRNZERENFERRENR

2 AR NF-RA—HHZBRBNFELR
£

BRI EET BB HF RS EA S &
NEEFREAN A RS RERAA HMFET
RIEEIE RV BRELZNTIGHEGHE
BREMERTLE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #2665k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current” and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect its
classification as current or non-current only if
the entity recognises the option separately as an
equity instrument applying HKAS 32 “Financial
Instruments: Presentation”.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting
period. Specifically, the amendments clarify
that the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months.

ERAGHENF—RABIEERHN
JETREN (B3] REBREFE AT ZE
REET (ZE22HF) (ZE 2T &FE:]

7)) REBGHENTE—RIHEZEN
JEFREAE (B5Th) (==& BT
1)

“ECRFEFTSHMS AR BRI
IFFRBMAILTEBEEER RS HHEED
+ER Z MR MBEFRERIMNES B !

s EAEWMABRZEMREUUBERSHESE
Al ERAEEERE S ZEmTAR
HE EEZEREREAIHENS
S+ IHRTHBIA  ERREEEER
BRIAAREIAR ZEBRAFTE
T EHDEAREBIEME

 FIARREIEARBIERBEEN
REMAREFENEN -ARMS &
FEIXNEFDEIEZEEEREN
HER+_ERRBEGHMTE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W% 85 2 b

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the requirements introduced
by the 2020 Amendments have been modified by the
2022 Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that
only covenants with which an entity is required to comply
with on or before the end of the reporting period affect
the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants
which are required to comply with only after the
reporting period do not affect whether that right exists
at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of
financial statements to understand the risk that the
liabilities could become repayable within twelve months
after the reporting period, if the entity classify liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when
the entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities
is subject to the entity complying with covenants within
twelve months after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to the Group’s annual
reporting periods beginning on 1 April 2024. The 2022
Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, are
effective for the annual reporting periods beginning on 1
April 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity
applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period after
the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also
apply the 2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31
March 2023, the application of the 2020 Amendments
and 2022 Amendments will not result in reclassification
of the Group’s liabilities.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_T_-F-RA=+—HILEE

METZERFRGBRES HEES DT
E+_EAGNNENMS  — 2T FE
SIASIANREER S _FETHRE
ﬂo T FESTARTR EERLATER
G RRHZAETHEEAETEER
Tﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁm+ EREBE N aEn
- EERSHBRAFEETHNEERR
EZENTREPREEEFE-

tesh > — T FEFTART R T EREES
ﬁﬁﬁm%ﬂmﬁmﬁkfﬁiﬁé+ &
BRETROE BRRERZHEENE
BRERFERBEENERT  BRRMF
WRERELESN TRAIEERSHE+ 2@
AAREMHNaRRENERKRERE

—ERC_EEFATEREER — T T FE5]
$ﬁﬁﬁ_$_lﬁﬂﬁ—5%ﬁ%$$ﬁ
FERSHBNENBIE T - _F&5]
ﬁﬁﬂ_$_$¢@ﬂ¢ﬁéigiﬂﬁﬂ
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Amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation to Financial
Statements” and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
“Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all
accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting
policy information, such information must not obscure
material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality
Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended
to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and
to judge whether information about an accounting policy
is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.
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The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group but may affect the disclosures
of the Group’s significant accounting policies. The
impacts of application, if any, will be disclosed in the
Group’s future consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting
Estimates”

The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting
policy may require items in financial statements to
be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require
such items to be measured at monetary amounts
that cannot be observed directly and must instead
be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by
the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates
involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on
the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting
estimates in HKAS 8 is retained with additional
clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the
investment properties and certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below. Prior year disclosures have been
represented to conform with current year presentation
for certain line items.
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Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in
use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For investment properties which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs
is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are

changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.

Interests in an associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.
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The results and assets and liabilities of an associate or
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of an associate
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group'’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the
associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held
by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in
that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the
date on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in
the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value
at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and
the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of the relevant interest in the associate or
joint venture is included in the determination of the gain
or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.
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When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture
that are not related to the Group.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation
in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the
particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with the other parties to the
joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the
transactions are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of other parties’ interests in
the joint operation.

When a group entity transact with a joint operation
in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a
purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its
share of the gains and losses until it resells those assets to
a third party.
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Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available
for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for sales
of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale
when the criteria described above are met, regardless of
whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment,
in an associate or joint venture, the investment or the
portion of the investment that will be disposed of is
classified as held for sale when the criteria described
above are met, and the Group discontinues the use of the
equity method in relation to the portion that is classified
as held for sale from the time when the investment (or a
portion of the investment) is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell except
for financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 and
investment properties which continue to be measured
in accordance with the accounting policies as set out in
respective sections.
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Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value of the Group’s performance completed
to date, the Group recognises revenue based on surveys
of the relevant services completed by the Group to date
as certified by independent surveyors appointed by the
customers in relation to the work completed by Group.
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Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(variation order of construction contract), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or
(b) the most likely amount, depending on which method
better predicts the amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
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Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components, including
contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-
lease building components, unless such allocation cannot
be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
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Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of plant and machinery that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model, right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
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The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property or properties under
development for sale as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use
assets that meet the definition of investment property
and properties under development for sale are presented
within “investment properties” and “properties under
development for sale”, respectively.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & & W% 85 2 b

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains one or more additional lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component. The
associated non-lease components are included in the
respective lease components.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
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Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.
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The Group uses the discount rate used for the head lease
(adjusted for any initial direct costs associated with the
sublease) to measure the net investment in the sublease
if the interest rate implicit in the sublease cannot be
readily determined.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were
not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when
the fair value was determined. When a fair value gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit
or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rate fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal
of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
difference accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
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Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related assets is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits cost

Payments to the Group’s defined contribution retirement
benefits schemes, state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permit the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at present value of the
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by
the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Share-based payment
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and

others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based compensation reserve). At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-
based compensation reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed immediately in profit
or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve
will be transferred to share capital and contributed
surplus. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from (loss) profit before
taxation because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, and interests in an associate and joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through
sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as
a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net
basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over
the lease payments for the principal portion of lease
liabilities results in net deductible temporary differences.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

BIERIEAERAED RANREMEA R
o5 A MRS AR O R BT R © AR RO SR
=R B RE R ERGORE (R
CEE

BIERMBEERREENGERBAERICR
SR FRARERCNEEREERER
RERE BRI R R

M BEUERARAFEEEAEZREMEN
EIEFRIAM S ° FRIFA RAEERIER MEZ
REEEREAZBLETERE - EEH
REVMERTINERNEEAELREER
AREMEANEESHABN MARU
HEFXNZBERAFTA  ARAKEERTH
R -

R EAEERIEAEEEREREES
BZHERGZERRE *EBELERE
RMENBREECRERNERAEEENEES

& o

MBI AREREEEENEERZM
S AEENBERAEXRSEAEEGSE
A+ iR E - BERAREEKREEAR
ERNERSERRFHEEET G - EREE
EfFEBHEAEERIENINEERRE
MEENREREZERFHE

L A S S 45 PR 28 W) 2022/20234E § 163



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #2665k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. When current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of

investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.
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An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. A leased property which is recognised
as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group as
intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance
lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant
payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land
is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.
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Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the net sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.
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In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include cash, which
comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits and cash
equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash

flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.
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Inventories

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale which are
intended to be sold upon completion of development are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land
element which is measured at cost model in accordance
with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets,
properties under development for sale are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a specific identification basis including allocation
of the related development expenditure incurred and
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net
realisable value represent the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale. Properties under development
for sale are transferred to properties held for sale upon
completion.

Others

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.
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Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions for the expected cost of rectification work
under the relevant construction contracts, interior
and renovation contracts and installation of building
materials contracts, are recognised at the date of
rendering the respective contract work, at the directors’
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
Group's obligation at the end of each reporting period.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers”. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and
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o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”) as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excluded any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.
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Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade debtors, loans to joint ventures,
amounts due from joint ventures, other receivables,
bank balances, and other items (including contract
assets, lease receivables, financial guarantee contracts
and loan commitments) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
debtors, contract assets and lease receivables. The Group
uses collective assessment to determine the ECL for
the trade debtors and contract assets, except for trade
debtors and contract assets receivable from departments
of The Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR") and credit-impaired which are assessed
for ECL individually.
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For financial guarantee contracts, loan commitments
and all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;
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o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if (1) it has a low risk of default, (2) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and (3) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments,
the date that the Group becomes a party to the
irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a loan commitment, the Group considers
changes in the risk of a default occurring on the loan to
which a loan commitment relates; for financial guarantee
contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk
that the specific debtor will default on the contract.
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The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade debtors, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
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Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL
is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the present
value of the difference between the contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group if the holder of the loan
commitments draws down the loan, and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn
down.

For ECL on financial guarantee or on loan commitments
for which the effective interest rate cannot be
determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that
reflects the current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows
but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken
into account by adjusting the discount rate instead of
adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade debtors and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.
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For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management
of the Group to ensure the constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for loan commitments, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade debtors and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables,

and bank loans are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability to
which the amortised cost measurement applies as a result
of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies
the practical expedient to account for these changes
by updating the effective interest rate, such change in
effective interest rate normally has no significant effect
on the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or
financial liability.
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A change in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform
if and only if, both these conditions are met:

e the change is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

e the new basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is economically equivalent to the previous
basis (i.e. the basis immediately preceding the
change).

For other changes made to a financial asset or
financial liability in addition to changes to the basis
for determining the contractual cash flows required by
interest rate benchmark reform, the Group first applies
the practical expedient to the changes required by
interest rate benchmark reform by updating the effective
interest rate. The Group then applies the applicable
requirements in HKFRS 9 on modification of a financial
asset or a financial liability to the additional changes to
which the practical expedient does not apply.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities
arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the investment property portfolio of the
Group’s subsidiaries and concluded that the investment
properties of the Group are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group’s deferred taxation on
investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
not rebutted. The Group has not recognised any deferred
taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties as
the Group are not subject to any income taxes on the fair
value changes of the investment properties on disposal.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 March 2023 at their
fair value of HK$3,033,980,000 (2022: HK$3,140,000,000)
(note 16) based on valuation of these properties
conducted by Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited
(“Colliers”) and Jones Lang LaSalle Limited (“JLL")
(2022: Colliers and JLL), independent property valuers
(the “Valuers”). In determining the fair values of the
Group’s investment properties, the Valuers applied a
market value basis which involves, inter-alia, significant
unobservable inputs and significant judgements,
representing appropriate market rent, capitalisation rate
and adjusted market price that has taken into account
of property-specific adjustments including location and
condition.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgements and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of
the current market conditions. Any changes to these
assumptions, including the potential risk of any market
violation, policy, geopolitical and social changes or
other unexpected incidents as a result of change in
macroeconomic environment, changes in policy direction
and/or mortgage requirements, or other unexpected
incidents would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group'’s investment properties and the corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #2665k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Provision of ECL for trade debtors and contract
assets

Trade debtors and contract assets that are credit-impaired
or receivable from departments of The Government
of HKSAR are assessed for ECL individually. The Group
uses collective assessment to determine the ECL for the
remaining trade debtors and contract assets by grouping
debtors based on the Group’s internal credit ratings.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of trade
debtors and contract assets were HK$73,173,000
and HK$238,208,000 (2022: HK$114,299,000 and
HK$265,020,000) (net of allowance for credit losses of
trade debtors and contract assets of HK$286,000 and
HK$929,000 (2022: HK$768,000 and HK$1,100,000)),
respectively. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes
in estimates. Details of impairment assessment are set out
in note 49.

Provision for ECL for loans to joint ventures

Management regularly reviews the impairment
assessment and evaluate the ECL for the loans to
joint ventures. Appropriate impairment allowance is
recognised in profit or loss.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group regularly
monitors the business performance of the joint ventures.
The Group's credit risks in these balances are mitigated
through the value of assets held by the joint ventures. In
making this assessment, the loans to joint ventures are
assessed individually by the management of the Group,
based on the financial background, the risk of default
occurring on the loans to joint ventures and forward-
looking information that is reasonable, supportable and
available without undue cost or effort.
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As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of loans
to joint ventures was HK$1,027,814,000 (2022:
HK$974,529,000) (net of allowance for credit losses
of HK$46,819,000 (2022: HK$18,775,000)). Details of
impairment assessment are set out in note 49.

Write-down of properties under development for
sale

Management reviews the recoverability of the Group’s
properties under development for sale with reference to
current market environment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
assets may exceed its net realisable value. The estimate
requires judgement including the consideration of
construction costs to completion based on the existing
development plans and the estimation of selling prices of
the properties of comparable locations and conditions.
Write-down for estimated irrecoverable amounts is
recognised in profit or loss when the net realisable value
is below cost. Actual realised amount may differ from
estimates or changes in facts and circumstances may
result in downward revision of estimated net realisable
value of these properties under development for sale and
additional write-down may be required.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of properties
under development for sale was HK$932,000,000 (2022:
HK$907,553,000), net of write-down of properties under
development for sale of HK$10,411,000 (2022: Nil) (note
23).

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

5. REVENUE

Revenue represents the aggregate of the amounts
received or receivable from construction contracts,
interior and renovation contracts, installation of building
materials, sales of health products, provision of property

5. WA

agency and management services, and lease income from
property investment during the year, and is analysed as

WATEFERBREIRSGH
R REREME REERZHE R
HYEREREERBURMEREZAE
WA B EWRIREEER > 20T ¢

R R AEIE T

follows:
Disaggregation of revenue KA 735
2023 2022
—EBZ=HF —E_HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Recognised over time: WE B R T -
Revenue from construction BEIRESHZEA
contract work 904,847 1,197,468
Revenue from interior and EMMREETIIRESHNZIA
renovation contracts 190,219 86,704
Revenue from installation of TEEREME Z WA
building materials 56,967 68,535
Property management services MEESERFUA
income 11,159 5,076
Recognised at a point in time: TR BRI RLRESD
Sales of health products BEEMZIHESEE 11,220 22,607
Property agency service income MEARERFBUA 3,305 3,272
Revenue from contracts KEEREHNZWA
with customers 1,177,717 1,383,662
Fixed-lease income from property MEREBEZEEHERA
investment 55,086 54,678
1,232,803 1,438,340
Geographical market: ME TS -
Hong Kong 5B 1,232,803 1,438,340
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Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Revenue from construction contracts, interior and
renovation contracts, and installation of building
materials

The Group provides construction contract work, interior
and renovation contract work and installation of building
materials contract work under long-term contracts with
customers. Such contracts are entered into before the
services begin. The Group’s contract work enhances an
asset that the external customers control as the Group
performs. Revenue from provision of such contract work
is therefore recognised over time. The revenue from the
contract work, except for the revenue from provision of
supply and installation of ceiling system (without a direct
measurement of value of performance completed to
date), is recognised using output method, i.e. based on
surveys of the relevant services completed by the Group
to date as certified by independent surveyors appointed
by the customers in relation to the work completed
by the Group. The directors of the Company consider
that output method would faithfully depict the Group's
performance towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations in these contracts under HKFRS
15. The revenue from provision of supply and installation
of ceiling system is recognised using input method.
The measures of the progress is determined based on
the proportion of specific costs incurred to-date to the
estimated total costs for each contract.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Sales of health products

Revenue from health products is recognised at a point
in time when control of health products is transferred to
the customers, being at the point the customer purchases
the goods at the retail shop, or when the goods have
been delivered or shipped to the customers and the
customer has obtained the control of the health products
and the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

Property agency service income

For revenue from provision of property agency service,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when customers
sign a legally binding agreement from its counterparty
and performance obligations are satisfied. Payment of
the transaction is due immediately when performance
obligations are satisfied.

Property management services income

The provision of property management services is
recognised over time, as the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits from the Group’s
performance and the revenue is recognised over the
property management services period as time lapses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 #i 22 b ok
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with

customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 and the
expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

HE_Z—

=F=ZRA=+—HLFE

AEERTERANNBHEHEZX

&

RIEBE-=HK

— = — —

—_—<——

F=RA=+—8"

DEEHFTARTHRABARTHRBENETEZ
R B ERERWANTRER BN T :

Revenue from

Revenue from

Revenue from interior and installation
construction renovation of building
contracts contracts materials
B EMRkifE RERHEME
BHBA BHWA WA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T

As at 31 March 2023 RZE-_=Z#=RA=+—H
Within one year —ERN 1,024,362 273,961 140,012

More than one year but not —FH LERENR

more than two years 724,083 194,176 110,207
More than two years MEMN £ 399,296 26,210 17,714
2,147,741 494,347 267,933

As at 31 March 2022 RZEZZ#=H=+—H
Within one year —&ER 745,815 243,263 109,328

More than one year but not —EL EERENR

more than two years 703,227 156,000 118,031
More than two years MEMN L = 141,756 72,173
1,449,042 541,019 299,532
Other than revenue from construction contracts, interior MREREERESH KM NREESHOURER

and renovation contracts, and installation of building
materials, the revenue from other segment are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied

contracts is not disclosed.

M ZREW A Eth 3 EHIWARIR %
—EFUT -HMEBMBREERNE+R
SRFARE LERENEEZSREBITEN
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_T_-F-A=+—HILEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is organised into seven operating divisions:
interior and renovation works, design,
supply and installation of building materials, sales
of health products, property investment, property
development and provision of property agency and

construction,

management services. These divisions are the basis
on which the Group reports its financial information
internally and are regularly reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision makers, for the purpose of allocating resources
to segments and assessing their performance.

(@) Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating and reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2023

6. NEEH

ﬁS%lIEﬁ«‘M%EW%ﬁj%tiE DR KR

MELRR BEEMBRF - HERZE BE
EmZiHE *%ﬁ&ﬁ*%%ﬁ@&%ﬁﬁﬁ
REERBZRE - FEFARBIEFSES
BEEFEERNBHHFER  LHERBTANT
EX (ATECERRE) THERUNRS
SEEZERKRHMEOBEEZRER -

(a) DEWARER

UTATERREERFATZHRDEZVAKR
FEZDN:

(E_E_ZF=-A=+—HILEFE

Property
Interior and Building Health Property Property  agency and Segment
Construction  renovation materials products investment  development  management total  Eliminations  Consolidated
NERE
BE  RBREE BEMH ERER NERE NEER RER e s EE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$000 HKS'000 HKS'000
A¥Tn BBt EBTn ERTR ERTR ERTR TR ERTR ERTR EBTR
REVENUE KA
External sales HIMEE 904,847 190,219 56,967 1,220 55,086 - 14464 1232803 - 132803
Inter-segment sales NERBHIHE 1510 39,702 25719 97 891 - 57 52,916 (52,916) -
Total b 906,357 229921 59,546 1317 64,057 - 14521 1,285,719 (52,916) 1,232,803
RESULTS £+
Segment result NERE 1201 (2129) 0 (1.218) 73,031 (86.213) 135 (4303) - (4303)
Unallocated expenses FARLH (31,648)
Loss before taxation KR (35,951)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
=E=A=+—HLEE

HE_Z—

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE_Z__HF=-HA=1+—HLEE
Property
Interior and Building Health Property Property  agency and Segment
Construction  renovation materials products i | total ~ Eliminations  Consolidated
NERE
BE  KHREE BEME REER NERE NELR REE PEEH s ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT AUt BT BT BRI AETT AETT ARTT ARTR ARTT
REVENUE N
External sales HiMEE 1,197,468 86,704 68,535 2,607 54,678 - 8348 1438340 - 1438340
Inter-segment sales NEEBRZHE 592 71,505 15,205 15 8751 - 120 96,188 (96,188) -
Total st 1,198,060 158,209 83,740 22,622 63,429 - 8,468 1,534,528 (96,188) 1,438,340
RESULTS S
Segment result NEEH 24,054 6 752 681 159,306 10,040 213 195,052 - 195,052
Unallocated expenses FAEZH (32,336)
Profit before taxation BLikTy= 162,716

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3. Segment results represent the results from each
segment without allocation of interest income earned
and administration costs incurred by head office and
the inactive subsidiaries. This is the measure reported to
the chief operating decision makers for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged by reference to market
prices.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_T_-F-A=+—HILEE

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

(b) NEEELER

UTATEBRREERAZRNEZEER

liabilities by operating and reportable segment: BESH:

31.3.2223 31.3.2022
=B=+—BH | =A=+—8H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Segment assets SIS E
Construction B 574,245 830,173
Interior and renovation B e 4E(E 133,138 150,747
Building materials EEME 64,306 73,443
Health products R E 17,265 27,289
Property investment MEKRE 3,330,386 3,516,992
Property development MELR 1,847,707 1,939,948
Property agency and management MERERSIE 37,538 39,969
Total segment assets DIEEELELE 6,004,585 6,578,561
Unallocated assets RXPEEE 158,249 140,240
Consolidated assets EEEBE 6,162,834 6,718,801

Segment liabilities SHEEE
Construction fE 373,986 396,661
Interior and renovation BE M R 4 (& 31,529 45,527
Building materials BEEME 24,276 22,713
Health products EEEm 1,627 3,167
Property investment YIERE 1,559,813 1,845,231
Property development YR 185 8,475
Property agency and management MEREREE 669 1,044
Total segment liabilities DEEEERE 1,992,085 2,322,818
Unallocated liabilities Al =R 98,067 179,545
Consolidated liabilities ceaE 2,090,152 2,502,363

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance

and allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than central bank balances and cash of head office
and other inactive subsidiaries, certain self-used
properties, taxation recoverable and deferred tax

assets; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than other payables of head office and the
inactive subsidiaries, taxation payable and deferred

tax liabilities.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

(c) Other information

Year ended 31 March 2023

(o HER

HEZZ-=

BE_Z_-F-RA=+—HILHFE

F=ZA=+—HLHFE

Property
Interior and Building Health Property Property  agency and
Construction  renovation materials products investment development management  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
NERE
BE RiRiEE B RRER nERE EL T REE FAE ga
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
AT EBTn AT AR AT ERTR BT BT AT
Amounts indluded in the measure HRNERAANERERTAZ
of segment results or segment assets: £8:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE BERREZINE 3962 1,698 1319 10 1339 - 1,795 6,646 16,929
Depreciation of right-of-use assets PREEEZNE 2010 - - 1385 - - - - 3455
Write-down of properties under development for sale HRSRRZFENE - - - - - 10,411 - - 10,411
Loss on change in fair value of investment properties RENEZATEEHIER - - - - 2049 - - - 2049
Gain on change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL BRRERATENEZ
HBEEZATEEH I UE (59) - - - - - - - (59)
Reversal of write-down of inventories BEESME - - - (149) - - (546) - (695)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HENE BRRZHEZKE (499) - - - (13.293) - (3.920) - (17.712)
(Reversal of impairment losses) impairment losses BHEEREERATZ
under ECL model, net (BRAEGE HEGRPE (670) (58) 1 - - 8044 - - 7,391
Gain on disposal of assets classified as held for sale and HENBARELEEERENES
liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale KELEERER 8 NE - - - - (116,619) - - - (16,619)
Interest income HISKA (1.487) (194) (106) (6) o (19,083) (0] (0 (21,001)
Share of loss of an associate HMEBEATEE - - - - 16 - - - 16
Share of loss of joint ventures MERELEEE - - - - - 7,547 - - 72,547
Finance costs iER 69 - - 45 83,545 3,504 - - 47253
Additions to non-current assets (note) REFRBEE () 3,680 - - 504 7241 - - 25,134 36,559
Interest in an associate N - - - - 557 - - - 557
Interests in joint ventures A%ﬁ#Z}Em - - - - - 106,268 - - 106,268
Loans to joint ventures AECEER - - - - 218,702 809,12 - - 1081
Amounts regularly provided to Tk R RRARTHESS
the chief operating decision makers but not included IBAERRELEE.
in the measure of segment results:
Income tax expenses (credit) Figix (85%) 1,742 (659) (13) - 1219 19 113 - 2481
Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets, interest in iz : ERBEEFAOBEEREBEEE -HER

an associate, interests in joint ventures and loans to joint

ventures.

BlzED SECEZEGRAELER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BHE_Z_=H=A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE_ZT__F=-HB=+—HLEFE
Property
Interior and Building Health Property Property  agency and
Construction  renovation materials products investment development management  Unallocated  Consolidated
NERE
BE  EfREE  BEME  BRER  WERE VEER KER AR 88
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AhTn  AbTn  A%Trn  A%Trn A%Trn A%Trn AMTrn BETrn TR
Amounts included in the measure FENBRENNEEERTAZ
of segment results or segment assets: 28
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE BERRBEZINE 4,454 1,714 1,305 89 1,717 - 1,885 9,084 20,48
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREEZIRE 3463 = = 1,149 = = = = 4,612
Gain on change in fair value of investment properties  RENEZ ATEEH NG - - - - (207,515) - - = (207,515)
Loss on change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL ~ FiBBHFATENEZ
HHEEZATEEDZEE 2 - - - - - - - 92
Reversal of write-down of inventories BEFEME - - - (715) = B ® = (123)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment ~ HE&#% BERREZ (KE) &
R ) - - 2 - - - - )
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR 2 haE - - - - (22,597) - - = (22,597)
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment losses) BHEERREXTZ
under ECL model, net REGR BRHERE) $8 381 363 28 - 8,247 (9,387) = = (368)
Gain on disposal of assets classified as held for saleand ~ HENEARIEHEEERENE
liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale ~ Af{FtEEEREHEE
pd - - - - - (4910 - - (4910)
Interest income FIEHA (283) (35) (10) - (1) (18,530) - (65) (18,934)
Share of loss of an associate HMEBEATER - - - - 17 - = - 17
Share of loss of joint ventures HMERELEFE - - - - - 8,073 - - 8,073
Finance costs HBER 137 - - 59 31,69 1475 - - 33,363
Additions to non-current assets (note) REFRBEE () 4,166 - 279 2,093 30,153 - = = 36,691
Interest in an associate NGRS - - - - 10723 - - - 10723
Interests in joint ventures REGEZREG - - - - - 186,012 - - 186,012
Loans to joint ventures RELEER - - - - 138,603 835,926 = = 974,529
Amounts regularly provided to FRETHENELAETHER
the chief operating decision makers but not included BITLEARELET.
in the measure of segment results:
Income tax expenses (credit) Fifis i (5%) 3734 (81) 185 - 703 3932 (100) - 8373
Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets, interest in Mizk : FEMBEBEEFACIBELERESE HEAQ
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Geographical information

The Group’s revenue which is generated from
customers located in Hong Kong, the Company’s place
of domicile, amounted to HK$1,232,803,000 (2022:
HK$1,438,340,000). Accordingly, no further analysis of
the Group's revenue by geographical market based on
geographical location of customers has been presented.

The analysis of the Group’s non-current assets by

B R

HE_Z—

=F=ZRA=+—HLFE

A4 E Ay UL A A& #51,232,803,0005T (Z =
T4 7B¥51,438,340,0007T) RKEEE (4
REAEHME) WEF > MAERE L RIRIER
BEZ#IBAE 2 UM E R IZDEIURAE
E—F Do

FrEEFRBEERBEEZHEBUEDN

geographical location of assets is presented as follows — Z2IRIIT (i) :
(note):
31.3.2023 31.3.2022
—E-= —F__
=B=+-8 | =B=+-H
HK$'000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) &8 Freth&) 3,361,472 3,540,098
Mainland China FRE i 83,410 93,706
3,444,882 3,633,804
Note:Interest in an associate and interests in joint ventures Mist: BMERABZHEREEEEZERZTHIN

are analysed by geographical location of their respective
operations.

Non-current assets excluded loans to joint ventures and
deferred tax assets.

LI B A R A PR B] 2022/20234E 3

HEZEBKE

YR (U B (E D4 o

FRBEEFEECECREMKIEIER

HEE-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

RREEERZEN

REFAEER EMBEAERBUIA10%

individually contributing over 10% of the total revenue  ZfEBIZERZWAIMT :
of the Group is as follows:
2023 2022
—F== -
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Customer A ZEFRH 515,107 465,065
Customer B ZFRZ 195,011 389,147
Customer C ZERA —* 163,536

The revenue is income from construction contracts within
the construction segment.

ks The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10%
of the total revenue of the Group during the year ended
31 March 2023.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HftgkA
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interest income from joint ventures RESERFEZFEWA 19,083 18,530
Government grants recognised (note) BTz BFMES () 5,308 300
Bank interest income RITH BURA 1,918 404
Building management fee income BFEEEEWRA 44 696

Dividend income from financial assets FEi@EHZBAFESEZ

at FVTPL MBEEEZREWA 5 4
Forfeiture of deposits received BB WEEE - 8,489
Others Hith 4,862 4,335
31,220 32,758

Note:During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group Mk -
recognised government grants in respect of COVID-
19-related subsidies, including subsidies from the
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
Government of HK$5,307,600 (2022: HK$300,000).

REBEE_E_=2£=A=+—HLEE">
7S £ @ 54201978 4K 75 35 18 BE 48 B e 5B BT
W EhEEEARFREZ R ESt
214 EL B 185,307,6007T (Z B —4F : HiK
300,0007T) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

8. Hfthlrm R is5HA

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Gain on disposal of assets classified as HEDEAFEHEETER
held for sale and liabilities associated ENfEAFIEHEEEHERZ
with assets classified as held for sale  B&Z Uz 116,619 4,910
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BEKRZEZWE
plant and equipment 17,712 90
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAT Z W= - 22,597
Gain (loss) on change in fair value BEBEGEATEREZ
of financial assets at FVTPL MBEEEZATEEZESH 2
Wz (B518) 59 (92)
Others Hth (10,492) 47
123,898 27,552

9. (IMPAIRMENT LOSSES) REVERSAL
OF IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET

9. FHIEHEEHRIENTZ (RfE
#54R) BB ER R P

2023 2022
—E=F =~
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Reversal of impairment losses MU TR IERTEEIRERSE
(impairment losses), net, CREES$8) /358 :
recognised on:
Trade debtors FE R FRIE 482 (8,536)
Contract assets BHNEE 171 (483)
Loans to joint ventures EETEER (28,044) 9,387
(27,391) 368

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31
March 2023 and 2022 are set out in note 49.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

HEZ-_=-"F=-A=+—HIEFE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. B EH
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Interest on bank loans RITEFZFE 53,504 40,572
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBEZAR 307 392
53,811 40,964
Less: Amount capitalised in properties & : ERPFEYEZ
under development for sale BRMCEER (6,558) (7,601)
47,253 33,363
11. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 11. BR#R AT (B518) im#l
2023 2022
BT = S
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Loss) profit before taxation has been [&#AT (B518) FF B Gt A) :
arrived at after charging (crediting):
Salaries and other benefits e REMER 222,977 247,577
Retirement benefits scheme BRIREFETEIHR
contributions 16,417 16,749
Staff costs incurred (including BEEZEIRA
directors’ remuneration) (BIEESEMD) 239,394 264,326
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERREZINE
equipment 16,929 20,248
Less: Depreciation expenses included in & : BERHEREZINES H
the cost of sales (739) (1,102)
16,190 19,146

Al )5 ) e 42 Pt A PR 3 ) 2022720234 $8
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BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZIE 3,455 4,612
Less: Depreciation expenses included in & : N IHE N A 2 TEZH
the cost of sales (2,284) (3,677)
1,171 935
Auditor’s remuneration Z B ER BN = 3,600 3,500
Contract costs recognised as expenses & &I A4 H 1,087,496 1,255,811
Costs of inventories recognised as FERATERAZH
expenses 18,198 23,045
Reversal of write-down of inventories (5] > 77 & il 5 (695) (723)
Write-down of properties under WRERFZHFEYME
development for sale 10,411 -
Gross rental income under operating #ETHERSUIALEEE
leases on:
Investment properties KEME (55,086) (54,678)
Less: Direct operating expenses that & : REARELER S WA
generated rental income during SIENEELESZH
the year 9,695 9,843
(45,391) (44,835)
Expenses included in cost of sales: BERHEREANZZE !
Short-term leases expense in respect of HRIME K143~ SHITHE
plant and machinery T 9,955 16,109
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMOLUMENTS

(i) Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the emoluments paid or payable to each

of the eight (2022: nine) directors were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2023

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
HEZ-_=-"F=-A=+—HIEFE

12. EERABAREMALTHME
() E=M=
RAEE REEAZ EFRAREBA

HOMBZEFTHNE  RENHENLT/N\%
(CEIZF AR EFZEZMENT

 E_E_=F=H=+—HILEE

It EtR  BEE
HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000
AT ERTn  ARTn

Executive directors (Note a) Non-executive directors (Note b) Independent non-executive directors (Note ¢)
HITEE (Wia) FATES (Hilb) BUFHITES (H3ke)
Wong Cha Mou Lam Lau
Sue Toa, Tai  Chow Ka Daid, Chat Chan  TzeYiu, Sun Total
Stewart  Sai Ho Fung  Subtotal  Johnson Yu Subtotal  PaklJoe Peter ~ Tailun  Subtotal emoluments

Mt BBE HET Mt W HPR BAR UL

HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
ERTn RETn EWTn ERTn RRTR ERTn ARTmn ERTR ERTn

Fees g - - - - 4,000 150 4150 350 350 350 1,050 5,200
Other emoluments Hitie
Salaries and other benefits HeRHhER 3m 3m 1,620 1,764 - - - - - - - 1,764
Performance related incentive payments (note d) TERRRES (Hitd) 11,200 5,600 3630 20430 - - - - - - - 040
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BIER IR 566 356 m 1,165 - - - - - - - 1,165
15,538 8328 5493 29359 4,000 150 4150 350 350 350 1,050 34,559
> ZS — -_— = = —
For the year ended 31 March 2022 EE__HF-A=+—HLEFE
Executive directors (Note a) Non-executive directors (Note b) Independent non-executive directors (Note ¢)
HTES (Hika) JERTES (H5kb) BUEATES (ko)
Wong Cha Mou Lau
Sue Toa, Tai  ChowKa Daid, Zhang Lam Chan  TzeYiy, Sun Total
Stewart Sai Ho Fung  Subtotal  Johnson Wei*  ChatYu  Subtotal Pak Joe Peter Tailun  Subtotal emoluments
ItE ey BE% st TitE g HEF Izt 10 fiEa At gt s
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ARTn BETn  AkTn  BETR  BRTn  BNTR  EBTn  BETn  BMTr  ERTn  BETR AETn  EETR
Fees g = = = = 4,000 40 19 4,159 319 319 319 957 5,116
Other emoluments Ahe
Salaries and other benefits HERAMER 3712 231 1,620 7,764 = - = - = = = = 7764
Performance related incentive payments (note d) IfERRRES
(HfzEd) 15,000 7,500 5000 27500 - - - - - - - - 250
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BIERI A 566 35 13 1,165 - - - - - - - - 1,165
19,338 10,228 6,863 36,429 4,000 40 19 4,159 319 319 319 957 41,545
* Dr. Zhang Wei retired as a non-executive director of the L REFELINR I —FN\AZ+HERESR

Company on 24 August 2021.
Notes:
(@) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were

for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

NEFFRITESE -
MI5E ©

(@) ERHATEFHERBRFHEIRADAREE
EEEEHRBAERM-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

(b) The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company and the
Group.

() The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

(d) The performance related incentive payments are
determined based on the performance of the individual
and the Group's performance and profitability for the
year.

There was no arrangement under which the directors
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for both
years.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

(ii) Five highest paid individuals

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the five highest
paid individuals included four directors and one
employee (2022: four directors and one employee). The
emoluments of the remaining one employee (2022: one
employee) were as follows:

(b) LEHMIFHITEENEAREEREARRE
ERESE R

(0 ERBIFATEEWNERREFER/ELE
EEZRE-

(d) ITFRREEBSERBZFENBAZRER
RAEEEZ 2 EREFIBENMETE

RMEFEE TEEHEFREXRTHR
BN R LBk

RBEE_S_=FER_T__F=H=+—
HEFE  AEETEAEAESZGAME
EABMARERRLMAREEZ LR
SR BB A (E o

(i) ABEEHFALT

RBE_T-_=F=-HA=+—HLEE &
LEREFATEENLEETR—4ER (=
ZTTF  NAEER—LES) cHEF—%
BE (CE-_%:—%ES) ZMEWT :

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 907 1,296
Performance related incentive payments T {EXRIFIEES 600 900
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R REFIEH 2] {5k 136 182
Other (note) Hh () 3,335 -
4,978 2,378

Note:The amount represent one-off payment and is given to
recognise his contribution to the Group.

Mzt RERA—REAR EEREHHELE
EEER
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BHE_Z_=F=A=+—HLEE
The emoluments of the employee were within the {EBEZMEBR TH4HE7 :
following bands:
2023 2022
Number Number
of employee of employee
BEHRB BEHE
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 7#%2,000,0017T—
& 1£2,500,0007T - 1
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 7 %4,500,0017T—
715,000,000 1 -
13. TAXATION 13. 11\
2023 2022
—E= =S
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEHEFER
Current year KEE 1,762 3,675
Underprovision in prior years BEFERERE 953 3,090
2,715 6,765
Deferred taxation (note 35) IRIEFRIE (MI5E35) (234) 1,608
2,481 8,373

Hong Kong Profits Tax for both years is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for the group entity which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. For this group entity, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

Al )5 ) e 42 Pt A PR 3 ) 2022720234 $8

MEEENEBFRREEEREEGTHE
BRI T Z216.5% 51 & o B K M 4R I FIES
MEEETHNAEREBNEES R
MZEEEEMS » 548%2,000,0007T2FE
EMEF LI ES.25% M R T EERE
FIBIRIRFT16.5% B
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Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit

or loss as follows:

FERBAFSEmRZFRA (B8 EF
HERWOTF -

2023 2022
ZEZ=HF _E s
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
(Loss) profit before taxation PR AT (B518) & H (35,951) 162,716
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of %Z<HIFFEIRIRE16.5%
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) (ZBEZZH 1 165%) 2MIEA (5.932) 26,848
Tax effect of share of loss of DEBEATBEZRBEEE
an associate 3 3
Tax effect of share of loss of joint PMEEEREFBEZ
ventures MERE 11,970 1,332
Tax effect of expenses not deductible RRFAEATNBZZHZ
for tax purpose METE 21,776 20,267
Tax effect of income not taxable for HIRFHEBAZRRZIBAZ
tax purpose MR (30,506) (51,583)
Utilisation of tax losses previously EERALAI KRR ZRIEEIE
not recognised (2,117) (290)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRR ZIRBEEZ R E 6,009 8,717
Tax effect of different tax rates of B AR R EMEEEEEEN
subsidiaries operating in other TEMERZMBLE
jurisdictions 325 11)
Underprovision in prior years BEFERERRE 953 3,090
Taxation for the year FERIE 2,481 8,373
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BE_Z_=F=A=+—HLHFE
14. DIVIDENDS 14. g2
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Dividends recognised as distribution ~ FRERRADIRZKEWT !
during the year:
2023 first interim dividend “EI=FFE—RPHKE
- HK2.5 cents per share — 8 RHEE2.51
(2022: 2022 first interim dividend (CE__F:"B_"F
- HK2.5 cents per share) —RAAEARZ S
— B BE2.510) 27,692 27,640
2022 second interim dividend B _FE_RPHKE
- HK5.0 cents per share — &g A Es.01l
(2022: 2021 second interim BT HF B8
dividend — HK5.0 cents per share) BEIRPHRKRE—
SR AES.01L) 55,279 55,275
82,971 82,915
Proposed second interim dividend BREEgE—_S =
for the financial year ended =A=+—HULHMBRFEEZ
31 March 2023 of HK5.0 cents per FIRHPHEAR S S AE 5.0l
share (2022: for the financial year (CEBE—_—F . gEZE—_—
ended 31 March 2022 of =A=+—HLHBREFE
HKS5.0 cents per share) R A ES.01L) 54,552 55,279

Al )5 ) e 42 Pt A PR 3 ) 2022720234 $8
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

15. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings
per share for the year attributable to owners of the

Company is based on the following data:

15. 2 (5548 B

TABREAEANBLEETFESREAKREE
(B518) BRI IRBUA T &I E

2023 2022
BT = P
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Loss) earnings (&518) Z=#
(Loss) earnings for the purpose of BLGtESRERREE (518)
basic and diluted (loss) earnings BRI (B518) &7
per share (38,432) 154,343
2023 2022
‘000 ‘000
TFh& TFh&
Number of shares K& B
Weighted average number of RUGTESRKREZR (B18) BFIM
ordinary shares in issue during the FREHTEERZ
year for the purpose of calculating INHEFHE
basic (loss) earnings per share 1,104,784 1,104,821
Effect of dilutive potential BEBETTERNEE:
ordinary share:
Adjustment in relation to MAATRHNEBREELN
share options granted by N
the Company - 3,750
Weighted average number of RUGTESKIEE (B18) BFM
ordinary shares for the purpose of a9
calculating diluted (loss) earnings per
share 1,104,784 1,108,571
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The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of calculating basic and diluted loss per share for
the year ended 31 March 2023 has taken into account the
ordinary shares repurchased from the market during the
year.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the diluted loss per
share was the same as the basic loss per share as the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options
because the exercise price of those options was higher
than the average market price of shares for the year.

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices, service apartments,
warehouses and retail stores under operating leases
with rentals payable monthly. The leases of offices and
warehouses contain lease payments that are fixed over
the lease term. The leases typically run for a fixed period
of one to four years (2022: one to three years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies
of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, HK$240,000 (2022:
HK$240,000) was paid for leased properties under sub-
leases.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

AU EEE—_S_=F=A=+—HLF
ESREAKRBEGRNSBRINETIIH
BEEREANBTHOREHSEER-

BE_E_=F=A=+—HLEEE AR
SAEESRBEEERBTBRERITEESAT
RTEBRE RRAAZXEBRENITES
BREAKRNDETFIIHE RERBEHEIR
S REAERER-

16. IR EME

AEERBELEHEREZSERAE R
ARAB - AERTEEH HeARAX o
MAEREENHESSREEHREEN
HEMAR -BY—REEAHE—ZENFE (T
I —E=HF)o

AEBLFRBELHFMARZINE A
RARFAEREHUEEZRBERZINEGR
sHE-HESHNIESARREERERR
AT AR ERE R B EY) R BEERE -

HE_E_=#=BA=+—HLEE >
BTN EYEE E T 815240,0007T (=
T4 : #1£240,0007T) ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
FAIR VALUE NTE

At the beginning of the year F 3,140,000 4,943,560
Additions nNE 6,601 29,959
Change in fair value N EEE) (35,884) 207,515
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 38) HEMWE AT (HizE38) - (1,784,084)
Disposals HE (74,637) (129,200)

Transfer to assets classified as held for EBREDEAZFEHESE
sales (note 30) (F$5%30) (2,100) (127,750)
At the end of the year FXR 3,033,980 3,140,000

All of the Group’s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value
model and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

The Group engages third party qualified valuers to
perform the valuation. The management works closely
with the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The management reports the findings to the
board of directors of the Company every half-year to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the
property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest
and best use of the property is the current use.

FEEMARBECEHERFAFRIAZH
BXEEREZYERTDNERATEER
SHET D ERARSREYE-

FEEZERE - A AERMGEMETEHE
EEBASERIINBEEMBISE BZ
BABIEZENEERTRBARE - B
BE+FREt AfEEZgREREER &
BYEATFERBNRE -

RIEEHMENATER WL BERBE
ARBHEBER -
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The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at
31 March 2023 have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on that date by Colliers and JLL
(2022: Colliers and JLL), independent property valuers not
connected with the Group. The Valuers have appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of
similar properties in the relevant locations. The valuation
of properties amounting to HK$1,281,000,000 (2022:
HK$1,351,200,000) was arrived at by reference to market
evidence of transaction prices of similar properties, with
adjustments on adopted market prices. The valuations of
other properties amounting to HK$1,752,980,000 (2022:
HK$1,788,800,000) were arrived at by reference to the
income capitalisation method which is based on the
capitalisation of the net income potential by adopting
an appropriate capitalisation rate, which is derived
from analysis of sale transactions and interpretation of
prevailing investor requirements or expectations.

Summary of fair value hierarchy and Level 3 fair
value measurements

All investment properties of the Group are valued by
reference to a Level 3 fair value measurement.

There are no transfers between different levels within
the fair value hierarchy during both years.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_T_-F-RA=+—HILEE

FEEZKREMER T _=ZF=B=+—
HZAFEDHRRSERL #REREZIHIY

ELEMSHRMEBET (CE__F:5
N fPERTT) HR B2 GEEE - GEMR

HEEEBEM AN RS EEEAN &R REEY
FETHE - 2ETREVEZTHERZER
HE (EHERMATEELRE) 2MEEE
#74151,281,000,0007c (ZE - " F © B
1,351,200,0007T) AW ABTRER S E
HEZHEMYEEEAAE1,752,980,0007T
(ZZ -4 : #51,788,800,0007T) ’ It
FERRBERMAESHNERCLERREBETERA
FHEEELAL ERHBEERZANNER
KREEZERNTEHHRIM S| B EH R o

TEBFAERBEMENDZEFE = RATFES
EfffEe
RmEEERLEATESRERBRB
Ve

L A S S 45 PR 28 W) 2022/20234E § 211



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #2665k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Level 3 valuation methodologies

Below is a table which presents the significant

unobservable inputs:

o —

RIGIET

TREVNERFATERBAEEH :

Investment properties Valuation method Fair value Significant unobservable inputs (Note a)
RENE R ATE EXFORZHALY (Hita)
Adjusted market price per square foot (Note b)
EREMETHRGE (Mib)
Commercial Direct comparison method HK$760,000,000 HK$17,900 - HK$19,499
BRI (2022: HK$770,200,000) (2022: HK$18,058 - HK$20,509)
7#%760,000,0007 A 117,90070 — A 119,49970
(ZZZZE L B770,200,0007T) (CEZZF 18,0587 A 120,50977)
Industrial Direct comparison method Nil N/A
B EfREE (2022: HK$53,000,000) (2022: HK$6,660)
& A
(ZZZZF  #%53,000,0007) (CBZZF: #6607
Residential Direct comparison method HK$521,000,000 HK$19,005
% BELEA (2022: HK$528,000,000) (2022: HK$19,260)
#1521,000,0007 7#119,0057
(CBZZF : AH528,000,0007) (CEZZF: EH19,2607)
Significant unobservable inputs (Note a)
EXFORZHALY (Hita)
Investment properties Valuation method Fair value Capitalisation rate Monthly market rent
(per square foot)
RENE {E1EVaRA ATHE ERbIER SRmERE BTHR)
Commercial Income capitalisation HK$1,739,780,000 2.8% - 4.5% HK$14.0 to HK$66.5
approach (2022: HK$1,753,810,000) (2022: 2.8% - 4.5%) (2022: HK$14.0 to HK$66.5)
WAERGE 711,739,780,0007C 2.8%—4.5% 114,07 —B166.57T
(CBZZF BH1753810000 | (CEZZE:28%—45%) (CEZZ& #1007 #6657
7o)
Industrial Income capitalisation HK$13,200,000 3.0% HK$15.9
I% approach (2022: HK$34,990,000) (2022: 3.0% - 3.3%) (2022: HK$7.6 to HK$15.9)
UN-¥.X(3 #113,200,0007 3.0% AE15.97
(CEZZF EM34990,0007) | (CEZZF 13.0%-3.3%) (CEZZF B 67— EK15.97)
Notes: MI5E ©
(@) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are (i) (a) AHRMASHEANTFEBEZEAREGE
the higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value; KELEEES > AFEBE ()HEMRASH
(ii) the higher the market rent, the higher the fair value; B ATEEE ; R>INVEAEHEES A
and (iii) the higher the adjusted market price, the higher TEHS-
the fair value.
(b) Adjusted market price has taken into account of property- (b) KAEMENDHNERIVENFTRAE OF

specific adjustments including location and condition.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_T_-F-RA=+—HILEE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. V¥ -BERSEE
Leasehold Furniture
land and Plant and and Leasehold Motor
buildings  equipment fixtures improvements vehicles Total
HELME ‘ HEME ] \
BT BERRBE GRREE 51E RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
COST 773
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—EMA—H 408,684 32,015 19,186 24,295 13,265 497,445
Exchange adjustments ExHE 183 - - - - 183
Additions NE = - 211 350 721 1,282
Disposals HE - - (158) (1,368) (1,406) (2,.932)
Transfer to assets classified as BREERTZHFENE
held for sale (note 30) (F5E30) (28,381) - - - - (28,381)
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 38) HEMBAR (MzE38) (44,465) - (31 - - (44,496)
At 31 March 2022 RIZ2ZZF#=R=+-H 336,021 32,015 19,208 23277 12,580 423,101
Exchange adjustments xR (341) - - - - (341)
Additions RE 25,006 1,359 641 345 1,562 28,913
Disposals HE (5,299) (3,218) (672) - (918) (10,107)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=#=R=+-H 355,387 30,156 19,177 23,622 13,224 441,566
DEPRECIATION i
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—&ENA—H 58,115 30,484 13,787 19,490 9,533 131,409
Exchange adjustments ExRAE 79 - - - - 79
Provided for the year FERE 14,332 905 1,636 2,252 1,123 20,248
Eliminated on disposals & RS - - (155) (1,368) (1,151) (2,674)
Transfer to assets classified as BRENEARELEEE
held for sale (note 30) (Fft5£30) (6,384) = - - - (6,384)
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 38) HEMBAT (HzE38) (12,933) - (20) - - (12,953)
At 31 March 2022 RZE-__#=F=+—-H 53,209 31,389 15,248 20,374 9,505 129,725
Exchange adjustments kiR (153) - - - - (153)
Provided for the year FEEE 11,855 521 1,516 1,895 1,142 16,929
Eliminated on disposals & RS (2,921) (3,218) (672) - (918) (7,729)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=#=A=+—H 61,990 28,692 16,092 22,269 9,729 138,772
CARRYING VALUES Eﬁﬁfﬁ
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=8=R=1+—H 293,397 1,464 3,085 1,353 3,495 302,794
At 31 March 2022 WZEZZ&#=B=1+—H 282,812 626 3,960 2,903 3,075 293,376
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_T_-F-A=+—HILEE

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates
per annum:

Leasehold land and Over the unexpired term of the
buildings relevant lease period from 20
to 50 years
Leasehold Over the shorter of the term of
improvements the lease period or 5 years
Other assets 2 to 5 years

As at 31 March 2023, all the leasehold land and buildings
are located in Hong Kong. As at 31 March 2022, the
carrying amount of leasehold land and buildings
comprised properties in Hong Kong except for a building
amounting to HK$2,459,000 which was located in the
Mainland China.

UEME- -BERRBEEDEREBEERE
RHEEDFEITE SHOT

THE L BRMEAKREREHA
Ri2F —_+ER+EF
HEMERE BB ERFRNAE
(AEFZE %)
Hth&EE “ERF

R-ZE-=%=HA=+—H 'FREMAEL
MEEBFHUREAE - RZEZ"F=A4
=+—H -HEITMEEBFEEREEN
ME  BAEEMURTERMSEAS B
2,459,0007CHIIETF o

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. FFHIEEE
2023 2022
-FZ= —FEC
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Leased properties, carrying amount MEYZE  REE 1,283 3,693
Depreciation charge mEER 3,455 4,612
Additions to right-of-use assets RETHAEEE 1,045 5,450
Expenses relating to short-term leases HRARKEKRi%as 2
of plant and machinery FEHATE SRR ST 9,955 16,109
Total cash outflow of leases (excluding HE (FEIESHEBE TN ZHEYZ)
leased properties under sublease) IRE M 4E%E 13,777 21,468

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the cash outflow
paid for leased properties under subleases amounting to
HK$240,000 (2022: HK$240,000).

BE_Z_—F=-HA=+—HILFE M2
HETZHEYEEXNNRERHEEES
A& #240,0007c (CZE - "4 : A15240,000
IT) °©
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The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

For both years, the Group leases office and a retail
shop for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed terms ranging from 1 to 5 years (2022: 1 to 5
years) without any extension and termination option.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group owns several properties including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties
are presented separately only if the payments made can
be allocated reliably. Those leasehold land components of
the owned properties that the payments made could not
be allocated reliably are presented as leasehold land and
building under property, plant and equipment.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
plant and machinery. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed above.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$5,176,000 (2022:
HK$7,646,000) are recognised with related right-
of-use assets of HK$1,283,000 (2022: HK$3,693,000)
and an investment property of HK$9,480,000 (2022:
HK$9,510,000) as at 31 March 2023. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

EREEENEMGFAIERFEHRER (U
RIERE) AUBEFEINE-

RmEEE  AEEBERLERTEER
AREE-HEANBENT—E8F (°F
—THE I —ERF) WEEFHTIL BEE
e 4R AE e A% LE R 12 4 - TR A B (B B 1B i B
8 o 7 T AR B R 5T Ak A AT R B IR B R EE By
FEBRASHERLEE R BHRNITEL
BYRARR °

FEEBEAZEYE (BEEFAAEL M) o
FEEERBBERZSMERD N —REE
R - EERES A SE D ECE (IR RIIE R
T AERIETREERMENHEE LM
o EERMTRENEESMARENZZTE
EMERNEELMEIBORYE BB KRR
BETEIAEEIMRIETF

AEEERTIKE RIESFHEIHBEE 50
TR RIS THE=ZA=+—H'%E
HAEEESE EORERNERE SR
FEREEATR S S B

9 R EZ=F=A=+—H &
BEBE5,176,000c (ZE__F : &
#7,646,0007c) AR FERAEEERK
1,283,0007T (Z & 4 : #13,693,0007T)
T3S B Y% #1E9,480,000C (CE__F B
#£9,510,0007T) —HFEER o PREFA AT AR
EEENRFEDIN HERRELREME
A E - HEEERTRIEERINIERRG
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

19. BE AT 2 f#m

31.3.2023 31.3.2022
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Cost of unlisted investment in REE AT IELHRE Z A
an associate 557 6,618

Share of post-acquisition profits, MEUWEER ZiEH]

net of dividends received (nEwzrR) - 4,105
557 10,723

Details of the Group's associate as at 31 March 2023 and

2022 are as follows:

R_E-_=FF-E-_"_&#=R=+—8">
KEBBE QAT ZEBUOT ¢

Attributable
Place of interest and
Form of incorporation proportion of
business and principal Class of voting power
Name of associate structure place of operation ~ shares held held by the Group Principal activity
, SRAUHER  MERG  AEEEGRAEGR
BERF 201 EBRERS TEELHEY #h BEEZILH TEEH
2023 2022
ZE5ICF - ——
Hoi Bun Godown Company Limited Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property investment
("Hoi Bun Godown") company
BEERERAR (NEELR) BIRAT &k EER NERE
Summarised financial information in respect of the ZAEEBMEATNZMBERBEHN T

Group's associate is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown

in the associate’s financial statements, prepared in

accordance with HKFRSs.
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The associate is accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

BMEARERAEGENZERSMBRERA
fRo

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Total assets BB E 1,114 21,456
Total liabilities waBg - (10)
Net assets BEFE 1,114 21,446
Group's share of net assets of KEESEHERADNEERE
the associate 557 10,723
Revenue WA - -
Loss for the year KEEEE (32) (34)
Group's share of loss and KEBMMEBERARAFERE
other comprehensive expense REMEEZH
of the associate for the year (16) (17)
Dividend received from an FREWBEATZKRE
associate during the year 4,089 -

The financial information of Hoi Bun Godown relating
to the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 included in
the consolidated financial statements do not constitute
Hoi Bun Godown'’s statutory annual financial statements
for those years but is derived from those financial
statements. Further information relating to these
statutory financial statements required to be disclosed
in accordance with section 436 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance is as follows:

HAMBRRAEARBSE_S_=ZFk_
T _HE-RA=-t+—HIEFEZBEERY
BEHTAENZEFEBEERZEESE
EMBHRK BREZEFVHHRER - ARAAR
BEBABRRGEI6RTUREZZEE
EMBREZE-DSERNT :
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

(i) As Hoi Bun Godown is a private company, Hoi Bun
Godown is not required to deliver its financial
statements to the Registrar of Companies, and will
not do so.

(i) Hoi Bun Godown'’s auditor has yet to report on
these financial statements for the year ended 31

(ii)

HIBEERERA—BRMARR BEE
BBARLRREMBBRRIERABGF
MEERER

BEEERBMEAMBE_ST_=F
ZA=+—HUEFEZZSUBHRRE

March 2023. HERE o
20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. SEEFRZEE
31.3.2023 31.3.2022
=ZA=+-8 | ZA=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT
Interests in joint ventures comprise: BETEZEREE
Cost of unlisted investments in joint RAEEREFLTREZES
ventures 242,424 242,424
Share of post-acquisition results and ~ D{EUREER 2 2EK
other comprehensive expense, HihemzH
net of dividends received (OB Z IR E) (136,156) (56,412)
106,268 186,012
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BE_TZ_=#=B=t+—HLEE
Details of the Group'’s principal joint ventures as at 31 RIE_=FK-E-_"_F=H=+—H">
March 2023 and 2022 are as follows: FEETESELEZFBUT:
Attributable
Place of interest and
Form of incorporation proportion of
business and principal Class of voting power
Name of joint venture structure place of operation shares held held by the Group Principal activities
AMMUMER ARG FEBREREELZR
RELEZAH ERREIL TEERHHN 5 RRRZILH TEEH
2023 2022
ZBIZE ZEICF
Haining Jiafeng Real Estate Limited liability The People’s  Registered 49% 49% Property development in
Development Limited (“Haining company Republic of China capital Haining, the PRC
Jiafeng’) ARAS (the"PRC’)  ERER KOE LS
BERSRHERRAR HE AR AR NEERE
(NE=x2)) ()
Great Splendor Enterprises Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
company Hong Kong Lk Hong Kong
BRAR  EBRZBEE/ER H"*%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ?"ﬁ#?
Ideal League Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAE  REEXHEE/EFE ﬁ%%f&h&ﬁ?’“ﬁ#?
Grace Universe Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
BFAERAT company Hong Kong LiER Hong Kong
ERAE  REEXEE/EE REBETREZRER
Super Plus Limited Limited liability HongKong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property investment in
company &% LER Hong Kong
BIRAT REBES %¥&ﬁ¥i¢‘
Flourishing Stable Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
REERAF company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAR Eﬁﬁ?ﬁ%/é% ﬁ%%f&ﬁ&ﬁ?’“ﬁ#?“
Fortunate Benefit Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
HHERAR company Hong Kong LER Hong Kong
ERAE  REEXEE/EE Fé%iﬁﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ#?
Fortune Creation Developments Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
Limited company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAR  EBRZBEE/ER REBETNERERER
Harbour Sky (BVI) Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAR EE#%‘E/ é% REBETREERER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE-_®R-_=—G=A=+—ALFE

Attributable
Place of interest and
Form of incorporation proportion of
business and principal Class of voting power
Name of joint venture structure place of operation shares held held by the Group Principal activities
AMMUMER ARG FRERERSEDR
RELFZAHE ERRERS TEERNE 5 BRREZLA TERH
2023 2022
ZBIZE ZEICE
Honour Advent Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
BEBRAT company Hong Kong LER Hong Kong
BRAR  ABRZBEE/ER ﬁ%‘rﬁiﬁﬁ&‘ﬁi”“ﬁx%?
Prime Success Global Limited Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
BRRRERAT company Hong Kong LR Hong Kong
BRAR  EBRLBE/ER REBETRELERES
Capital Green Holdings Limited* Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary - 50% Investment holding in
company Hong Kong Lk Hong Kong
BIRAT EE#%%/@F& REHES &:ﬁ?"ﬁxﬁ%
Fortune Shiner Development Limited  Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
EERRERAT company &8 LER Hong Kong
BRAR REAES 4%¥§*E¥?*
Protic Limited Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
BEBRAF company Y LBk Hong Kong
BRAR REAES %%’fﬁﬁ“
Esteemed Virtue Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
HEERAR company Hong Kong LEk Hong Kong
BRAR  EBRZHEE/ER REBETREERED
Befit Limited Limited liability HongKong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
company &% LR Hong Kong
BRAR REAES 4%¥§*E¥?*
Excess Wonder Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
%5 BRAT company Hong Kong LER Hong Kong
BRAR Elﬁﬁﬁ%/'é}% REAES &ﬁ}”}_ﬁxﬁ“
Rainbow Jade Enterprises Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
FELEBRAT company Hong Kong BER Hong Kong
BRAR  EBRZBEE/ER REBETNEERED
*  Joint ventures which were disposed during the year ended *  ZERECENREE—ZE=F=B=1—
31 March 2023. BLEFERKHE-
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The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To
give details of other joint ventures would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

All joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

Aggregate financial information of the Group’s joint

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
HEZ-_=-"F=-A=+—HIEFE

LRI ERFNEERAHEEREEHE
ERAEAREZAEBGECX -BEETR
HIHMEERENER B AMBRIT
Eo

FrECEEEERAERENZSHREHUHR
RARRe

RIE_=fFfr-ZE-_-_F=A=+—8"

ventures as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 is set out below: FERARECEEAMBEREINWT :
2023 2022
—E°= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current assets B E 3,220,991 3,120,392
Current liabilities Gt E=RE (3,854,868) (3,575,214)
Non-current assets ERBEE 629,427 659,741
Net (liabilities) assets (BB EEZFE (4,450) 204,919
Group's share of net assets KERDLEEZE 106,268 186,012
Net loss for the year REEFEE (194,681) (55,645)
Other comprehensive (expense) AEEHMEE (ZH) WE
income for the year (14,688) 7,742
Group's share of loss for the year FEEDMLZEAFERE (72,547) (8,073)

BB AR PERE A RN ) 2022202358 221



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #2665k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
The unrecognised share of loss of KEERBERDEEE
joint ventures for the year EEE 24,781 19,830
Cumulative unrecognised share of Rt kER LGS
losses of joint ventures 109,918 85,137
21. LOANS TO JOINT VENTURES FE™M
31.3.2023 31.3.2022
—EI=HF —F-—
=BA=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loans to joint ventures SETEEXR 1,027,814 974,529

As at 31 March 2023, loans are granted to joint ventures
engaging in property development and property
investment in Hong Kong. The loans amounted to
HK$449,626,000 (2022: HK$508,939,000) are unsecured,
interest bearing at 4.25% (2022: 4.25%) per annum and
repayable on demand. The remaining loans to joint
ventures are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have
no fixed terms of repayment. The Group has no intention
to request for repayment of the loans amounting to
HK$1,027,814,000 (2022: HK$974,529,000) within the
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the loans are classified as non-current assets.

R_E_=ZF=ZA=+—H ' x&EE@EKF
REBNREVEZBRYMWEREZEEDR
EEHANAL49,626,000T (B

75 #5508,939,0007T) ° &R IEE B > 17
FBA25% (B "F:4.25%) st B K
EREREE- BRTRTFEELEZER
DEIEE A ERBEEEERP -AEH
EERBRSHRES T —EAREXREE
AB11,027,814,000c (ZE - —F : B
974,529,0007T) ZEM ALk ' ZZE GRS
FEAERMEE-
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The Group assessed the ECL with reference to the internal
credit rating of the counterparties. Impairment loss
of HK$28,044,000 (2022: a reversal of impairment loss
of HK$9,387,000) was recognised in profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2023. Details of impairment
assessment are set out in note 49.

22. JOINT OPERATION

The Company, a subsidiary of the Company and
independent third parties (“Joint Operator”) entered
into a development agreement dated 20 December
2005 and a supplemental agreement date 8 February
2010 in respect of the joint development of a residential
development project in Hong Kong (the “Project”).
On 19 January 2021, the Group entered into a second
supplement agreement with the Joint Operator. The
details of the second supplement agreement were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 19
January 2021. Pursuant to the agreements, the Group
and the Joint Operator contributed the lots of land
owned and executed of a deed of exchange to merge the
ownership of the lots of land and owned in the ratio of
24.82% and 75.18%, respectively, in the merged land and
the Project.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

AEEMBEHH ZABEETRTETERE
BEFEB-BE_S_=4=H=+—BL%HE
FE R {E A5 18 78 528,044,000 (T - — & :
1% O] 35 {5 A5 $8 75 159,387,0007T) N iE & H FE
0 o BT s ¥ 1B &AL P 5E49 0

22. BagE

ERBBRBZWBRBKRBIFE=T
(MHagEE) MREBNEEERER
(TZEH)) WBMAEERITL—MBASBRZ
EZHEF+_RTHNERERBEKRAH
R_E—EE_AN\HNERHR -N_F
——F—-A+NB FrEEEBMEEEE]
VYR _MERGR B _MBERIGEZFR
BERAATN _Z-_—F—HF+ABHZA
HoRBZEFRZ *EEARBMEGEEERTMN
P B 3th B it 38 37 ST HA 248 DA & st ER B9
AR TREGHMREAZBEEFDAER
24.82%}%75.18% °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

The aggregate amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue

and expenses recognised in the consolidated financial

statements in relation to the Group's interest in the joint

operation are as follows:

REGZEMBREPEIDEMEERNHGE
ERNEDNEERER - WAKRRBSEH
TERUF ¢

B _2223 B _21)22

_21:K_$;00 _%I-‘IK_$GOO

BUET T BT T

Assets BE 932,000 907,553

Liabilities =K (2,659) (10,052)

Revenue A - -

Expenses (553 (10,543) (25)
23. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 23. BRHBPZFEME

FOR SALE

At the end of the reporting period, total cumulative
borrowing costs capitalised in the properties under
development for sale were HK$15,424,000 (2022:
HK$8,866,000). Write-downs of properties under
development for sale amounted to HK$10,411,000 (2022:
Nil) for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The carrying amount of leasehold lands amounting to
HK$882,267,000 (2022: HK$877,998,000) is measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The residual values are determined
as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold land
component. No depreciation charge is made on the
leasehold lands taking into account the estimated
residual values as at 31 March 2023 and 2022. During the
year ended 31 March 2023, the Group made payment of
HK$4,269,000 (2022: nil) for the acquisition of additional
parcel of leasehold lands.

RBERR BEPZHEVEELALZR
SHE TR S48 %5 24 A 1515,424,0007T (=8
— 4 : /£8,866,0007T) cHE_T_=
=B=+—BLEE - WRAERPZHFEY
EAA110,411,000T (T 25 ) o

fAE M BIERTEE B 15882,267,0007T (Z &
— 4 #A18877,998,0007T) % A AN S AE A
R MEREAREBESZE - FIREEE
EAHELMBINGEFEEEBE - ZET
CECCERIE-_H=A=+—HBWE
StREREE TEMEE L HRITEER -
BE_Z_=—H=-HA=+—HLEEE &&
E LU BB EESME & L 3h =% {78 #54,269,0007T

(CE-—F: 8| o
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The properties under development for sale located in
Hong Kong, is classified under current assets as it is
expected to be realised in the Group’s normal operating
cycle. The entire amount is expected to be recovered
after twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

AR UNEENERPZGEYERRAN
AEBEEEEEMRNER RO ELRE
BEE 2N MAHN RS HARES + @
B&7arug(a

24. INVENTORIES 24. 786
31.3.2023 31.3.2022
=A=+—8 | ZA=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT T
Health products - finished goods BEER—HNAS 3,242 3,630
Others - finished goods Hith— & m - 2,368
3,242 5,998
25. CONTRACT ASSETS 25. fHNEE
31.3.2023 31.3.2022
=A=+—8 | ZA=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Construction contracts BERIREY 239,137 266,120
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBREEE (929) (1,100)
238,208 265,020

As at 1 April 2021, contract assets amounted to
HK$264,800,000.

Contract assets arise when the Group has right to
consideration for completion of construction contract,
interior and renovation contract and installation of
building materials contract and not yet billed under
the relevant contracts, and their right is conditioned
on factors other than passage of time. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to
trade debtors when such right becomes unconditional.

RZFZ—FMA—BH &NEEREE
264,800,0007T °

BHNEERTEETHRERIRSH K
REETIRGHORERERMH IEGHON
R WENA BRI EN A RAE R KRR EE
HENRBERDNEEEL MESESHEAE
FBUGRBS BF B #E 7S LA B9 (A K - oAl B fE ST
RAENEENEARIAT R AREN NS E
REREERDEERURIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #2665k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Included in carrying amount of contract assets was
retention money amounted to HK$124,190,000 (2022:
HK$152,035,000) as at 31 March 2023. Retention money
is unsecured and interest-free and represented the
monies withheld by customers of contract works to be
fully recoverable within 1 to 2 years from the date of
completion of construction contracts, in accordance
with the terms specified in the relevant contracts. Upon
satisfactory completion of contract work as set out in
the contract, the architect for the building project will
issue a practical completion certificate. Generally, upon
the issuance of the practical completion certificate, half
of the retention money of such contract work will be
released to the Group, while the remaining half will be
released to the Group upon the issuance of the certificate
that identified defects in respect of the entire building
project have been made good.

The retention money would be settled, based on the
expiry of the defect liability period, at the end of the
reporting period as follows:

MRZEBEZ_=F=B=+—H ' aNEENEE
HESEREEE124,190,00057t (&
— % 1 #1152,035,0007T) - REE A E
EREEES BRREEFMENIEMEY
HNRIE HARBEBRASORE Z RN E
RIREENTHBRES —EMERZEK
Eloe RENMMIIEZENTREERTMRE 12
FEBZEEMBELERBTHE -—RK
me BHERBTHER LEEHNTREZ
—¥REEHERFTAEER > MG —F&
RERMZFEFEEMBRZREEEREE
ZHEERHEBEERTAER-

RE R KRG HHRENRESEENE
WA BRI

31.3.2023 31.3.2022
—EBZ=HF —E_C
=B=+—RB | =A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Amount receivable within one year —EREREEE 81,258 31,716
Amount receivable after one year —FREKRSEE 42,932 120,319
124,190 152,035
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Included in the above contract assets are amounts due
from related parties of trading nature as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

UEEHNEERNBERBABATRES T
BZRIATIBRMT -

31.3.2023 31.3.2022
—EF= -

=B=+—H | =B=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT

Joint ventures e b 20,915 5,881

Subsidiaries of Million Hope Industries ETEBXZEREFRAE

Holdings Limited (“Million Hope") (TEE=Z)) 2B AR (Mizh)

(note) 1,071 1,064

Note: Million Hope is regarded as a related company in which
CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and certain discretionary
trusts, of which certain directors of the Company
are among the members of the class of discretionary
beneficiaries, have beneficial interests.

As part of the internal credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to construction contract, interior and renovation
contract and installation of building materials contract.
The exposure to credit risk and ECL for contract assets
are assessed based on collective assessment, except for
contract assets that are credit-impaired or receivable
from departments of The Government of HKSAR which
are assessed individually.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 49.

M ET R ABBE Q23 MA A
* E BRECCM Trust (Cayman) Limited
(TCCM Trust)) RREFEBREE (RAEE
FTESAHNBESHZAENPZRE) RHE
RES B o

FRARMBEERREEREZ -5 AEBEM
BEIRAN KMHRMEEIRGOREE
BEMHIRGNAEZTRRAARBEET
Be-MENBEMAEZEERRRTARE
BEERENERIGETIG EEEREE
HENSHNEENEREBEITHREBMN
EBFI R IR 1T B B ST (4 BRI o

BT L IR /A MY 5E49
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #2665k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

26. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

26. EULTRIA - B R T (I 7R IE

PREPAYMENTS
31.3.2023 31.3.2022
—E=H —ECCHF
=B=+-RB | =A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade debtors FE U =R IE

— contracts with customers —EBREH 73,156 114,548
— lease receivables —THE WA 303 519
Less: Allowance for credit losses S EEEEE (286) (768)
73,173 114,299
Other receivables HthpE U zrIa 7,375 6,693

Escrow deposits for investment DEAFEHEREMEN
properties classified as held for sale SEERE - 3,950
Deposits BE 4,232 4,268
Prepayments TR FRIE 20,752 19,156
105,532 148,366

As at 1 April 2021, trade debtors from contracts with
customers, net of allowance for credit losses, amounted
to HK$101,267,000.

For the business of construction services and others, the
Group generally allows a credit period of 30 to 90 days
and not more than 90 days (2022: 30 to 90 days and not
more than 90 days), respectively, to its customers. Before
accepting any new customer, the Group will internally
assess the credit quality of the potential customers and
define appropriate credit limit. Other receivables are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

R-ZE_-—FMWA—H RKBEFRFEN
ZEWRE (NREEERER) 28K
101,267,0007T °

EREERBREMER  AXEB— KA
FEERDN=+TZEA+TBHEARAZHRATH

“EICHF I =t+EA+EERAZRAT
B ZEEH EEMAMELZA N AEEF
HETERZEEHERFEAEBTM > WA
FEEERE HEMERFIENEER 28
R EREFEIE-
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Management closely monitors the credit quality of trade
debtors. 96% (2022: 82%) of the trade debtors are past
due and considered to have good credit quality based on
their historical repayments. Included in the trade debtors
balance are trade debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$1,587,000 (2022: HK$8,955,000) which are
past due over 90 days at the end of the reporting period
for which the Group does not consider them to be credit-
impaired as the directors of the Company considered
there has no default occurred as these trade debtors
are still considered fully recoverable due to long term/
on-going relationship and good repayment record from
these debtors. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances. There are no balances included in
other receivables which are past due.

The aged analysis of trade debtors, net of allowance
for credit losses, presented based on the invoice date,
as appropriate, at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

CEEHEESEVERRKREBEZEEER
Hrhoe% (ZE-"F :82%) EKHIEE
B MBBRFEEZERELEMS  HEA
EEEEZERF G RNERNRIELGRIKRE
{E4EXEE151,587,0000 (B - —F . B
8,955,0007T) Z FEWRIE X ¥k & HA R B @ A
BATHMAEERAZERBELEELEF
BB FEREAXRTESERA ARHEZE
BHEANRE FEBAGRRERTFNERS
B MZ SRR R A 0 2 8k(E »
L B EREN -AEBMEMZELS
BREFETMERR HMtMEKWRIEL ZEE
BEAZ &Ko

FEWRRIR (OFRE BB R ER) ZIRE DTS
RBREHAR BT B WMER) K27
mE

31.3.2023 31.3.2022

—EI=HF —F==
=BA=+—8 | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within 30 days =+HR 66,850 100,834
31-60 days =+—Z/;x+H 4,637 2,844
61-90 days ~NT—ZEh+H 99 1,385
Over 90 days #BiEh+H 1,587 9,236
73,173 114,299
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Included in the above trade debtors are amounts due
from related parties of trading nature as follows:

AU LERBRERASERKREARALTRES
MEZRIRTIBAWMT -

31.3.2023 31.3.2022
—E°= =S
=B=+—H | =Z=B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Joint ventures e b 12,204 7,240
Subsidiaries of Million Hope ESZIBAE] - 19

As part of the internal credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to construction contract, interior and renovation
contract and installation of building materials contract.
The exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade debtors
are assessed based on collective assessment, except for
trade debtors that are credit-impaired or receivable from
departments of The Government of HKSAR which are
assessed individually.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 49.

27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT
VENTURES

The amounts were unsecured with interest rate at
0.77% (2022: 0.77%) per annum, non-trade nature and
repayable on demand.

The Group assessed the ECL with reference to the internal
credit rating of the counterparties.

FARSBEERREERZ -0 AEERM
BEIREGN B REEIRGOREE
BEMHBIREGHNAEZTRRBAARMBEET
AR o BLEE WK IEFR KR 2 (E E AR KR FRERE
BEEHEERERILETIGL EFERER
(B B FE WS ek TE B FE LU & B 4 B 1T L& BT
EBPIRYRRIRE T B B ST LRI o

AR R AN EE T

27. B ERERIE

ZETENLERE -REFNFK77% (ZFT
TTHF1077%) T EFEGHERNEX
RFEE-

FEESEHRHZAREEFRFETRBE
B8
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28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The amounts represent investments in equity securities
listed on the Stock Exchange whose fair value amounted
to HK$405,000 (2022: HK$346,000) as at 31 March 2023.

29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and
short-term bank deposits for the purpose of meeting the
Group’s’ short-term cash commitments, with an original
maturity of three months or less at interest rate at a
range from 0.01% to 1.50% (2022: 0.01% to 0.25%) per
annum as at 31 March 2023.

At 31 March 2023, bank balances and cash of
HK$6,967,000 (2022: HK$1,009,000) were denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB"”) which is not a freely convertible
currency in the international market. The exchange rate
of RMB is regulated by the PRC government and the
remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to
exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

The Group’s bank balances that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the
relevant group entities are set out below.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

28. FBBRMBRATFEAEZME
BE

ZEREERBMXR LT 2R AEERE
RIEBE_=F#=B=+—H HAFEAH
#405,0007C (ZE =4 : #E1£346,0007T) ©

29. RERFEFE

RERREESESERANAEAEREH
HERENTPERREHRTER BE
HRA=EAxIUAT RZEZ=%F=H
=+—HMEMEXA0.01%FE1.50% (ZZ
T 1 0.01%FE0.25%) ©

RIEZ=F=H=+—H " #%6,967,0007c
(ZETE - : #%£1,009,0007T) 2 $RIT45ER
RREHLAREIE ARERERBEES
SEHRBR AREKEXRZIHEBFARE KR
RPEEHERESETPEBMAEFN
B PR il #R PR ©

FEBUERERBERZMEGEUIZE
WEIEZ RITHEFEIIM T -

31.3.2023 31.3.2022

=BA=+—H | ZB=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT

Euro BR 7T 13 13
Macau Pataca (“MOP") PGk - 33
RMB AR 833 899
United States Dollar (“USD") ETT 18 18

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 49.

AR R AN T
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

30. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

SALE AND LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED
WITH ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD

FOR SALE

The major classes of assets classified as held for sale and

30. PEBRFFLEEERDES
FIFLERERMZAR

DEARFHEEERDEARFHESRE

liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale HEAZzBEZETE2HEFMT :
are as follows:
31.3.2023 31.3.2022
—EZ=F =
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
HKS$'000 HK$'000
AT BT
Investment properties KEME 6,600 134,050
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERZE - 21,997
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEWFRIE~ & R FEMRIE - 220
Taxation recoverable AR [E R 18 - 595
Bank balances R1T4EER - 6,802
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFEHEEE 6,600 163,664
Trade and other payables & {5 TR IE B EL fth FE 1 7R IE - 1,258
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBAE - 1,130
Liabilities associated with assets NEAFEHEEEMERZ
classified as held for sale afE - 2,388
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
entered into a provisional sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party to dispose of its 100%
equity interest in Emwell Limited, an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, at an aggregate
consideration of HK$205,000,000, subject to adjustments.
Emwell Limited directly held the legal and beneficial
ownership of certain units and car parking spaces
in an industrial property located in Hong Kong. The
directors of the Company considered that the held-for-
sale criteria as set out in HKFRS 5 were met, by taking
into account the fact that the subject equity interest
was immediately available for sale, and the sale was to
be highly probable as appropriate level of management
had committed to a plan to sell the equity interest.
Accordingly, the respective assets and liabilities were
classified as assets held for sale and liabilities associated
with assets classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2022
and included in the property investment segment for
segment reporting purposes. The disposal was completed
during the year ended 31 March 2023. A gain on change
in fair value of investment properties amounting to
HK$14,990,000 (2022: Nil). The final consideration
amounting to HK$210,835,000 and a gain on disposal of
assets classified as held for sale and liabilities associated
with assets classified as held for sale amounting to
HK$48,550,000 (2022: Nil) was recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

RBEE_SE-__F=A=+—HILEEE &
EEBEBUFE=ATUBRRESE RS UH
EHERNARRAZHEEZEEZENB AR EERIR
REW B KB %A 1205,000,000
7t (AR EERERATEERE &
MREBNIEYENETEMREEMNZ
ETE R B P o 885t Be 5% IR 1 BN B A it
HERABERINEERE B AHHERE
Mt BUREENTREEBS A ATES
RANEEBMBREENSAFEFAETE
HEEE - FI R_E__F=B=+—
B HREEREERS BAREHESE
REANSBEAFFHESERRZEE I/
SEREENMAMERES B -ZHE
EEENBE_S_=#=HA=+—HLt=
ERTH - REMEZ ATEEHRELE
114,990,000 (ZBE-_F : ) -RBE_
TC—E-A=1+—HIEE BERIRK
R BH 210,835,000t R HEDEAIFIEL
EEERENBARFHESERRZAE
2 4 1548,550,0007c (CE-_"F 1 F) o

Bl I 1l s 45 WA ) 2022/20234E i 233



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #2665k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
also entered into a provisional sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose
of certain units and a car parking space in an industrial
property located in Hong Kong with carrying amount
of HK$10,931,000 as at 31 March 2022, at an aggregate
consideration of HK$79,000,000. The directors of the
Company considered that the held-for-sale criteria as
set out in HKFRS 5 were met, by taking into account the
fact that the subject assets were immediately available
for sale, and the sale was to be highly probable as
appropriate level of management had committed to a
plan to sell the equity interest or assets. Accordingly,
the respective assets were classified as assets held for
sale as at 31 March 2022 and included in the property
investment segment for segment reporting purposes. The
disposal was completed during the year ended 31 March
2023. A gain on disposal of assets classified as held for
sale amounting to HK$68,069,000 was recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Group launched certain car parking spaces located
in Hong Kong for sale in the market in prior years.
For the car parking spaces without sale and purchase
agreements and offered for sales, the directors of the
Company considered that the held-for-sale criteria as set
out in HKFRS 5 were met, by taking into account the fact
that the subject investment properties were immediately
available for sale, and the sale was highly probable as
appropriate level of management had committed to a
plan to sell the investment properties. Accordingly, the
subject investment properties were classified as assets
held for sale and included in the property investment
segment for segment reporting purposes. During the
year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered into
an agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of one car parking space at a consideration of
HK$2,200,000. The disposal was completed in March
2023. A gain on change in fair value of investment
properties amounting to HK$400,000 (2022: Nil) was
recognised during the year. The car parking spaces with
carrying amount of HK$4,500,000 (2022: HK$6,300,000)
remain unsold as at 31 March 2023.

234

RBEE_SE-__F=A=+—HILEEFE &
EETEBYE= AT NBRREE RS U
HEH-—BRUREENITEYENETE
M REEMG R E-__F#=B=+—HH
EREE2A#H1£10,931,00070 AR BEA B
79,000,000 ° K5t e sk B E BN RF el H &
REBEZRINEEBEAEALERERE
ENEUREENTEEBS A ARE
ERAVEEAMBRSENFERRAE
FEHEZE-EH - BE_E_-__F=AH
=+—H EREERSEARFHESE
THMAEREENMTAMERESE - Z
HEFEERBEE_S_=E=A=1+—
HEFERTER RBE_ZT-=F=A8
=+—HLEEFE BERIALEDEAFTEY
EEE W B%68,069,0007T ©

RBEEE AEEBHANREENETE
HAURMELHE RMUEESTEEREE
FEMNBEMNMS @ &t RZREYEET
HHERABERINEEBEAZHER
BEMENFEURHEENTREMBS > A
BEERAR ST EMEBERSENS TR
HIFEHEEE AL ZREVECHES
BEHEEE  TMOBEREENMtAY
BN E - NBE_E_=F=A=+—
HIEEE  ZEBRBIE= AT mE U
R{E&12,200,0007c & —EF B ° %
EEEER - E_=ZF-ASH FA KE
MEZ AT EES N EE400,000T (ZF
_HE B RIE_=F=A=+—8">
EREE %A B 154,500,000 (S - & Bl
6,300,0007T) FI{EE{I{HARE L
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group also
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party to dispose of certain car parking
spaces in an industrial property located in Hong Kong
with carrying amount of HK$2,100,000, at an aggregate
consideration of HK$2,100,000. The directors of the
Company considered that the held-for-sale criteria as set
out in HKFRS 5 were met, by taking into account the fact
that the subject assets were immediately available for
sale, and the sale is to be highly probable as appropriate
level of management had committed to a plan to sell the
equity interest or assets. Accordingly, the respective assets
were classified as assets held for sale as at 31 March 2023
and included in the property investment for segment
reporting purposes. The disposal was completed in April
2023.

As at 31 March 2023, fair value of the investment
properties classified as held for sale amounting to
HK$6,600,000 (2022: HK$134,050,000) were determined
by Colliers, an independent property valuer, taking
into consideration the contracted selling price, if any. A
gain on change in fair value of investment properties
amounting to HK$15,390,000 (2022: nil) is recognised in
profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2023.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_T_-F-RA=+—HILEE

RBE_S-_=F=-HA=+—HLEEE &K
EETEBYE=AITNEERZE UHE
MR EANITEYMENE TEEM REE
%%Wzmqwﬁb%ﬁﬁﬁﬁmzwowo

TR RZEENRHEERRBEE R
%WAEEEﬁ CHERENEER B
BHENAEEBS X ARESRARTS
EAMBREENFERARABIFTELEE
E R R-_BE_=F£=B=+—H" %M@
BEERDEARLRESE UMD ERS
EMW%A%%&ﬁﬁﬁo%&%EEEK
—E_=FNHBAE/K-

RIEZ=F=A=+—8>28EAFEH
EREYEZ A TFEA6,600,0007T (ZF
— T4 #8134,050,0007T) Th B I ¥ (L
BEME IR T RTHNERE WA) EE -IHE
EE_=F=-RB=1+—HLEE KEY
¥ 2Z AT EEEWEAE5,390,0007T (ZF
—TE T BRIEEER -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31. FE{IRRIA R H fth FE{F 7R IE

31.3.2023 31.3.2022

== —ECF

—BA=+—H | =B=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Trade payables FE(TFRIE 59,994 79,925
Retention payable — amount payable FE{J{REIS—

within one year —FERNENERE 119,981 41,581
Retention payable — amount payable FE{J{REIS—

after one year —FREMNERE 30,245 112,241

Accrued operating costs and charges  fEEtE B AR E A 109,077 176,936

Accrued costs for construction work FEEtIEE TR A 153,538 146,424

Temporary receipts B BSF W B 2 7R 18 2,633 3,008

Deposits received from disposal of REHESEARFEHEBEEZE

assets classified as held for sale BN IR & - 3,950

Deposits received BERE 17,143 17,612

492,611 581,677

The credit period on purchase of goods and payment for
subcontractors’ works is ranged from 30 to 90 days.

The aged analysis of trade payables presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

WEBRRS (S QHTRRAEZE SN
F=+EN+H-

EARBEZREDNDIRBREARZER
BHEERZE5WMT -

31.3.2023 31.3.2022

=A=+—8 | ZA=+-H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT AT

Within 30 days =+HWAR 59,330 79,494
Over 90 days #Bi@Eh+H 664 431
59,994 79,925

As at 31 March 2023, the retention payable balances
included retention payable to subsidiaries of Million
Hope amounting to HK$200,000 (2022: HK$218,000).

A _E_=ZF=HA=1+—H EHRESE
BREERMEZT ZHBATAR200,0007T
(ZTEZ £ : #1218,0007T) Z1RE S -
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32. PROVISIONS

The Group’s provisions are analysed for reporting

purposes as:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE_T_=F=-H=+—HLEE

FEFEFE2RABRNEBEDINWMT :

31.3.2023 31.3.2022
—E-= —ECHF
=B=+—H | ZB=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT T
Current liabilities mEEE 9,008 16,605
Non-current liabilities ERBERE 34,560 27,543
43,568 44,148
The movement of the Group's provisions are as follows: NEEBEEESHNT
Provision for
rectification
work
ByIE
L
HK$'000
AETT
At 1 April 2021 R-E-_—&mMA—H 84,222
Provision 20,837
Utilisation (60,911)
At 31 March 2022 F£=H=+4+—H 44,148
Provision 16,205
Utilisation (16,785)
At 31 March 2023 F=BA=+—H 43,568
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

The provision for rectification work as at 31 March 2023
and 2022 relates to the cost of work to be carried out in
relation to construction contracts, interior and renovation
contracts and supply and installation of ceiling system
supplied to the Group’s customers during the defects
liability period, mainly for a period of maximum of 2
years, based on relevant correspondence and contracts
with customers and management’s prior experience with
the consideration of the rectification work claim in the
past. These amounts have not been discounted for the
purpose of measuring the provision for rectification work
because the effect is not material.

33. LEASE LIABILITIES

RIBE_=FKR-_E__F=B=+—8"
BUTREBEIREAERNBEETHAAM
AERIRMEZERIRESHN EM&AEET
REOURBERZEXRIER R G LK
o BREZRNEBARGERENAUKRER
EBHAFENTRERENKE  RiaS T8
TELZ—EBEEREMFNEM BRI
BN AEA WZESETRAMAEERT
TREREETINR

33.1HE&E

31.3.2023 31.3.2022
=B=+—8 | =ZB=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Lease liabilities payable: FENGHEE&E
Within one year —FR 1,732 3,478
Within a period of more than one year B#8—FERL K MEHRBA
but not more than two years 336 1,029
Within a period of more than two yearsBBMEEARAZ N A ELRBA
but not more than five years 202 169
More than five years fiEeh Cal=d 2,906 2,970
5,176 7,646
Less: Amount due for settlement within j& : 7+ 188 R EIHA4EE
12 months shown under current DTRARHEBREZER
liabilities (1,732) (3,478)
Amount due for settlement after R+ZERRIREE
12 months shown under non-current D 4EAIJEREBIAFEZ L8
liabilities 3,444 4,168

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to lease liabilities is 4.0% to 6.0% (2022: 4.0% to
6.0%).
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34. BANK LOANS

o A 5 2 B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_T_-F-RA=+—HILEE

34. tRITE™

31.3.2023 31.3.2022
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Bank loans (note a) IRITER (Mi5ta) 1,525,434 1,791,400
Less: Amount shown under current /J’E DEARBHEEZEEE
liabilities (including bank loans (BIEERERER
with a repayable on demand ZIRITER)
clause) (394,365) (644,365)
Amount shown under DEAERBEBRZERE
non-current liabilities 1,131,069 1,147,035
The carrying amounts of the above LiEEZREEAR
borrowings are repayable: THHARIEE -
within one year —FR 15,965 15,965
within a period of more than one BiE—FEREa
year but not exceeding two years W HA R A 1,131,069 15,965
within a period of more than two HBBAMEERER
years but not exceeding five years A FHRER - 1,131,070
1,147,034 1,163,000
The carrying amount of bank loans BRARBEREEFRRZ
that contain a repayable on demand $RITEMEREE (DA
clause (shown under current liabilities JRENEE) B T5IHAR
but repayable: fBig :
within one year —ER 378,400 628,400
1,525,434 1,791,400
Secured (note b) BEEH (fisEb) 1,425,434 1,691,400
Unsecured S 3 100,000 100,000
1,525,434 1,791,400
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BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Notes:

(@ The Group’s bank loans are floating-rate borrowings
which carry interest at market rates ranging from HIBOR +
0.75% to HIBOR + 1.84% per annum (2022: from HIBOR +
0.75% to HIBOR + 1.64% per annum).

(b) The bank loans are secured by charges over certain assets
of the Group, which are disclosed in note 40.

() The weighted average effective interest rates on the
Group's bank loans range from 3.78% to 4.87% (2022:
1.07% to 1.96%) per annum.

35. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is
the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

Bk -

(@)

(b)

(9]

AEBMBITERDUTBANEFENZFH
MEER FMNERBFARITEERSM
0.75% EEFARITAEREM.84%THE (=
TTF  HEBRITEEREMO.75%E
EHARITEZEIFRENM1.64%) o

ZERITERULERETEERR 515
PRI 5404 25

AEFRTERZMEFTHERFN X

#A3.78%FE4.87% (ZCE-_F : 1.07%=E
1.96%) °
35. IRIEFRIE
EIEEHMBERARE > B TIRIERIEEE

RBFEEEREHFH UTBMHBFREEN
ME ZELERIBGERZ 0

31.3.2023 31.3.2022
—FE= “EICHE
=ZA=+-8 | =A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000

AT AETT

Deferred tax assets IRIERIEEE 849 595
Deferred tax liabilities IRERIBEAE (6,377) (6,357)
(5,528) (5,762)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
EIET=F=B=1+—HIFE

&

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities ZAEBFERIEREBEEE (BE) RRTEE

(assets) of the Group and movements thereon during the FBFEERIEMEE ZESHMT !

current and prior years:

Accelerated
tax Tax Provision
depreciation losses for ECL Total
iz BHEE
REmE RIEEE BiaRE k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BETT ABETT AETT
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—&NE—H 31,506 (25,245) (977) 5,284
Transfer to assets classified as BREENBARLEERE
held for sale (note 30) (Fi#5¥30) (1,130) = = (1,130)
Charge (credit) to consolidated REFEGSEZRISH
statement of profit or loss (EtA)
for the year 1,519 (580) 669 1,608
At 31 March 2022 A _E__FE=-H=+—H 31,895 (25,825) (308) 5,762
Charge (credit) to consolidated REEERERERPXN
statement of profit or loss GtA)
for the year 6,092 (6,434) 108 (234)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=B=+—H 37,987 (32,259) (200) 5,528

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately HK$373,541,000
(2022: HK$310,829,000) available for offset against
future profit. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of approximately HK$195,507,000 (2022:
HK$156,517,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining
approximately HK$178,034,000 (2022: HK$154,312,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
All the unrecognised tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

RREHFX AZEBRAZREBENS
AB#373,541,000c (ZSEZ-F . B
310,829,0007T) » > A FEIEEH R IR 2 iz F o
EMRIEEELAE%195,507,0007T (ZF
— 4 1 #%8156,517,0007T) FESRIREIR IEE
EoHRFRest kR ZiEH > BEMEFR
THE518497815178,034,000c (S —_F 1 B
#5154,312,0007T) FERIRERIEEE -FIA R
RZMIEEE T SEE R HREE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. g7
No. of shares HK$'000
& E BT T
Authorised: ETE
Shares of HK$0.10 each TR BEK0.10T 2 IR 1S
Balance as at 1 April 2021, A ZE-—FMB—H-
31 March 2022 and BT F=H=+—Hk
31 March 2023 —E_=F=R=+—HZ
K ER 1,500,000,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHRE :
Shares of HK$0.10 each S BK0.10T Z RS
Balance as at 1 April 2021 R ZE-_—FWOB—HZ
4EBR 1,102,124,676 110,212
Issue of shares upon exercise of TEEREMZITZRG
share options (note i) (P =Ei) 3,461,000 347
Balance as at 31 March 2022 A _E__F=H=+—H
ZEEER 1,105,585,676 110,559
Issue of shares upon exercise of ITEREREmMEITZRGN
share options (note i) (P =%i) 6,097,000 610
Repurchased and cancelled B eI R (ki)
(note ii) (15,396,000) (1,540)
Balance as at 31 March 2023 RIZBE_=F=A=+—HZ#&8& 1,096,286,676 109,629

Notes:

MI5E :

(i)

(i)

242

The new shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with
the existing shares in issue.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company
repurchased 20,644,000 shares (2022: Nil) on the market
for an aggregated consideration paid of approximately
HK$23,866,000 (2022: Nil), in which 15,396,000 shares
(2022: Nil) were cancelled during the year ended 31 March
2023 and 5,248,000 shares (2022: Nil) were cancelled after
the reporting date.

(i)

(ii)

ERTHROAFRAERTRONEAEE
HHERER -

BE_E_=—F=-BA=+—HLEE &
F R 35 £ BE[E]20,644,00008 8813 (=2 ==
F 8| B ERELNAE23,866,0007T
(Z=EZZ=F . /) »H™15,396,0008 (ZF
o EERNEE_E_=F£=B=+—
H Ik E E s 84 L 5%5,248,0000& (- —
FE) BRREHEAEEHE -
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company R&HEZZT-_=F=HA=+—HIEFE &
repurchased 20,644,000 ordinary shares through the AT BB AT EIE 20,644,0000% &R

Stock Exchange as follows: FHIBWTF :

No. of
ordinary Price per share Aggregate
share of BRER consideration
HK$0.10 each Highest Lowest paid

SRABE

0.107TZ
EREREA RE RIE BHRERKE
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
Month of repurchase EfER (7 BT BT BT
September 2022 ZEZZFNB 2,568,000 1.16 1.15 2,973
October 2022 —E-"%+H 772,000 1.16 1.14 894
November 2022 T "F+—H 966,000 1.12 1.06 1,056
December 2022 “EF+ZA 2,932,000 1.16 1.12 3,393
January 2023 —E-=%—H 1,602,000 1.16 1.14 1,858
February 2023 —E”_=%"H 5,896,000 1.16 N/A 6,839
March 2023 _E”_=F=H 5,908,000 1.16 N/A 6,853

None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or &E£R>FxATZHBATMERS HENE
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during  EI{ERIAAT Z EhsEH e
the year.
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BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

37. RESERVES

Contributed surplus of the Group mainly represents the
difference between the aggregate share capital of the
subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by
the Company and the nominal amount of the Company’s
shares issued at the time of the group corporate
reorganisation, less the par value of the bonus shares
issued by the Company, and the difference between
market price and the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued upon exercise of share options.

Special reserve of the Group represents the aggregate
of contributions from the then shareholders of the
companies comprising the Group and other subsidiaries
of HKR International Limited (“HKRI"”) before the group
corporate reorganisation in prior years.

38. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 March 2022

(i) Disposal of 50% interest in Esteemed Virtue
Limited

On 31 May 2021, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party
to dispose of its 50% equity interest in Esteemed Virtue
Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the shareholder’s loan at an aggregation
consideration of HK$130,000,000, adjusted for net asset
value excluding investment properties, property, plant
and equipment and shareholder’s loan. The wholly-
owned subsidiary of Esteemed Virtue Limited holds the
legal and beneficial ownership of an industrial property
in Hong Kong. The disposal was completed on 30 June
2021.
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37. &

FEBZBARBER > EEENEQE UM
BARER ZEMBABZRAMERRN
FEBEEBAQTEETRMEEZE
B RMAEAATEETARZEE  RITERE
REREATDEETRVZHEREEZE
LED

FEEZEHRERIENAEREHA AR

FEBZRARAKMREARZEAREERBRAT
(TEBEZE) NEMEQRNERFRRR

BEFEZRAEERE

38. HEMWE AT
HE—_E-__S=-HA=+—HULHEE

(i) HEHEBRATS0%ED

R_E_—FHA=+—H > AEEHEBI
BoAIUBERE UHEMERRQE

(ERBEIZEBEZEMBAR) 250% 5
KRG ERE R > 42L& % % 1£130,000,0007T (&
BEFEEAR EFAOEREVE WX
BERZEUARKERER) -HEBRARZ
EENBARRENNREA—BIEMEN
AEREGEBEAER REFTHEENR -TZ—
FRNB=1tH=mMe
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BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

The assets and liabilities of Esteemed Virtue Limited and WEERATKRENRBATNEE HEEMNE

its subsidiary on the date of disposal were as follows: EREENT :
HK$'000
BT T
Investment properties KREYE 261,960
Property, plant and equipment ME--BEREE 11
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEULFRIE ~ & R FEHRIE 3,308
Bank balances IRITAEER 1,719
Other payables H{th e TRIE (181)
Amount due to a group company FEfSEEB A B RIA (116,550)
Bank loans IRITEMN (105,000)
45,267
HK$'000
AT
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMBATZEEIE :
Fair value of retained interest in EELEFREEAEATE
a joint venture (included in (BEREEhEZ#R)
interests in joint ventures) 22,633
Total consideration received BURABEHE 80,903
Disposal of shareholder’s loan HERREM (58,275)
Net assets disposed of HEFEE (45,267)
(6)
Satisfied by: *f7:
Cash consideration received BWIRERE 80,903
Net cash inflows on disposal: HERIREMAFE .
Consideration received BUHE 80,903
Bank balances disposed B ERITARR (1,719)
79,184
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(ii) Disposal of 100% interest in Great Virtue
Ventures Limited

On 22 October 2021, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party
to dispose of its entire equity interests in Great Virtue
Ventures Limited, and the shareholder’s loan at an
aggregate consideration of HK$628,000,000, adjusted for
net asset value excluding investment properties. Great
Virtue Ventures Limited directly holds the legal and
beneficial ownership of an industrial property located in
Hong Kong. The disposal was completed on 1 December
2021.

The assets and liabilities of Great Virtue Ventures Limited
on the date of disposal:

(i) HEERAIRAMRAF100%E s

MR_E-_—F+BA-+-H > AEEHEBIL
EoATUBERE UHEEERBAR
REZEZHERRBRRET  BAEBA B
628,000,0007T (K& EFEIFAE R ETIE
KREWE) -EFZARERATEERFBMURN
EA—BIEMENEIEREZERE#E W
EFEENR _E-_—F+"H—H5%HMH-

ERARARATDANLEAPNEERER
mE

HK$'000
BET T
Investment properties KREME 628,000
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEWTRIE 32 & R FA{I 1B 1,227
Bank balances and cash IRITHEER RIS 1,529
Tax payables FE(I TR (559)
Other payables HAM R FRIE (2,674)
627,523
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB AR ZEE (65)
627,458
Satisfied by: Zft:

Cash consideration received EWIRERE 627,458

Net cash inflows on disposal: HERIREMAERE
Consideration received B E 627,458
Bank balances and cash disposed BHERITERARIRE (1,529)
625,929
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(iii) Disposal of 50% interest in Excess Wonder
Limited

On 30 July 2021, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party
to dispose of its 50% equity interest in Excess Wonder
Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the shareholder’s loan at an aggregate
consideration of HK$305,000,000, adjusted for net asset
value excluding investment properties and shareholder’s
loan. Excess Wonder Limited indirectly holds the legal
and beneficial ownership of an industrial property
located in Hong Kong. The disposal was completed on 26
January 2022.

The assets and liabilities of Excess Wonder Limited and its
subsidiary on the date of disposal were as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

(iii) HEZSHFHMRATFS0%Em

RZE-—FtA=1+H ~&EBEHEBILE
=HINEERE UHESTERAT (F
NEZHEBEEZENBAT) Z250% 5 KRR
REX B EAH1305,000,0007T EEE
FEERE A OEREMEURKRRE
) ZHFARAGBMBREMUNREAE—BL
EMENEEREZREH HEFTEER
TEF—BIZ+/HZEMKC

ZHARRPDKRENBABDKLE BINE
EXRERWMT :

HK$'000

BT IT

Investment properties KEME 614,124
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEWTRIE s & R FEMRRIE 8,720
Bank balances IR1T45 R 3,812
Other payables HAthFE 7R IE (66)
Amount due to a group company EREBATIE (343,862)
Bank loans IRITEM (244,000)
38,728
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BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

HK$'000
BT
Result on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMBABZER :
Fair value of retained interest in BETLEREERATE
a joint venture (included in (BEReEtxz#m
interests in joint ventures) 19,364
Total consideration received BUsERE 191,295
Disposal of shareholder’s loan HERREM (171,931)
Net assets disposed of HEREE (38,728)
Satisfied by: *f7:
Cash consideration received BUWIRERE 191,295
Net cash inflows on disposal: HERIRERAFE
Consideration received BURHKE 191,295
Bank balances disposed BHERITHERR (3,812)
187,483

(iv) Disposal of 100% interest in Regal Prosper
Limited

On 15 February 2022, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of its 100% equity interest and the shareholder’s
loan in Regal Prosper Limited, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, at an aggregate consideration
of HK$280,000,000, adjusted for net asset value excluding
investment properties. Regal Prosper Limited directly
holds the legal and beneficial ownership of a commercial
property located in Hong Kong. The disposal was
completed on 15 March 2022.

(iv) HEFREBRAT100%E =

RZE-__F-_A+HB AEEHEBIUE
=HFIUEEmE UWHERBEERAR (K
RBZEBEZENBRE) Z2100%H# 5 KK
REM - B E%A%15280,000,0007 KEE
FEERAE BEAOEREYE) - REAR
NEEBFEUREA—HBEEVENERE
REGHEAEE - HUESEENR S ZF=
B+EBRR-
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The assets and liabilities of Regal Prosper Limited on the
date of disposal:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_T_-F-RA=+—HILEE

REERAFDNEENHNEERERAN
T

HK$'000
BT T
Investment properties KREYE 280,000
Bank balances IR1T4EER 51
Deposits BE 237
Other payables HAthFE 7R IE (41)
280,247
Satisfied by: *f7:

Cash consideration received BRIREE 280,248
Consideration refundable AR ERE (1
280,247

Net cash inflows on disposal: HERIREMAERE
Consideration received BURRE 280,248
Bank balances disposed B ERITAEERR (51)
280,197

(v) Disposal of 100% interest in Superior Future
Limited

On 22 February 2022, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of its 100% equity interest and the shareholder’s
loan in Superior Future Limited, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, at an aggregate consideration
of HK$54,200,000, adjusted for net asset value excluding
property, plant and equipment. Superior Future Limited
directly holds the legal and beneficial ownership of
certain units in an industrial property located in Hong
Kong. The disposal was completed on 15 March 2022.

(v) HERSERATE100% S

m T HF"AZ+ - H AEESARIL
BZATUBEERZ UWHERSARAT
(EARZEEZEZENBAT) 2100%#E 5
KRERER K E%AA154,200,0007T (&
BEFEFRZE - BAOEVE BERR

#) - HEERATDERFEUNREE—MI
EMENATCRERHEE#H HEFEER
—E_F=BAt+HHRE/K-
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The assets and liabilities of Superior Future Limited on
the date of disposal:

BFRARAFANLERMNEERBRY
T

HK$'000
BT T
Property, plant and equipment ME-BERZE 31,532
Deposits Y& 22
Other payables HAFE R IE (7)
31,547
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HERBARZWE 22,668
54,215
Satisfied by: =Mt
Cash consideration received BUIRE(E 54,215
Net cash inflows on disposal: HERRERAEER .
Consideration received B E 54,215
39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 39. fERG ST A

The Company’s former share option scheme (“2011 Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company on 21
September 2011 and was terminated on 25 August 2020.
Share options granted prior to the termination continue
to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms
of 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme
(“Existing Scheme"”) on 25 August 2020, all executive
or non-executive directors and full-time employees of,
and consultants employed on a contract basis by, any
member of the Group are eligible to participate in the
Existing Scheme. No options have been granted under
the Existing Scheme since its adoption.
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AR HZ EREREEAENRARE_Z
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The purpose of the Existing Scheme is to provide the
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interest in the Company and to encourage them to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

(a) Maximum number of shares available for
issue

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Existing
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
on the date of approval of the Existing Scheme, subject
to renewal as approved by the shareholders of the
Company. The total number of shares available for issue
under the Existing Scheme is 109,092,467.

(b) Maximum entitlement of each participant

(1) The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares in issue
unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of
the Company.

(2) Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), would
result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to
be granted (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of
the grant:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

RITSABZENAM2RERHBAXAT
FIEABmZEE IRBSEEREAT
RERRZZ2EMND SHESHFATKRE
RinZEfE-
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109,092,467f% °

(b) B2HREZBIRERELR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other
percentage as may from time to time be specified
by the Stock Exchange) of the Company’s shares in
issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the shares of the Company on the date
of grant in excess of HK$5.0 million (or such other
amount as may from time to time be specified by
the Stock Exchange), such grant of options shall be
subject to prior approval of the shareholders of the
Company, such grantee, his associates and all core
connected persons of the Company shall abstain
from voting at such general meeting.

Such grant of options shall be subject to prior approval
by the shareholders of the Company, such grantee, his
associates and all core connected persons of the Company
shall abstain from voting at such general meeting.

(c) Option period

The period within which the grantee may exercise the
option shall be notified by the Board to the grantee at
the time of making an offer, but such period shall not
expire later than ten years from the date of grant.

(d) Time of exercise of option
At the time of making an offer, the Company must
specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which an

option under the Existing Scheme must be held before it
can be exercised in whole or in part.
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(e) Amount payable on acceptance of offer

A payment to the Company of HK$1 as consideration for
the grant shall be paid upon on the acceptance of the
offer by the grantee. The offer of grant of option must
be accepted within 14 days (or such other period of days
as determined by the Board from time to time) after the
date of offer.

(f) Basis of determining exercise price of option

The exercise price of the option shall be no less than the
highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be
a business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotation sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares of the Company on
the date of grant.

(g) Remaining life of the Existing Scheme

The Existing Scheme has a life of ten years commencing
on the adoption date and will expire on 24 August 2030
unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms
of the Existing Scheme.

At 31 March 2023, the number of shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the 2011 Share Option Scheme
was 25,160,000 (2022: 34,401,000), representing
approximately 2.30% (2022: 3.11%) of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE
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EREBREZEFHFRNOT

Details of the movements of the share options granted

are as follows:

ﬁﬁ—ﬁ—:

FZRA=+—HLHFE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 S
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Exercised Lapsed as at
price per 1 April during during 31 March
Category of participants Date of grant Exercise period share 2022 the year the year 2023
(Note a)
RZE-Z e et 3
mBE-A REATE =B=t+-H
SHERY ek e BRITER HRATHE (Hfzta) RERXH AT
HKS
BT
Directors 5 September 2017 5 September 2017 to 1.54 6,677,000 (5,192,000) (1,485,000) -
5 ZE-tENRERE 4 September 2022
Z2-tENARRE
Z2_"FAAMA
18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 15,891,000 (905,000) - 14,986,000
“E-hNE+RTNR 17 October 2024
“2-hE+AT\AE
Z2-META+EA
22,568,000 (6,097,000) (1,485,000) 14,986,000
Employees 5 September 2017 5 September 2017 to 1.54 1,321,000 - (1,321,000) -
&8 ZE-tENARH 4 September 2022
“2-tENARAE
ZECZENAMA
18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 10,512,000 = (338,000) 10,174,000
ZE-AE+ATNR 17 October 2024
ZE-AEtATN\BE
“ECMEHA+tER
11,833,000 - (1,659,000) 10,174,000
Total 34,401,000 (6,097,000 (3,144,000) 25,160,000
ek
Exercisable at the end of the reporting period 25,160,000
REEHRETTHE
Weighted average exercise price 1.25 148 1.50 1.16

MET9TEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE_T__F=-"RB=+—HLEE

HEZZ-=

F=ZA=+—HLHFE

Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Exercised Lapsed  Reclassified as at
price per 1 April during during during 31 March
Category of participants Date of grant Exercise period share 2021 the year the year the year 2022
(Note a) (Note b)
RZE-—% RER KIFZZ
mA-B  RERTE BH5E =B=+-H
SHERY et =k T8 SRiTERE HRITHE (ia) RERKY (FizEb) HAITHE
HKS
BT
Directors 5 September 2017 5 September 2017 to 1.54 6,677,000 - - - 6,677,000
i ZZ-tENARHE 4 September 2022
“2-tENAERE
ZEC"FNAMA
18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 15,991,000 - - (100,000 15,891,000
“2-AE+ATNR 17 October 2024
“E-AFE+ATNBE
Z2-META+ER
22,668,000 - - (100,000) 22,568,000
Employees 5 September 2017 5 September 2017 to 1.54 1,545,000 - (224,000) - 1,321,000
&8 —$-tFNAEA 4 September 2022
“2-tENAEAE
ZEZZENAMA
18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 11,493,000 (189,000) (792,000) - 10,512,000
“E-AFt+ATN\H 17 October 2024
:ﬁ —NE+ATN\BE
ZECMmETA+LA
13,038,000 (189,000  (1,016,000) - 11,833,000
Other participants (Note c) 14,181,000 (3,272,000  (11,009,000) 100,000 -
HihBEE (k)
Total 49,887,000 (3,461,000  (12,025,000) - 34,401,000
st
Exercisable at the end of the reporting period 34,401,000
REEARATE
Weighted average exercise price 1.22 116 117 N/A 1.25
METFHTRE TER

Al )5 ) e 42 Pt A PR 3 ) 2022720234 $8
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HEZ

E_=F=ZHA=+—HLFE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

()

In respect of the share options exercised during the
year, the weighted average closing price of the shares
immediately before the dates of exercise is HK$1.160
(2022: HK$1.295) per share.

Several employees were retired as employees of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2023, their
entitlement of 1,472,000 shares was reclassified from the
category of employees of the Company to the category of
other participants during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Dr. Zhang Wei was retired as a non-executive director of
the Company on 24 August 2021. Pursuant to the 2011
Share Option Scheme, he was entitled within a period
of 3 months from the date of retirement to exercise
his remaining 100,000 share options. His entitlement of
100,000 share options was reclassified from the category
of director of the Company to the category of other
participants during the year ended 31 March 2022. The
share options were lapsed during the year ended 31
March 2022.

Mr. Lo Kai Cheong, a former executive director of the
Company, passed away on 18 July 2020. Pursuant to the
2011 Share Option Scheme, his personal representative(s)
was entitled within a period of 12 months from the date
of death to exercise his remaining 3,272,000 share options.
The share options were exercised during the year ended
31 March 2022.

Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson, the former non-executive
Chairman of the Company, passed away on 6 November
2020 (PST). Pursuant to the 2011 Share Option Scheme,
his personal representative(s) was entitled within a period
of 12 months from the date of death to exercise his
remaining 10,909,000 share options. The share options
were lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2022.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
Group did not recognised equity-settled share-based
payments in relation to share options granted by the
Company to the directors and employees of the Group.
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BE——FERESE HEEAREASR
ERHESHZ AEst+ @R BHEATER
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40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s bank
loans were secured by the Group’s assets as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

40. B E K

RBRERR > AEBZRITERDUTER
ZINTEEFRR

31.3.2023 31.3.2022

=B=+—B | =A=+-8

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT AT

Investment properties KEYE 2,409,300 2,429,300
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERSZE 264,630 275,543
2,673,930 2,704,843

41. PERFORMANCE BONDS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had outstanding
performance bonds in respect of construction contracts
amounting to HK$98,652,000 (2022: HK$136,833,000).

42. COMMITMENTS

The Group’s share of the commitments made jointly with
other joint venturers relating to the joint ventures, but
not recognised at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

41. B RE

RIEBE_=F=BA=+—H Z~E£EMER
EHNFE ZRNREABYE98,652,0007T (=
T T4 : #1136,833,0007T) ©

42. KifE
AEANMEREMSECEBERS S Y

H[E F (B 7 3R & B R W R B 58 2 A 4B 1D
T

31.3.2023 31.3.2022
—E-Z=HF —E-HF
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000

AT AETT

—1

&

A

H
il

Commitments to provide loans 121

1,515,461 1,907,197
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BE_Z_—F=-HBA=+—HIEE

43. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 43. REHE=HE

The Group as lessor REEEASHBEA

At the end of the reporting period, minimum lease  RIEHFK  FEEMBERKZREHES
payments receivable on leases are as follows: (I S

31.3.2023 31.3.2022
=A=+-8 | =A=+-8
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Within one year —&ER 45,245 31,252
In the second year BTHE 20,159 15,629
In the third year E=4F 7,042 1,532
In the fourth year FEOEF 2,625 -
75,071 48,413

Leases are negotiable for lease term ranging from oneto A REH  HAENF—ENFE (T2 _Z
four years (2022: one to four years). F:—FEWMF) o
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44. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Defined contribution plan

With the implementation of Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme in Hong Kong on 1 December 2000, the
Group has maintained the defined contribution scheme
registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance and has obtained an exemption satisfying the
requirements of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (“MPFQO").

To comply with the MPFO, a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) with voluntary contributions
has been established. New employees must join the MPF
Scheme since its commencement on 1 December 2000.
The Group contributes 5% to 15% of the relevant payroll
costs for each employee to the MPF Scheme.

The amounts charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represent contributions paid and payable to
the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules
of the schemes less forfeitures arising from employees
leaving the Group prior to completion of qualifying
service period. The amount for the year is as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

aa. BIRERIEH B
R Ak

BER_ZSZTFE+_B—BEAETRE
MRBEFE AEESERFREBERNK
StEMRPIEEMRIIZ R E MRS L EE
HEETREMEARE ARG (GREEIF
Bl1) Z5E -

AEBETHRRZRE FEBERIA BRI
MARFEZBREE (TREEHE) -1
—ERRFE+ A -HRGREITRREE
% MESLEMAREEZE -AEEME
HEEREM T EMAERS%E15%REEE

sTEIHR

AR BEaRANBRZRBEREREZSE
stEIRAIFTIEE Z LR AZ S B A R E
Rtz BEEREZRRBEEENEE
MR ERATERZRBEMEE Z R WH
RoRFEZRIBNT ¢

2023 2022

—EF= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT
Contributions paid and payable BT R AT R 16,663 17,024
Forfeiture R TR (246) (275)
16,417 16,749

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, there is no forfeited
contribution arose upon employees leaving the
retirement benefits schemes and which were available to
reduce contributions payable.

RIE_=FRZZE-__F=R=+—8>
FERTEEESRHBRAEFNFEMESE
R 5] FA LUR R FE A Rk 2z 2 W ik
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Defined benefit plan

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay Long Service Payment
(“LSP") to qualifying employees in Hong Kong upon
retirement, subject to a minimum of 5 years employment
period, based on the following formula:

o Last monthly wages (before termination of
employment) X 2/3 X Years of service

o Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while
the amount of long service payment shall not
exceed HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for
as a post —-employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the MPFO permits the Group to utilise the
Group’s mandatory and voluntary MPF contributions,
plus/minus any positive/negative returns thereof
(collectively, the "Eligible Offset Amount”), for the
purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the
“Offsetting Arrangement’). The LSP obligation, if any, is
presented on a net basis.

The Employment & Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
was gazetted on 17 June 2022, which will eventually
abolish the Offsetting Arrangement. The Amendment
will come into effect prospectively from a date to be
determined by the Hong Kong SAR Government, which
is expected to be in 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Under
the amended Ordinance, the Eligible Offset Amount
after the Transition Date can only be applied to offset
the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but no longer
eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation.
Furthermore, the LSP obligations before the Transition
Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the
last monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition
Date.
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o MEARBESEAIBBAE
390,0007T ° ZEEEA B E R EEF
HEIARRC

S — A B FE B GaHME QR T 5t S

HO)AFAEESAAERNBEIERE

FRMSREE MR L REERE &ER
(RiB TS ERITIHEE) - LURSHEN TEE

NRARS = (HRHZHR) - RBRBEEE
(nA) HBFEEEZS| -

(CEZ_FEEREBASEIEG (RiEZH)

(D FRAIYR _E__F;A+tHT
B R ERBHZE - ZETREBER
BRTHERFEEN B R RI1Z
T5F) (NEEBA) RATE - RIBLE
SIREG - BE BB S ERIEHE R
BAREEBE B RARBEEE 1
FTBEERREBEARERNRBRTG SR
fEo It > #8E B AN RBBRB = EERT
RUCIR > WA RFEE B RE—EA
TEHE-

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 #i 22 b ok

The Group’s LSP obligation, taking into consideration the
Offsetting Arrangement, is considered to be insignificant
and no additional provision has been recognised as at 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

45. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the balances with related parties as
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

EZRIIRFELH RS _=F=A=+—
AR-E__F=ZA=+—H F&EENSE
ERBHASERDBALAFELR > B R
SOBRIMEfE

45. BB A TSGR RR S

BRI R S BN R R 55212526 27/
31FTIREE 2 R Bk A\ A8 8RS0 > A5 52 ) SR RR Gk

position and notes 21, 25, 26, 27 and 31, the Group has ATBEUTR G R4 ©
the following transactions and balances with related
parties:
2023 2022
—_E= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Subsidiaries of HKRI (note c): SFREXZHBAR (M) -
— Interior and renovation income —SEE R MBI A
(note a) (MfzEa) 140 935
Joint ventures of the Group: TEEZERERE
— Construction income (note b) —EHEIWA (FizEb) 130,416 36,778
— Interior and renovation income — S B R MEIEURA
(note b) (MffsEb) - 2,189
- Project management income —EHEEEKRA
(note b) (Mf5Eb) 6,224 116
— Interest income (note b) —F B WA (HizEb) 19,083 18,530
Subsidiaries of Million Hope (note ¢): EZZHBAT (Miztc):
- Building materials income (note a)  —EZEMEIURA
(MizEa) 810 2,226
- Rental income (note a) —FAEWA (HzFa) 7 60
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Notes:

(@) These related party transactions constitute connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
but are exempted from disclosure and other requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b) These related party transactions do not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

()  HKRI and Million Hope are regarded as related companies
in which CCM Trust, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and certain discretionary trusts have beneficial
interests.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year are as follows:

Bk -

(@) UFRBALIRZEHLEHRIF14AEE
BZMERZ WEERRET LHRAE
14AETH TR B R H MR E

(b) UEFRABALRZAEALEHRAFE14AE
EEZHEXZAFEMERS

(O BREERESWRAKATDEERECM
TrustBe & TSR HP A BEEEY
BBAT

FEEBASZFHM

FEEEEREMETEEEAS ZFHM
T

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Fees w|E 5,200 5,116

Salaries and other benefits e REMET 22,479 21,217

Performance related incentive TERIRERS

payments 25,200 33,686
Retirement benefits schemes RAEF EHEHRR

contributions 2,990 2,867

Ex-gratia payments BENRIE 3,335 -

59,204 62,886
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HE_ T _=—H=-A=+—HILEE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47. ARG ZHIBIR AR R EHE
OF THE COMPANY AND RESERVES

31.3.2023 31.3.2022
—E=H —ECHF
=A=+-8 | ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary KENR—EREAT 326,740 326,740
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE Uk I B8 /A Bl I8 594,583 527,880
921,323 854,620

Current assets MEEE
Other receivables Hith e skIE 60 =
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR M B A B FRIE 82,971 82,919
Cash and cash equivalents RERIRSEE 5,293 1,273
88,324 84,192
Current liability Mt E=RE

Other payables and accrued charges ~ HfthfE{T R IE R Et & B 4,397 6,031
Net current assets REEEEE 83,927 78,161
1,005,250 932,781

Capital and reserves BARRKG#E
Share capital &2 109,629 110,559
Reserves (note) EfE (s 895,621 822,222
1,005,250 932,781
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BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Note: Movements in reserves of the Company:

MisE : ARRHEEZES

Share-
based Treasury
Share  compensation shares  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve profits Total
LA AR
E2 0]
15 EME Mkt BEEROEE Rt #ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT AT BT BT
At 1 April 2021 RIEZ—-ENA—H 683,522 10,837 - 17,811 712,170
Profit and total comprehensive SEERHREERELE
income for the year - - - 189,299 189,299
Dividends paid BIRE - - - (82,915) (82,915)
Issue of shares upon exercise TEEREMRTZRG
of share options 4,400 (732) - - 3,668
Share options lapsed BRI EAN = (2,550) = 2,550 =
At 31 March 2022 RZE__F=F=+—H 687,922 7,555 - 126,745 822,222
Profit and total comprehensive AEEGBHREENGEE
income for the year - - - 87,465 87,465
Issue of shares upon exercise TERBREMmRTZRG
of share options 9,991 (1,556) - - 8,435
Share options lapsed HRERY - (805) - 805 -
Repurchase of shares G - - (23,866) - (23,866)
Transaction costs attributable to EEER M EEZ R ME
repurchase - - (175) - (175)
Cancellation of shares R (16,372) - 17,912 = 1,540
At 31 March 2023 RZB_=f=A=+—H 681,541 5,194 (6,129) 215,015 895,621

264

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 #i 22 b ok

47. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group and the other
shareholders of the joint ventures of the Company issued
financial guarantees jointly and severally to certain banks
in respect of banking facilities granted to joint ventures.
The aggregate amounts that could be required to be
paid is HK$1,396,496,000 (2022: HK$1,194,200,000) if the
guarantees were called upon in entirety, of which partial
amount of the relevant banking facilities, amounting
to HK$491,906,000 (2022: HK$644,049,000) has been
utilised by these joint ventures. The Group considers the
fair value of the contract is nil at initial recognition and
the loss allowance as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 are
insignificant. Details of the credit risk assessment of the
financial guarantee contracts are set out in note 49.

48. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes lease liabilities and bank loans disclosed
in notes 33 and 34, respectively, net of cash and cash
equivalents, and equity, comprising issued share capital,
reserves and accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends and new share issues, as well
as the issue of new debts and the redemption of existing
debts.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

47. RIEREFREL

RIEZ=F=ZRA=+—H &xEBERER
AEECENHEMKRRMETAELENIER
TREHXFAKRENRSE TRITIEREMBEE
R MEFREEREHER AAERESLT
R4S A A8 151,396,496,0007T (T -
£ : #%81,194,200,0007T) > HHERARITR
BSR4 £ EEH1E491,906,0007T (ZE -
F 1 B%644,049,0007T) EHZESE XS
BoAERRAE ZRNRVBRIBRNAYE
BEAE BN _E_=4K_ZT__4=H
=+—HMEEBBELRER MBERS
KW EE R G BE R MisE49

48. EL AR EE

FEBREEEES MRFAEERNSER
EAUSEREFNEE RNTERER
BEHERAEmNRETEHMAKRRINRAME
WoAEBNBRERBEAFEERFIE-

FEBNEARBHFES (BEIHKE
RMEE33KR34Z HER R KRRITER (0
RERREEE itz (BSBETRE
EAEET Nl

FABDEEFEMRAERRE - (FR LIRS
2B BRBDVEFTEFETHMAKREAR
FESERRR - RIBERATEFES
FEBREBRNRERBEITHR UK E
THEHBREORARBUATEHEEREES

Rige
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. T A
Categories of financial instruments BT RER
31.3.2023 31.3.2022
=A=+-8 | ZA=+-8
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets HEEE
Financial assets at FVTPL FRBEERATENEZ
MBEE 405 346
Financial assets at amortised cost RIS At E2ENMHEE 1,507,641 1,713,187
Financial liabilities e
At amortised cost R At = 1,752,797 2,042,759

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loans to
joint ventures, trade debtors, other receivables, amounts
due from joint ventures, cash and cash equivalents,
financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and bank loans.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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B-RERBEEEE - BEETRATEHE
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BEUKRIRITER

EzEMBITARAZFBREMMNEHRE-
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Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The functional currency of the group entities is mainly
HK$, the currency in which most of the transactions are
denominated.

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency
denominated monetary assets which are debtors and
cash and cash equivalents, of the group entities at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE_S-=f£=A=+—HAILEE
35 B
() E¥EmE
FEEZERZEGETELBE K0
MRBEUBESHE
FEESERENRRESBRUIMESEZER

BEEARBRERFERFAEEE  HRE
BT :

31.3.2023 31.3.2022

—_E= s
=A=+-8 | ZA=+-8
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT
Euro BT 13 13
MOP TRPT I - 33
RMB AR 833 937
usD ETT 20 18
The management of the Group considers that the ZA&EEBEEERALIMEKEEZGKRR

currency risk of the above monetary assets is not
significant to the Group. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

HAEBEMS EAEK - AEBRE I EIH
PSR - AT EXREERINER R > I
IR B REREBEFEARINEEL
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

(ii) Interest rate risk

The cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group’s variable-rate bank loans which are linked to
the HIBOR and bank balances at the prevailing market
deposit rate. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate loans to joint
ventures and amounts due from joint ventures (see
notes 21 and 27 for details) and lease liabilities. The
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
has been undertaken globally to replace some interbank
offered rates with alternative nearly risk-free rates.
Details of the impacts on the Group’s risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
and the progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest rate
benchmark reform” in this note.

The directors of the Company consider the Group’s
exposure of bank balances to interest rate risk is not
significant as interest bearing bank balances are within
short maturity period. The Group’s sensitivity to interest
rate risk has been determined based on the exposure to
interest rates for variable-rate bank loans at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the amounts outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. The Group's
sensitivity to interest rate risk at the end of the reporting
period while all other variables were held constant is as
follows:
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(i) F=REE

ReEntXRRTERFERZFBIRTE
R (ZEERAFTBIRTEXERSHN) kik
RITMBERMNRABZRITEFAR &
ERTARRANGEERFLHZEEMNRE
MR EWEEEERIE GFERFSRMNE21
&27) RAEREAMZ ATENRRRE &
SRR EMN R PER AT EEES
ERMNXRER RN AREREZEHNE
AFIRER

EREMETBNREEETRAMRE U
BIERBRNEANEIMAE 2 RITRENR
B -AMANREENENAEBARKRERER
BN EREREENNZNEHEENF
1B M AR KRB R E ) -

ERBEERR FEBEZIRITERFAAR
R RERITEAREKR > RERZ S RITHEER
ARERER - FEEHAXEARZBRE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_T_-F-RA=+—HILEE

2023 2022
Reasonably possible change in MERATFEHIRZ
interest rate FIEEH 50 basis 50 basis
points points
S0fE & 2 SOfE & 2L
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T AT
Increase in post-tax loss for the year ~ AEERRIREEBEBRM
(2022: Decrease in post-tax profit MEEAMEM(CEZ2F
for the year) as a result of an NEERRERFIRL)
increase in the interest rate (6,369) (7,479)
Decrease in post-tax loss for the year ZAEEBRRBERBR
(2022: Increase in post-tax profit METEmMAL CEZ2F
for the year) as a result of a A ERRIR B R F)E 0)
decrease in the interest rate 6,369 7,479

(iii) Equity price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL include listed equity
securities in Hong Kong. These listed equity securities are
subject to market price risk. The management manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk profiles. Details of the financial assets
at FVTPL are set out in note 28. The management of
the Group considers that the market price risks of these
investments are not significant to the Group.

(i) PeAsfEH% AR

FEBZEBEaBATEAEZMBEES
BEBLTRARF ZFELHRAFSFA
AR HIZERER - EEENURIAFRFRE
KEFHWBREASCKEEEHER - FEiREE
BATEABZHMBEEFFHINHE28-
FEFEREERARTREZTHERRR
HAEEMSLAREK
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in the financial losses to the Group. The
Group's credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
financial assets at amortised cost, lease receivables and
contract assets. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets, lease receivables and
contract assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regards, the
management of the Group considers that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

S8 B KR B

SHRREAERRZHERREGHNEEM
BRAERERYHFRRANER - SEE S
ERBREITERERBHEHMSFENMBE
B BWHERERGNEE - AEE I B
B R E 10 o S H 5 & 18 38 18 il LU 85 82
HMBEE BUWHAERERGNEERR
NEERER-

RTBRERBEERAR ~EBEEEEZ
F-HAEEEEEGEERE - FEMER
HthEE R » LU fR B SREVRE T IR [
BHARR -RIEMS  ~EBEERERIBEE
B2 EERERERIEREE

FEBZASEERRRNFEEEUTE
ill

Trade debtors/ Other financial assets/
Internal credit rating Description contract assets other items
A EE TR A WRIE GHNEE Hitfi#EE  HitEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts - not credit-impaired
RE bk RHHRNRRE Bt BEFARRE FEPHzAREEFE TERRHEEER
- BiEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
usually settle in full or requires the Group’s - not credit-impaired
closer monitoring
B8 BHEANRERIPREERBRERRE RN FEPHENEEEE T _ERRHEEER

REFEEEEER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

&

EIET=F=B=1+—HIFE

Trade debtors/ Other financial assets/
Internal credit rating Description contract assets other items
AEREE TR A BRRE/ ANEE HitiBEE  HitAE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit risk since initial recognition through - not credit-impaired - not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
5 BRANHFAEERINMBERGNEERRE FRBHMzEBEERE HFENRzZRBEERR
MiamEDEBE LM —BEERE -BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired - credit-impaired - credit-impaired
B FERETEEEBHRESHE FREEZRREERE #RPECEHEEER
-BHREEHRE -BHREEHRE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
W EEBETEBARABREMBESE MAE RRSEMHE IR E &8

B E BRI ERIRR AT A

In addition, the Group has applied different loss rates
to the internal credit rating category according to the
classification and nature of respective financial assets.

Trade debtors and contract assets

For trade debtors and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade debtors and contract assets individually or based on
collective assessment.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. As at
31 March 2023, the ECL for trade debtors and contract
assets that are credit-impaired or receivable from
departments of The Government of HKSAR with gross
carrying amounts of HK$18,836,000 (2022: HK$4,329,000)
and HK$95,697,000 (2022: HK$104,106,000) are assessed
individually and the carrying amounts are HK$18,836,000
(2022: HK$4,329,000) and HK$95,697,000 (2022:
HK$104,106,000), respectively.

E5h > AEBMERBESVHFEEZDE R
BEMHEABEETRERNEARREGEE

BWHBREHEE

MERRERGNEENS  ~EEERS
AMBRSERFNRANGEEIRTFER
BTRHAE E ARt B R AR o Ubs > &M
BERMEBRERSNEERERRAGEES
BRAHER SR AETRET G

AKEBRCERBEEN—D  ~ER
AHEPRPERAABEEFR RZTZ=
E=ZA=+—H ' REHLEBEDINABK
18,836,0007T (Z & = — £ : #1&4,329,000
7o) KB 1£95,697,0007 T (ZTE - & . Bl
104,106,0007c) Z S EREXEKE B
ATHEBRFHRMPAZRERGHNEENTE
HEERBEEERTE REES A BE
18,836,0007T (- = — 4 : #14,329,000
7T) R A M595,697,0007T (Z - 4 | B
104,106,0007T) ©
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BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade debtors and contract
assets which are assessed based on collective assessment
within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

TEREMEMBEENBZEREREESR
(BEERE BERBEERTLETIMG
ZEREHRERENEEZ FERRZER -

Gross carrying amount FRE#EE

Average Trade Contract
loss rate debtors assets
FHEEE FE TR IR BHNEE
Internal credit rating RS ST 4R HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BIETT

As at 31 March 2023 AZEZ=F=A=1+—H
Low risk 15 & Bz 0.51% - 0.65% 52,824 143,440
Watch list BR%E 0.60% 1,799 -

As at 31 March 2022 A ZETF=H=+—H
Low risk BERE 0.68% - 0.73% 89,734 162,014
Watch list BRnE 0.80% 21,004 -

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is reasonable, supportable and available
without undue cost or effort. Management performs
review regularly to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

Gt EERDREEHARBEHEER
BRENXRMGS UNBRAEEBS M
SHEARSHSEA B ERFABIEERE
AR EEREEMETES UEFEHRE
R ERBARNERER -
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The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade debtors and contract
assets under the simplified approach.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_T_-F-RA=+—HILEE

TRIITEHEGIEEMERARIEBERESNEE
BENFEAEZRRAGEESRENESES
Se

Trade debtors Contract assets

eV FIE BNEE

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(credit- (not credit- (not credit-
impaired) impaired) Total impaired)
FEBEZ FEBEZ FEBEZ
BHEESE BHEESSE BHiEERE
(BLEREE (EEEE (L®EEE
i E) 18 b i 1E)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRETR BRETR BRI BT

At 1 April 2021
Changes due to financial instruments,
lease receivables or contract assets
as at 1 April 2021:
- Impairment loss recognised (reversed)
New financial assets, lease receivables or
contract assets originated or purchased
Written-off

F i‘—i‘ﬁlﬁ Ellﬂﬁ%l
5 RURERARGNEER

2 (BRE) HEES
%EEI%EWM%EE\%%@

At 31 March 2022

Changes due to financial instruments,
lease receivables or contract assets
as at 1 April 2022:
- Impairment loss reversed

New financial assets, lease receivables or
contract assets originated or purchased

ﬂEgzzﬁﬁﬁ_EHMﬁz

_EI/ R :“ 518
MELARENMBEE KA
BERENANEE

At 31 March 2023

4,828 479 5307 617
8,247 (470) 1,777 (315)
= 759 759 798
(13,075) = (13,075) =
= 768 768 1,100
= (768) (768) (494)

= 286 286 323

= 286 286 929

The Group writes off a trade debtor when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or when the trade debtors are over three years past due,

whichever occurs earlier.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has concentration of
credit risk with 26% (2022: 4%) and 40% (2022: 39%)
of the total gross trade debtors from contracts with
customers and contract assets was due from the Group'’s
largest customer, departments of The Government of
HKSAR. In view of their credit standings, good repayment
record in the past and long term relationships with the
Group and taking into consideration of forward-looking
information, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is not material.

H’E%ﬂﬁﬁ‘?ﬁi‘k)\[‘a)\fﬁéﬁ#ﬁliﬁ B

BRWEIREN A SR (MEHBARBE
Exﬁﬁlﬁ&é%zr"’ﬁi“ﬁﬂk % IH B 8 47 i
B=F URBEHEESRE)) » AEETHH
FEUSTRIR ©

RIE_=F=R=+—H x&£EHEBEE
FIEERME26% (CEZ"F : 4%) K40%
(CEZ-F :139%) NERBEFRSHREHN
BEEZHEBNANIEEBELABRESERRAR
B & AYFRITE BT 36 PY AU RRIE © EE R 1R
EMERART - BERFHNENRCHFRELR
EENRIABAREG RAIEEER > AAQF
EETAKTEENEERBIREK
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, no impairment
loss has been recognised on trade debtors which were
assessed individually. During the year ended 31 March
2022, impairment loss of HK$8,247,000 was recognised
on a trade debtor which was individually assessed as
the trade debtor was in significant financial difficulty.
The gross carrying amount from this debtor was
HK$13,075,000 and the amount was written off and the
forfeiture of rental deposit of HK$4,040,000 received in
the prior year was recognised as other income during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group's other financial assets, which are subject to ECL
assessment:

2 S~
e

A5 e 9 Bk

— &= — =

_——<——

REE F=ZA=+—HLEE"
b 4% AR Bl AR B FE W AR B FE SR R (B 538 o
NBEE_E-__F#=H=+—HLEE>
HREZEBEEABAETEAMBEREMET
BRFE BIAEZEEARBEIERE
8,247,0007c R E Z B ANREEEASE
#13,075,0007T > BRI FE S WHEH > MR &
FEWEBIFTR UV TE E ¥ & A 154,040,000

THRBE_SE__F=-HA=+—HILEE
BAEAMMUA o

TRFINEEBMEMPBEEZEERR
ERRRAEZ ARG SRR

Gross carrying  Gross carrying

External Internal 12m or amount as at amount as at
credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
+Z@Bs WMIEZ=E RKITZZ
FEMEz =ZBA=+—H =B=+—H
SNEBIEETAR A EETR EHEEHE HEREA(E HER T4 (A
HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT BETT
Financial assets at amortised cost
BN AHENTTEE
Loans to joint ventures N/A Low risk 12m ECL 710,653 651,173
BEGEER TEMH R +ZEARED
EEEE
N/A Watch list 12m ECL 363,980 342,131
FEMA Br4E +ZEATRED
FEBE
Amounts due from joint ventures N/A Low risk 12m ECL - 10,015
ERAERERIE TEH ERR +ZERREH
8B
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL 847* 847*
TEMA B8 FEBEZ
EHEESE
Other receivables N/A Low risk 12m ECL 7,469 11,327
Htn WA TEMA R +ZEATRED
FEBE
Bank balances A or above N/A 12m ECL 399,091 603,017
RITEE R A TEH +ZERREH
8B

2 The amount is considered as credit-impaired and full

provision is made on that amounts due from a joint
venture.
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For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

BETRBESAREE AEEERAE
RAEE AR ARR TR
TR A BRI

Not past due/
no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
x@
RETEER
EHA HA MR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
As at 31 March 2023 R“E_=F=H=+—H
Loans to joint ventures BELEER - 1,074,633 1,074,633
Amounts due from RS ERERE
joint ventures - 847 847
Other receivables HnpEWzIE = 7,469 7,469
As at 31 March 2022 A _E_"HF=B=+—H
Loans to joint ventures RETEER = 993,304 993,304
Amounts due from EMEETERIE
joint ventures - 10,862 10,862
Other receivables HEWTRIB - 11,327 11,327

Loans to joint ventures and amounts due from joint
ventures

For the purpose of internal credit risk management,
the Group regularly monitors the business performance
of joint ventures. Before granting the loans to joint
ventures, the management of the Group has obtained
understanding to the financial background and business
performance of the joint ventures. The Group’s credit
risks in these balances are mitigated through monitoring
the value of the assets held by the joint ventures. As
at 31 March 2023, the gross carrying amounts of loans
to joint ventures and amounts due from joint ventures
are HK$1,074,633,000 (2022: HK$993,304,000) and
HK$847,000 (2022: HK$10,862,000), respectively.

BELEEAREBKEELENA

AHETABEERKREER ~EETHER
FELENEERR - BFEELEER
A A EEEEBE THREELENUVES
BEREBRA-AEENZEEHNEE
R EAEREECEMPFTEENEER
- R _E_=F=ZA=+—H a&t¥
ERREREECERBENREEED R
% 7#%1,074,633,0007c (CE -4 Bl
993,304,0007T) K A& 1847,0007t (ZE ==
£ : #1%10,862,0007T) °
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The following table shows the movement in 12m ECL
(not credit-impaired) that has been recognised for loans
to joint ventures which are assessed individually.

TEMTACHAEE LR (EEBITE)
209+ =88 TG EASE (RIS RAE)
By BB R -

Loans to

joint ventures

BEEEER

HK$'000

BT

At 1 April 2021 A _E_—FMWAE—H 28,162
Changes due to financial instruments RZZ2-_—FmMA—H

as at 1 April 2021: AMBTAEEENES :

— Impairment loss reversed — B EIRERE (9,387)
At 31 March 2022 RZE__#=RF=+—H 18,775
Changes due to financial instruments R-IE-__F#W™BE—H

as at 1 April 2022: HTFHETLREEENES !

— Impairment loss recognised —BRERRERSIE 28,044
At 31 March 2023 RZE_=F=ZHA=+—H 46,819
Other receivables B =mE

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
management of the Group has obtained understanding
to the credit background of the debtors and undertaken
the internal credit approval process. The Group applies
internal credit rating for its debtors. No allowance for
impairment was made since the management of the
Group considers that the probability of default is minimal
after considering the counterparties’ repayment history.

ERXTEREERABREEN -0 ~&EH
EEEETHREBANGESRILET TR
BEEEMEF FEEHEBABARN
SHR BANEERERFZ K ZEELERRE
FEBERERSENNATREME M il
EmIHRRERE
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Bank balances

For the purpose of internal credit risk management,
the Group mainly transacts with banks with high
credit ratings and regularly monitors the international
credit rating of the counterparties. No allowance
for impairment was made since the management of
the Group consider that the probability of default is
negligible as such amounts are receivable from or placed
in banks with good reputation.

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

No allowance for impairment was made since the
management of the Group considers that the exposure
at default was minimal as the management of the Group
has obtained understanding of the financial background
and business performance of the joint ventures and
concluded that there has been no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the Group's credit risks
in financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments
to joint ventures are mitigated through the value of
the assets held by the joint ventures. Accordingly, the
loss allowance for financial guarantee contracts and
loan commitments is measured at an amount equal
to 12m ECL and the loss allowance was considered as
insignificant.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

RITAZER

RETABEERRERE AEMTEHRRF
BB RaNROTXZ LERERRS7H
NEREETR AREAREABKRESE
REFZIRTZRERFRNAZFRITZN
B AEEEEERSEONA LB
AEt M EEHR R AR o

I BEREHRENEE

HRAEEEERRAHEBTHEGEREN
MEBEBRREGRE ISHERTA/ED
BERUREERBRILAREE LM BEE
WEBRE D i EEHRAEEE A ATE
ERR FEEMSEEERMUOMBIER
BNREMAENEERRBBSETCEM
REENBERE Bt MBEFREORE
MAGENBEREFERSR+T_EARBPEER
BRI ERE BREFREALREK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #2665k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank loans and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank loans as a significant source of
liquidity. As at 31 March 2023, the Group has unutilised
borrowing facilities of approximately HK$1,220,000,000
(2022: HK$970,000,000) as at 31 March 2023. Details of
bank loans are set out in note 34.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and lease
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. For non-
derivative financial liabilities and lease liabilities, the
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities and lease liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows.
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REE AR

TEERDESREE  AEBBGIERER
ERERSBRERENREKRBESFEKT
UATEB 2 EEREES RBER SR
RN E BEERIZERITERZH
PR 1B i e fR 38 57 B RRKGE ©

AEBRBIRITEREAEENRFESEK
B R _B_=ZF=-HA=+—H KEER_
EC-FE-A=+—HWEXBABEREN
% 7#181,220,000,0007c (ZT - " 4F : B
970,000,0007T) °$RITEMZFBEHMNMIEE
340

TRFLFEBEN B EERERNMFE
BERAEERZEOFEREAE -MIFITE
MBEaRREEEEMNS  ERDRELSE
ErREREXMNNREAMZHUHERERHE
BERERTREREERGER -HHZ2 > FEEX
BEFRRZBOTERFARERBR > T
IRITR DA AR TEHEER - HMtIETTE
FHaBEREEERZIBARBHERER
AHEE ZREBENEREZRE M-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 #i 22 b ok
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

BE_E_=-HF=-A=+—HLEFE
Liquidity tables MEBEER
As_atﬁ?ll\ﬁarch 202_3 Weighted ~ On demand
RZFZ=F=A=+-A average or Total
effective less than 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flow amount
METs REXY R
BRA= TRIE 125 255 SEME REReE REME
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BAt BT BT BlETr BETR BETR BT
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfT£MTEEE
Trade and other payables AR MAERTE - 197,118 30,245 - - 221,363 227,363
Bank loans - variable rate* BTER-FHEE 457 394365 1,182,736 - - 1577101 1525434
Lease liabilities HE&E 5.44 1949 530 742 5,200 8,421 5,176
593,432 1,213,511 742 5200 1,812,885 1,751,973
As at 31 March 2022 Weighted ~ On demand
RZEZ-#=R=+-H average or Total
effective less than 1-2 25 Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flow amount
k2] BREXT K
S RRIE 126 25% SENE  RERLE ke
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BAt BT BT BT BT BT BT
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfTEMHEEE
Trade and other payables AR MRS - 139,118 112,241 - - 251,359 251,359
Bank loans - variable rate* RITEN-FBH T L 1.64 644,365 34,779 1,149,621 - 1,828765 1,791,400
Lease liabilities HEaR 5.13 3,809 1,231 720 5,440 11,200 7,646
787,292 148,251 1,150,341 5,440 2,091,324 2,050,405

& The interest rates applied to projected undiscounted cash
flows of variable rate bank loans are the interest rates at
the end of the reporting period.

The amounts above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rate differ to those

estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the

reporting period.

*

FERRRITEMZ B RITRF MR
BOFRD|REPRZFIER

ERHASFTEMBREIETAZ SR
BISTBRE Y BBERBESBREES &
BRI BRI 2E -

Al )5 ) e 42 Pt A PR 3 ) 2022720234 $8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #2665k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 1 year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March
2023, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of
these bank loans amounted to HK$378,400,000 (2022:
HK$628,400,000). Taking into account the Group’s
financial position, the directors of the Company do
not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors of the Company believe that
such bank loans as at 31 March 2023 will be repaid
within one (2022: one) year after the reporting date in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in
the table below:

FEU LR B3 BREREEER
ZIRITERDBINA TRERKAE—F FHE
HA - M_E_=F=RB=+—H > ZFRT
ERZRITEA S 40525 B 1£378,400,0007T

(CEBZ 4 #%628,400,0007T) ° &L5t K
EBZHMBERL ZARNEELFAREE
FARITETEENBEERNRER AR
AESHEEGE REEHMERBEMBZER
EHE Z2ER_E-_=F=B=+—H
HIRTERSRRSEAHE—F (T2
£ —F) NEE BRAFBRENR TR

Less than Cash Carrying

1 year 1-2 years 2 -5 years outflows amount

rRIE 1-2% 5% HERLE fREfE

HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BB BETT BETT BT

31 March 2023 “2Z=%=A=+—-H 395,685 - - 395,685 378,400

31 March 2022 “E_"F=H=1+—H 638,707 = = 638,707 628,400
Interest rate benchmark reform FIFEREM =

As listed in note 34, several of the Group’s HIBOR bank
loans has been subject to the interest rate benchmark
reform. The Group is closely monitoring the market and
managing the transition to new benchmark interest
rates, including announcements made by the relevant
IBOR regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-
rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby
HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist. The Group’s bank loan
linked to HIBOR will continue till maturity and hence, not
subject to transition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 #i 22 b ok

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

o the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices;

o the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

AT

MBBEERMBEEZAFTETRTIARN
HEE :

s ARERRKREGREXRKEERTSZE
BENMBEERUHZERZATESR
TIBFFREABERE ;

s HMMBEERMBERZATERE
ERFRBESADTN AR EBENE
Fo

ERBEFERR NEEMBRRIZBHN
FIRZMBEERMBERZREEREH
AFEEE

REEMREURTEFEZTER
MBEENAFE

FEEMOIHUBEENSRSPREZAFE
SFEBe TREAEHMEEZSIMBEEAT
Bz2RHE (LERFAZGEERTRE AR
%) o

Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 31 March 2023 hierarchy and key input(s)
RIEZ=F
HBEEE =ZA=1+—HZAFE 2ATEESR HERMT R EEHARE
Financial assets at FVTPL - Listed equity =~ HK$405,000 (2022: Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
securities in Hong Kong HK$346,000) active market.
BRBEREATESEZ 7 £405,0007T F—R RERTZBMRZEA
MBEBEE-—BALHRAFES (CBZZF: B
7 1#£346,0007T)

There was no transfer among Level 1, 2 and 3 during the
current and prior years.

REFERBEFE F—H F_HRRE=
Rz MR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #2665k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

50. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 50. MEEFEEEZEBHIR
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TFTRFJAEEMEXBEENEBEELEE
arising from financing activities, including both cash > BIEREKRIIFRESEE BMEXEHFEEN
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing BEARRAERGESRERERPDES
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future  RIBEBRRETHRERNIAKIRE R
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.
Lease Dividend
liabilities payable Bank loans Total
HEaE ERE RITER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BT
(Note 34)
(Bf5E34)
At 1 April 2021 {ZZ”—FNA—H 7,163 - 3,184,500 3,191,663
Financing cash flows RMERER (4,967) (82,915) (1,044,100) (1,131,982)
Dividend declared BERRE - 82,915 - 82,915
Non-cash changes: RS EE .
Addition of lease liabilities HESREEM 5,450 - - 5,450
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HEMBAT
(M5E38) = - (349,000) (349,000)
At 31 March 2022 RZZ2ZZF=RA=+—H 7,646 - 1,791,400 1,799,046
Financing cash flows MERER (3,515) (82,971) (265,966) (352,452)
Dividend declared ERRE - 82,971 - 82,971
Non-cash change: FHREEE !
Addition of lease liabilities HEAREM 1,045 ~ = 1,045
At 31 March 2023 RZIZEZ=F=R=+—H 5,176 - 1,525,434 1,530,610
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 #i 22 b ok
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31

March 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

HE_Z—

=F=ZRA=+—HLFE

51. X EMBABFE

KRATR_—_EZ=

—EZ-H=A

Z+—HZEEWBATFBMT :

31 March 2023
ZEZZEZR=1-H

31 March 2022
2 "F-B=t+-H

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BEARBR  AEEE( BETR  AEEREG

MERERHE M/ 3/ S5 LEks AURSEE  AREERE  AuBaEm  IEER

Care & Health Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Trading of health products

RMEERAR & Bt Al RRERES

Clear Profit Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100% uss1 100%  Property investment

BHERERAR Hong Kong 127 127 NERE
EBRYHE/ BE

Emwell Limited* Hong Kong - - HK$2 100%  Property investment

BEERAT* Al NERE

Exceed Advance Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100% Uss$1 100%  Investment holding

HEERAR Hong Kong 1£7 1%7 RERR
ERELHE/ BE

Excel Chinese International Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment

SEARERAR AT BT NERE

Excellent Delight Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss$1 100% Uss$1 100%  Investment holding

REERAF Hong Kong %7 1%7 RERR
EERUME/EE

Excellent Sincere Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100% uss1 100%  Investment holding

2ZHERAT Hong Kong %5 %7 REER
EBRYHE/ BE

Fairview Harbour Limited British Virgin Islands/ uss2 100% us$2 100%  Investment holding

Hong Kong P VE T REER

EERURE/BE

Faithful Sun Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property holding

BAERAT Y AR AEIT NERE

LI B A R A PR B] 2022/20234E 3
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_-_F-HA=+—HILEE

Place of incorporation/

31 March 2023
ZEZ=E-B=1-AH

31 March 2022
ZZTZE-B=1-H

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

Effective

Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary  attributable to

Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BETRAR  AEERE BETR  AEMEER
MEAE AT M/ S5 LEks BARTRE  HREERE BMBRAEE IERE
Gallant Elite Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$2 100% US$2 100%  Investment holding
RHEZERAT Hong Kong VES VES RE#R
EERYHE/ BE
General Target Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% HK$10,000 100%  Property investment
HIERAT & 7#1510,0007 10,0007 NERE
Golden Years Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$ 1 100%  Licence holding
&% BRI BRI REHR
Great Popular Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss$1 100% Uss1 100%  Investment holding
BRERAT Hong Kong 157 1% RERR
EERURE/BE
Hanison Construction Company Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100%  Ordinary shares 100%  Property construction
ABREERAR &R HKS1,000 HK$1,000 nEgs
Deferred shares Deferred shares
HK$60,000,000 HK$60,000,000
(Note a) (Note a)
Bk ik
7 181,0007T A151,0007
41334 BiER
160,000,007 760,000,007
(Mtsta) (Hfzka)
Hanison Construction Holdings (BVI) British Virgin Islands/ Us$2 100% Us$2 100%  Investment holding
Limited (note b) (f#b) Hong Kong PEST VE iy REER
AERUME/EE
Hanison Contractors Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100%  HK$10,000,000 100%  Property construction
HBEEERAR & #%110,000,0007c 710,000,007 NERE
Hanison Engineering Limited? Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100%  HK$10,000,000 100%  Property construction
ABIRARAR &R 710,000,007 71£10,000,0007 nERs
Hanison Estate Services Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% HK$2 100%  Provision of property
ABNEREERAR BT BT management services
RN ERRS
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Place of incorporation/

31 March 2023
ZEZ-FE-B=1-AH

HE_Z—

31 March 2022
ZZTZE-B=1-H

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary  attributable to

=F=ZRA=+—HLFE

Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BERSR  FEEE( BEfTk  FEEEG
MEAE AT L/ 5 E R LERE BAkRAEE  AREERT AuRAEE  IERE
Hanison Foundation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property construction
BB ETRERAR &4 BT VetAb ES 2
Hanison Interior & Renovation Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$14,800,000 100%  HK$14,800,000 100%  Provision of interior and
EREAREEERAR &E 114,800,000 714,800,0007 renovation services
TRt s R AHE R
Hanison Project Management Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Provision of property leasing
EREEERERAT &E Bl Vit Y and marketing services
and project management
REMERERDARERY
NREBEEEE
Hantex Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Plant maintenance and
BETRARAR &% BT A1 servicing
BEAERER
Health Products Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% HKS2 100%  Investment holding
7 Al oL REER
Healthmate Products Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Trading of health products
BHZBRAE & BRI BRI REERER
Heatex Ceramic Limited Hong Kong HK$400,000 100% HK$400,000 100%  Property development
HEEERAH &4 71400,0007 71400,0007 NEER
Nimble Run Limited British Virgin Islands/ HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Investment holding
BALBERAF Hong Kong Am BT RERR
EERUME/BE
Oriental Effort Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100% uss1 100%  Investment holding
RYBRAT Hong Kong %5 157 REER
ERRYHE/ BE
Precise Leader Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property holding
BEERAT &4 AT BRI NERB
Ready Glory Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100% uss1 100%  Property investment
REERERAT Hong Kong %7 1%7 NELE
AERUME/EE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z_—F=-HBA=+—HIEE

Place of incorporation/

31 March 2023
ZEZ=E-B=1-AH

31 March 2022
ZZTZE-B=1-H

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary  attributable to

Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BETRAR  AEERE BETR  AEMEER
MEAE AT M/ S5 LEks BARTRE  HREERE BMBRAEE IERE
Retailcorp Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Sales of health product
TERZERAT & Al Ao HERRER
Sanney Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment
EEERAT & A BRI ES T
Storage Holding | Ltd Cayman Islands/Hong Kong US$19,934 100% Us$19,934 100%  Property investment
REHE/ /&% 19,934£7T 19,9348 7 NERE
Storage Portfolio Holding Il Ltd Cayman Islands/Hong Kong US5243,375 100% US$243,375 100%  Investment holding
RENE/ /&8 pIERIEES W3TSET REZR
Sunny Way Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment
HREXERAT & BT AT ES T
Tai Kee Pipes Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100%  HKS2,000,000 100%  Investment holding
R ARAT &# 712,000,0007 712,000,000 RERZR
Trigon Building Materials Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% HKS2 100%  Supply and installation of
ERRENERAT &4 R BT building materials
R RR R
Trillion Mart Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% HK$10,000 100%  Property investment
& 7#1510,0007 A%10,0007 NERE
Vast Media International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$ 1 100%  Investment holding
EEERBRAT &% BRI BRI K&k
Vision Smart Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% HK$100 100%  Property investment
#1007 A1007T NERE
Westpac Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment
FREBERAH &% BRI BRI NERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Subsidiary which were disposed of during the year ended
31 March 2023.

Subsidiary which were incorporated during the year ended
31 March 2022.

Notes:

(@)

(b)

The deferred shares are shares whose shareholders are
neither entitled to receive notices, attend, vote at any
general meetings nor to receive any dividend out of
operating profit and have very limited rights on return of
capital of the subsidiary.

Other than Hanison Construction Holdings (BVI) Limited,
which is directly held by the Company, all other companies
are indirectly held by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
during the year or outstanding at the end of the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results or assets and liabilities of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Bk -

(@)

(b)

0 W5 Hh A B RE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
BE_Z-_=—F=-HA=+—HILEFE

RB&E_Z_=F=-A=+—HILFEHE
ZHB AT

RB&E_Z__F=A=+—HIFEZM
BRI Z B AT o

RIEREEFEAERZREARRASE
EEEHEEMRRAGREE LK
TREEWE B nfkE 2 ERREKRE
MEBARRERAFREERIFEARENN
Bzf7 ©

f&Zs AT H %A ZHanison Construction
Holdings (BVI) Limitedst > FrE EMAEY
HARBEEZETFE

AT AT M B AR R A FE T EMERE
FHNTFERARENEHES-

ERBEFRR ERFAFINEABRER
AHAEENEENEELRGRAEAR
B -ARTEFRR A HINEMMB AT BEF
BERLETHREEBN TR
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A5 1ok

For continuing and discontinued operations

BB ERER TS %S
Year ended 31 March
BEZA=1—HILLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
“E-=Hf | ZEIZF B CE-EF —ZE-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT BT BT BT
RESULTS e
Revenue WA 1,232,803 1,438,340 1,451,560 958,245 2,315,007
(Loss) profit before taxation BriiAD (8518) &7 (35,951) 162,716 273,190 231,752 645,734
Taxation HIE (2,481) (8,373) 1,796 (10,376) (67,712)
(Loss) profit for the year FE (B518) 55 (38,432) 154,343 274,986 221,376 578,022
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
“EC=E | ZEZ”E B CE_EE "ZT-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BETT BETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Total assets BEHEE 6,162,834 6,718,801 8,130,161 6,519,444 5,269,714
Total liabilities BRE%HE (2,090,152)|  (2,502,363)  (3,993,056)  (2,595,798)  (1,490,270)
4,072,682 4,216,438 4,137,105 3,923,646 3,779,444
Equity attributable to: TH AL RS
Owners of the Company FRAREEA 4,072,682 | 4216438 4,137,105 3,923,646 3,779,444

Note:

On 1 April 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 16. Accordingly,
certain information for the year ended 31 March 2019 which
was prepared under HKAS 17 may not be comparable to the

years ended 31 March 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023.
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
F RV

A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR A. HEREVEEASHASWAR
RENTAL INCOME PURPOSES ®
Attributable
Area interest of
(sqg.ft.) Nature of the Group  Category of

Descriptions mfE property mER lease

1R (FEHR) MELEE FE{E TRAEER!

1. Workshop 7, 1/F, Block A, 1,153 Industrial 100% Medium-term
Car Parking Spaces V31 & V50 (excluding lease
Shatin Industrial Centre, area of car
Nos. 5-7 Yuen Shun Circuit, parking
Shatin, New Territories spaces)

(Saleable
area)

5 RIRIERESSEE75% 1,153 T¥% 100% hEATEHA
VHEITEROAEMETSRIER > (FREEEA
B fi1V315V50 Z @)
ERER)

2. Leasehold interest in the 2,701 Commercial 100% Medium-term
Head-Lease for the residual term (Saleable lease
of 30 years commencing from 1 area)

December 1989 with

an option to renew for a further

term of 30 years of whole of

No. 31 Wing Wo Street,

Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

BAELIR 2,701 [SES 100% FRHEATRAY
KAME31RENE 2 BERAE®S

MEERNZHE S
HEFHBE-NN\IE
+-B—HR%R AR=1TF
(MEBETHI=TFHPZ
REF)

LI B A R A PR B] 2022/20234E 3
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES T #P¥EM%

Attributable

Area interest of
(sq.ft.) Nature of the Group Category of

Descriptions g | property TEHE lease
1R (FEHR) MEME FE1E 1 TRAEER
3. Shop on G/F, Shop on 1/F, 4,029 Commercial 100% Medium-term

Shop on 2/F, Signage Area A (excluding lease

and Signage Area B area of

of West Park signage)

Nos. 256-258 Tung Chau Street, (saleable

Kowloon area)

FLBE 4,029 [GES 100% FRHATE Y

38 N #72565% 2585 FEEES

West Park F2 &)

TR 1B~ 21858 - ERE®R)

E & AR ES B
4. Shops 1, 2, 3 on G/F, and 11,366 Commercial 100% Long lease

shop 5 on G/F and 1/F, (Marketing

The Austine Place, gross floor

No. 38 Kwun Chung Street, area)

Kowloon

FLBE 11,366 [SES 100% REAFAL

BERfi385 (FTEEE

The Austine Place Efa)

1SR ER ~ 28R 86 ~ 3SR AR K

T E 11855 F
5 Hollywood Hill 27,414 Residential 100% Long lease

No. 222 Hollywood Road, (Gross floor

Sheung Wan, Hong Kong area)

BB LI 27,414 EX 100% REAFAL

A FE 22258 (BE@H)

Hollywood Hill
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES ¥ %P ¥ %

Attributable

Area interest of
(sq.ft.) Nature of the Group Category of
Descriptions m& property TEH lease
SN MEME FE1E#E TRAEER
PeakCastle 145,394 Commercial 100% Medium-term
No. 476 Castle Peak Road, (Gross floor lease
Kowloon area)
HE 145,394 [GES 100% RHATE A9
BLLE47655% (BE@B)
PeakCastle
The Mercer 37,933 Commercial 100% Long lease
No. 29 Jervois Street, (Gross floor
Hong Kong area)
5% 37,933 P 100% RHEAFAAY
BRI HAT299% (BEm*R)
The Mercer

L5 A S S B 45 B 23 W) 2022/20235E $ 291



SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES T #P¥EM%

B. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

FOR SALE IN HONG KONG

B. RERZURPZFHEME

Expected Attributable
Sitearea  Gross floor completion interest of
(sq.ft) area (sq.ft.) Stage of date Nature of  the Group Category
Descriptions HRER BEHEBE  completion it property gy of lease
PR (FAR) (F7R) TR RIBE  MERE EGREE B8R
1. No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, 8,092 Notyet Planningin  No definite  Residential 50% Medium-
Kowloon Tong, Kowloon determined progress plan term lease
hBENBER 8,092 HAERE #AIETT EBAEH TE 50% FERTEL
A EESTAS
2. Johnson Place, Nos. 14-16 10,516 Notyet  Planningin  No definite Industrial 50%  Long lease
Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan, determined progress plan
Hong Kong
BARENRE 10,516 AT #ABETT BAEH T# 50% REAEL
URE16REBEKRE
3. Lot No. 2143 in Demarcation 81,053 Notyet Planningin  No definite  Residential 50% Medium-
District No. 121, determined progress plan term lease
Tong Yan San Tsuen,
Yuen Long, New Territories
i 81,053 AT #ABETT BAEH TE 50% FERTEL
BN
XEQR1215 52143358
4, Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 496, 235,990 Notyet Planningin  No definite  Residential 24.82% Medium-
So Kwun Wat, Tuen Mun, determined progress plan term lease
New Territories
ik 235990  HAEE BABETH EREHE e 24.8%  HHEY
TFRES
P R 4965
5. West Castle 5727 Notyet  Planningin  No definite Industrial 50% Medium-
No. 22 Yip Shing Street, determined progress plan term lease
Kwai Chung, New Territories
MAER 5,727 HWAERE #ABETT EAEH T# 50% FERTEL
E22%%
West Castle
6. No. 18 Lee Chung Street, 6,685 Notyet  Planningin  No definite Industrial 50%  Long lease
Chai Wan, Hong Kong determined progress plan
BARE 6,685 HARE H3ETT EREHE T# 50% REAEL
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES ¥ M ¥EH%E

C. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

C. RPEIRMZERPZFEY

FOR SALE/PROPERTIES HELD FOR X EEEEDE
SALE IN MAINLAND CHINA
Gross floor Expected Attributable
Site area area completion interest of

(sq. m.) (sq. m.) Stage of date Nature of  the Group Category
Descriptions HRER BEEB  completion it property 5£E of lease
B (FAHK) (FrKR)  *EBE RIBHE  MEME  EGEZ BOER
A development project located at the 35,680 132,255 Phase 1- Phase 2 Commercial 49% Medium-
west of Wenyuan Road and south of Completed and3- term lease
Houfutinggang, Haining City, Zhejiang Phase 2 No definite
Province, The PRC (including sold but not and 3 - plan
yet handover units and unsold units of Planning in
Phase 1 and land for Phase 2 and Phase 3 progress
development)
(IR PEHIE 35,680 132255  H—H- F_HR [EES 49% AR
BEMEXIERAM- BRI B=H-
BEEABAN—RERER F_BR EREE
(BEFE-HEHE 8-
BERRBZ BURKHEE BBl T
UREZHRE=RERE 2 LH)

BUB AL R AT LA 20222023568 293



SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES T #P¥EM%

D. SELF-USED PROPERTIES D. ERAWE
Attributable
Area interest
(sq.ft.) Nature of of the Group Category
Descriptions B property FT£E of lease
BER (EER) MELE FEfhHE AR
1. Various lots in Demarcation District 45,518 Agricultural 100% Medium-term
No. 77, Ping Che, Fanling, New Territories (Site area) lease
MRS 45,518 Bt 100% FEATEA
YEARTTRETHER (B ERE)
2. Lot No. 735 s.B in Demarcation District 4,356 Agricultural 100% Medium-term
No. 129, Deep Bay Road, (Site area) |ease
Yuen Long, New Territories
it 4,356 =it 100% FEATEA
RSB ENM1295 (R ERE)
3 ER 55 7355%B ) EX
3. Offices A, B,C,D,E,F G H,J, K, L, M,N&P 15,175 Commercial 100% Medium-term
on 22/F and Car Parking Space Nos. (excluding lease
P44, P45 and P46 on Basement Floor, area of car
Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, parking spaces)
Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories (Marketing
gross floor
area)
RV EAERM 15,175 [EES 100% hERTRA
RHERNRREG 2182 (REEE(
HAZEAB CDVENF G H VK LM NReP ZER)
T EEPA4SEE « PASSE K PAGSE {11 (AEREER)
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES ¥ %P ¥ %

Attributable
Area interest
(sq.ft.) Nature of of the Group Category

Descriptions Ef property FE&EHE of lease
BER (EER) MELE i AR
4, Offices A, B,C, D, E,F G H,J, K, L, M,N&P 15,073 Commercial 100% Medium-term

on 21/F and Car (excluding lease

Parking Space No. P47, P48 and area of car

P49 on Basement Floor, parking spaces)

Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, (Marketing

Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories gross floor area

MR EAM 15,073 [EES 100% FHATEA

REERRRREE 2182 (FEEE(

HAZEANB C D ENFA G H J K LyMNK&P ZER)

R EEPATS ~ PASSE K P49 B fil (IEREER)
5. The Connaught 41,704 Commercial 50% Long lease

No. 138 Connaught Road West, (Gross floor

Hong Kong area)

&8 41,704 [EES 50% REAAAY

FEHE 1385 (BEER)

The Connaught
6. 4/F and Flat Roof, 7,790 Industrial 100% Medium-term

Victory Industrial Building, (Saleable area) lease

Nos 151-157 Wo Yi Hop Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories

mRER 7,790 IT# 100% FERTRA

MEAE151-1575% (BERER)

BATIEAE

4ERTA

LI B A 2 W A L 28 ) 2022/2023%E 3
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES T #P¥EM%

E. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR E. HHEARKEHESE
SALE
Attributable
Area interest of
(sq.ft.) Nature of the Group Category
Descriptions mf property FE&HE of lease
BER (EER) MELE i AR
1. Unsold car parking spaces of West Park, No. of Residential 100%  Medium-term
Nos. 256-258 Tung Chau Street, Kowloon car parking lease
spaces: 2
NARBMN 125658 E 25857 BEAHA € 100% FEATRA
West Park>k H & B il 28
2. Lorry Carpark Nos. L7 & L8 on G/, No. of Industrial 100% Medium-term
Kin Wing Industrial Building, car parking lease
No. 33 Kin Wing Street, spaces: 2
Tuen Mun, New Territories
R P B{HE = 100% FERTRAY
REEBRERIERE 2{8
3 L7 RL8SR B fiL
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22/F., Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T., Hong Kong
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